DOCKETED	DOCKETED							
Docket Number:	16-BSTD-07							
Project Title:	Local Ordinance Applications - 2016 Standards							
TN #:	223015-5							
Document Title:	County of Marin GBO Cost Effectiveness Overview + Studies							
Description:	Att. 5							
Filer:	Ingrid Neumann							
Organization:	County of Marin Community Development Agency Planning Division							
Submitter Role:	Public Agency							
Submission Date:	3/22/2018 12:43:29 PM							
Docketed Date:	3/22/2018							

PROPOSED NEW CONSTRUCTION ENERGY EFFICIENCY REQUIREMENTS AND ASSOCIATED COST-EFFECTIVENESS STUDIES¹

STUDIES:

- Title: CALGreen Cost Effectiveness Study
 Prepared For: Marshall Hunt
 Codes and Standards Program, Pacific Gas and Electric Company Prepared
 By: Davis Energy Group, Inc.; Enercomp, Inc.; Misti Bruceri &
 Associates, LLC
 Last Modified: November 16, 2016
- 2) Title: 2016 Title 24 Residential Reach Code Recommendations: Cost Effectiveness Analysis for All California Climate Zones Prepared For: California Statewide Codes and Standards Enhancement (CASE) Program Prepared By: TRC Energy Services Last Modified: August 2017
- 3) Title: CALGreen All-Electric Cost Effectiveness Study Prepared For: Marshall Hunt Codes and Standards Program, Pacific Gas and Electric Company Prepared By: Davis Energy Group, Inc.; Enercomp, Inc.; Misti Bruceri & Associates, LLC Last Modified: October 11, 2017
- 4) Title: Statewide Nonresidential Reach Code Cost Effectiveness Analysis Prepared For: Southern California Edison Prepared By: TRC Energy Services Last Modified: July 2017

¹Details about all studies are located here: <u>http://localenergycodes.com/content/performance-ordinances</u>

PROPOSED NEW CONSTRUCTION ENERGY EFFICIENCY REQUIREMENTS AND ASSOCIATED COST-EFFECTIVENESS STUDIES²

REQUIREMENT/OPTION	STUDY
Requirements for new single-family	homes that are less than 4,000 square feet
Option 1: 15% more efficient than	CALGreen Cost Effectiveness Study (Page 13)
state code if no solar is installed	
Option 2: 20% more efficient than	CALGreen Cost Effectiveness Study (Page 14)
state code if solar is installed	
Option 3: All-electric home at	<i>No study</i> – does not exceed state standards, and
baseline	a cost-effective alternative is provided.
Requirements for new single-family	homes that are greater than 4,000 square feet
Option 1: 35% more efficient than	2016 Title 24 Residential Reach Code
state code and EDR of 20 or less	Recommendations: Cost Effectiveness Analysis
	for All California Climate Zones (Page 1)
Option 2: Home is all electric,	
20% more efficient than state	CALGreen All-Electric Cost Effectiveness
code, and has at least 2.5 kw of	Study (Page 13)
solar	
Option 3: Passive House Certified	<i>No study</i> – a cost-effective alternative is
	provided.
Requirements for new multifamily b	uilding that is 3 stories or less
Option 1: 10% more efficient than	2016 Title 24 Residential Reach Code
state code if no solar is installed	Recommendations: Cost Effectiveness Analysis
	for All California Climate Zones (Page 1)
Option 2: 15% more efficient than	2016 little 24 Residential Reach Code
state code if solar is installed	for All Colifornia Climate Zanas (Dage 1)
Ontion 2: All alastria units at	No study does not exceed state standards and
baseline	<i>No study</i> – does not exceed state standards, and
Daseime Dequirements for new multifemily h	a cost-effective alternative is provided.
Requirements for new multifamily b	Statewide Normanidential Baseh Code Cost
Option 1: 10% more efficient than	Statewide Nonresidential Reach Code Cost
Option 2: All alastric units at	No study does not exceed state standards and
baseline	<i>no study</i> – does not exceed state standards, and
Paguiraments for new commercial h	nildings
Option 1: 10% more efficient than	Statewide Nonresidential Reach Code Cost
state code	Effectiveness Analysis (Page 1)
Option 2: All-electric units at	No study - does not exceed state standards and
baseline	a cost-effective alternative is provided
040011110	a cost enfective alternative is provided.

² Details about all studies are located here: <u>http://localenergycodes.com/content/performance-ordinances</u>

CA Statewide Codes and Standards Program

Title 24, Part 11 Local Energy Efficiency Ordinances

CALGreen Cost Effectiveness Study

Prepared for:

Marshall Hunt Codes and Standards Program Pacific Gas and Electric Company

Prepared by: Davis Energy Group, Inc. Enercomp, Inc. Misti Bruceri & Associates, LLC

Last Modified: November 16, 2016



Pacific Gas and PG& Electric Company®







LEGAL NOTICE

This report was prepared by Pacific Gas and Electric Company and funded by the California utility customers under the auspices of the California Public Utilities Commission.

Copyright 2016, Pacific Gas and Electric Company. All rights reserved, except that this document may be used, copied, and distributed without modification.

Neither PG&E nor any of its employees makes any warranty, express or implied; or assumes any legal liability or responsibility for the accuracy, completeness or usefulness of any data, information, method, product, policy or process disclosed in this document; or represents that its use will not infringe any privately-owned rights including, but not limited to, patents, trademarks or copyrights.

Table of Contents

1	Intro	oduction1	l								
2	Met	Iethodology and Assumptions1									
	2.1	Building Prototypes1	l								
	2.2	Efficiency Measures & Package Development	2								
	2.3	Efficiency Packages	7								
	2.4	PV Performance Packages	7								
	2.5	Cost Effectiveness	3								
	2.6	Greenhouse Gas Emissions)								
3	Res	ults11	Ĺ								
	3.1	Single Family Results	L								
	3.1.1	Single Family Cost Effectiveness Analysis11	L								
	3.1.2	2 Single Family Package Recommendations	5								
	3.2	Multifamily Results	7								
	3.2.1	Multifamily Cost Effectiveness Analysis	7								
	3.2.2	2 Multifamily Package Recommendations	2								
4	Con	clusions & Summary24	ł								
5	Refe	erences	5								
A	ppendi	x A – Prescriptive Package27	7								
A	ppendi	x B.1 – Single Family Package Summaries31	L								
A	ppendi	x B.2 – Multifamily Package Summaries	3								
A	ppendi	x C - Utility Rate Tariffs	5								

List of Tables

Table 1: Prototype Characteristics	2
Table 2: Measure Descriptions & Cost Assumptions	6
Table 3: Minimum PV System Size (kW _{DC}) required to meet Solar PV Ordinance by Climate Zone	8
Table 4: IOU Utility Tariffs used based on Climate Zone	8
Table 5: Equivalent CO ₂ Emissions Factors	10
Table 6: Single Family Efficiency Package Cost Effectiveness Results ¹	13
Table 7: Single Family PV Performance Package Cost Effectiveness Results ¹	15
Table 8: Single Family Efficiency Only: Cost Effective Measures Summary	16
Table 9: Single Family PV-Plus: Cost Effective Measures Summary	17
Table 10: Multifamily Efficiency Cost Effectiveness Results ¹	19
Table 11: Multifamily PV Performance Cost Effectiveness Results ¹	21
Table 12: Multifamily Efficiency Only: Cost Effective Measures Summary	22
Table 13: Multifamily PV-Plus: Cost Effective Measures Summary	23
Table 14: Single Family Reach Code Package Recommendations	25
Table 15: Multifamily Reach Code Package Recommendations	25

Table 16: Single Family Tier Packages	31
Table 17: Multifamily Tier 1 Packages	33

List of Figures

Figure 1: Single family cost effectiveness comparison	12	2
Figure 2: Multifamily cost effectiveness comparison	1	8

1 Introduction

The California Building Energy Efficiency Standards Title 24, Part 6 (Title 24) (CEC, 2016b) is maintained and updated every three years by two state agencies, the California Energy Commission (CEC) and the Building Standards Commission (BSC). In addition to enforcing the code, local jurisdictions have the authority to adopt local energy efficiency ordinances, or reach codes, that exceed the minimum standards defined by Title 24 (as established by Public Resources Code Section 25402.1(h)2 and Section 10-106 of the Building Energy Efficiency Standards). Local jurisdictions must demonstrate that the requirements of the proposed ordinance are cost effective and do not result in buildings consuming more energy than is permitted by Title 24. In addition, the jurisdiction must obtain approval from the CEC and file the ordinance with the BSC for the ordinance to be legally enforceable.

This report presents the results from analysis of the feasibility and cost-effectiveness of requiring new low-rise single family and multifamily residential construction to exceed the 2016 Building Energy Efficiency Standards, which become effective January 1, 2017. The analysis includes scenarios of compliance packages options and cost effectiveness analysis for all sixteen California climate zones. Four levels of building energy performance were examined:

- (1) exceeding the minimum requirements by at least 15%, consistent with the voluntary Tier 1 Performance Standard in Title 24, Part 11 (CALGreen),
- (2) exceeding minimum requirement by at least 30%, consistent with the voluntary Tier 2 Performance Standard in CALGreen,
- (3) meeting minimum Title 24 efficiency performance targets plus on-site renewable energy generation sufficient to achieve an Energy Design Rating of zero (TDV-Zero), consistent with the voluntary Zero Net Energy Design tier in CALGreen,
- (4) meeting minimum Title 24 efficiency performance targets plus on-site renewable energy generation sized to offset a portion of the total TDV loads of the building without risking sizing of the PV system larger than the estimated electrical energy use of the building.

This analysis uses a customer-based lifecycle cost (LCC) approach to evaluating cost effectiveness of the proposed ordinance, whereas the CEC LCC methodology uses Time Dependent Valuation (TDV) as the primary metric for energy savings. Both methodologies require estimating and quantifying the energy savings associated with energy efficiency measures, as well as quantifying the costs associated with the measures. The main difference between the methodologies is the manner in which they value energy and thus the cost savings of reduced or avoided energy use. The CEC LCC Methodology uses TDV, which is intended to capture the societal impact of energy savings, while the life cycle customer cost methodology uses utility rate schedules and applies net energy metering rules to estimate cost savings from onsite PV generation to the customer. TRC has completed a parallel analysis to this one for the City of Santa Monica on behalf of Southern California Edison that utilizes the CEC LCC Methodology (TRC, 2016).

2 <u>Methodology and Assumptions</u>

2.1 Building Prototypes

The CEC defines building prototypes which it uses to evaluate the cost-effectiveness of proposed changes to Title 24 requirements. There exist two single family prototypes and one multifamily prototype, all three of which are used in this analysis in development of the above-code efficiency packages. Table 1 describes the basic characteristics of each prototype. Additional details on the prototypes can be found in the ACM Approval Manual (CEC, 2016a).

Tuble 1. I fololype Characteristics									
	<u>Single Family</u> <u>One-Story</u>	<u>Single Family</u> <u>Two-Story</u>	<u>Multifamily</u>						
Conditioned Floor Area	2,100 ft ²	2,700 ft ²	6,960 ft ² : (4) 780 ft ² & (4) 960 ft ² units						
Num. of Stories	1	2	2						
Num. of Bedrooms	3	3	(4) 1-bed & (4) 2-bed units						
Window-to-Floor Area Ratio	20%	20%	15%						

 Table 1: Prototype Characteristics

Additionally, each prototype building has the following features:

- Slab-on-grade foundation
- Vented attic. High performance attic in climates where prescriptively assigned (CZ 4, 8-16) with insulation installed below roof deck. Refer to Table 150.1-A in Appendix A.
- Ductwork located in the attic for single family homes and in conditioned space for multifamily.
- Split-system gas furnace with air conditioner that meet the minimum federal guidelines for efficiency
- Tankless gas water heater that meets the minimum federal guidelines for efficiency; individual water heaters in each multifamily apartment.

Other features are defined consistent with the Standard Design in the Alternative Calculation Method Reference Manual (CEC, 2016d), designed to meet, but not exceed, the minimum requirements.

The CEC's standard protocol for the single family prototypes is to weight the simulated energy impacts by a factor that represents the distribution of single-story and two-story homes being built statewide, assuming 45% single-story homes and 55% two-story homes. Simulation results in this study are therefore characterized according to this ratio, which is approximately equivalent to a 2,430 ft² house¹.

2.2 Efficiency Measures & Package Development

The CBECC-RES 2016.2.0 ALPHA2² (833) compliance simulation tool was used to evaluate energy impacts using the 2016 prescriptive standards as the benchmark and the 2016 time dependent valuation (TDV) values. TDV is the energy metric used by the CEC since the 2005 Title 24 energy code to evaluate compliance with the Title 24 standards. TDV values energy use differently depending on the fuel source (gas, electricity, and propane), time of day, and season. TDV was developed to reflect the "societal value or cost" of energy including long-term projected costs of energy such as the cost of providing energy during peak periods of demand and other societal costs such as projected costs for carbon emissions. Electricity used (or saved) during peak periods of the summer has a much higher value than electricity used (or saved) during off-peak periods (Horii et al, 2014).

The methodology used in the analyses for each of the prototypical building types begins with a design that precisely meets the minimum 2016 prescriptive requirements (0% compliance margin). A table of

 $^{^{1}}$ 2,430 ft² = 45% * 2,100 ft² + 55% * 2,700 ft²

² On June 14, 2016 the CEC approved CBECC-Res 2016.2.0 Version of the software. The version used for this study is nearly identical to the approved version with the exception of minor changes that do not affect the cost effective analysis of the measures evaluated.

prescriptive measures used in each base design by climate zone is located in Appendix A. Using the 2016 baseline as the starting point, prospective energy efficiency measures were identified and modeled in each of the prototypes to determine the projected energy (Therm and kWh) and compliance impacts. A large set of parametric runs³ were conducted to develop packages of measures that exceed the minimum code performance level by 15% (CALGreen Tier 1), and 30% (Tier 2). The consultants authoring this study selected packages and measures based on decades of experience with residential architects, builders, and engineers along with general knowledge of the relative acceptance and preferences of many measures, as well as their incremental costs.

Evaluation results for the selected packages show that meeting the performance targets for both single family and multifamily prototypes is feasible in most climate zones. In climates where it was not feasible, targets were relaxed to an appropriate level. It is important to note that the packages contained in this report are examples only; any project meeting requirements of a local ordinance, both single family and multifamily, must independently evaluate and identify the most cost effective approach based on project-specific factors.

Following are descriptions of each of the efficiency measures applied in this analysis.

Quality Insulation Installation (QII): HERS rater verification of insulation quality according to the procedures outlined in the 2016 Reference Appendices RA3.5 (CEC, 2016c). QII is included in all cases since it is a pre-requisite for all the voluntary tiers in 2016 CALGreen.

<u>Reduced Infiltration (ACH50)</u>: HERS rater field verification and diagnostic testing of building air leakage according to the procedures outlined in the 2016 Reference Appendices RA3.8 (CEC, 2016c). The default infiltration assumption for single family homes is 5 air changes per hour at 50 Pascals $(ACH50)^4$ and the reduced level applied in this analysis is 3 ACH50. This measure was not applied to multifamily homes because the modeling software does not allow this credit unless each unit is modeled individually, which is not typical in the compliance process for multifamily buildings.

<u>Window Performance</u>: Reduce window U-value from the prescriptive value of 0.32 to 0.30 in all climates and reduce the solar heat gain coefficient (SHGC) from the prescriptive value of 0.25 to 0.23 in climate zone 2, 4, 6 through 16. In climate zones 1, 3, and 5 there is no prescriptive SHGC requirement and the default value of 0.50 is left as is.

Door Performance: Install insulated doors that meet a U-value of 0.20 at the front entry and doors between the house and garage. It's assumed there is a single 3' x 6'8" entry door per single family home and multifamily unit as well as a second 3' x 6'8" door to the garage per single family home.

<u>Cool Roof</u>: Install a roofing product that's rated by the Cool Roof Rating Council to have an aged solar reflectance of 0.20. This measure only applies to climates zones where this is not already required prescriptively.

Exterior Wall Insulation: Increase wall cavity insulation from R-19 to R-21 in 2x6 walls.

<u>High Performance Attics (HPA)</u>: For climates where HPA is not already prescriptive under the 2016 code (CZ 1-3, 5-7), increase attic ceiling insulation to R-38 and add insulation under the roof deck between framing (R-13 for roof with air space, R-18 for roof without air space).

High Efficiency Furnace: Upgrade furnace to a condensing unit with an efficiency of 92% AFUE.

³ Using the "quick" simulation speed option.

⁴ Whole house leakage tested at a pressure difference of 50 Pascals between indoors and outdoors.

High Efficiency Air Conditioner: Upgrade air conditioner efficiency beyond federal efficiency minimum to either SEER 15 / EER 12.5 or SEER 16 / EER 13.

High Efficacy Fan: Upgrade the fan in the furnace or air handler using an electronically commutated motor (ECM) that meets an efficacy of 0.3 Watts / cfm or lower operating at full speed. Fan watt draw is verified by a HERS rater according to the procedures outlined in the 2016 Reference Appendices RA3.3 (CEC, 2016c). New federal regulations that go into effect July 3, 2019 are expected to result in equivalent performance for all newly manufactured furnaces provided that the ducts are sized properly.

<u>Refrigerant Charge Verification</u>: HERS rater verification of proper air conditioner refrigerant charge according to the procedures outlined in the 2016 Reference Appendices RA3.2 (CEC, 2016c). This measure only applies to climates zones where this is not already required prescriptively.

<u>R-8 Duct Insulation</u>: Increase duct insulation to R-8. This measure only applies to climates zones where R-8 ducts are not already required prescriptively.

<u>High Efficiency Water Heater</u>: Upgrade tankless water heater to a condensing unit with a rated Energy Factor (EF) of either 0.94 or 0.96. Even though equipment costs for condensing tankless water heaters are higher than standard units, labor is less due to the lower installation costs. Non-condensing tankless water heaters require stainless steel venting while condensing units use PVC venting. Based on feedback from the field these cost differences are offset and the incremental cost have been found to be negligible.

Hot Water Pipe Insulation: Beginning in January 1, 2017 the 2016 California Plumbing Code will require pipe insulation levels that are close to that required if taking the Title-24 pipe insulation credit. This credit will be obsolete under the 2016 energy code, however, the HERS-Verified Pipe Insulation Credit, as defined in the 2016 Reference Appendices RA3.6.3 (CEC, 2016c), will remain. While CBECC-Res has not yet been updated to reflect this, for this analysis it was assumed that the revised HERS verified credit would be equivalent to the current credit for pipe insulation without HERS verification. This was determined based on simulations that demonstrated the HERS credit to be valued at roughly twice that for pipe insulation without verification in terms of TDV energy. This credit was only applied to single family residences. For costing purposes, 120 linear feet of 1/2in insulated pipe is assumed to be insulated.

Hot Water Compact Distribution: HERS rater verification of compact distribution system requirements according to the procedures outlined in the 2016 Reference Appendices RA3.6.5 (CEC, 2016c). This measure was applied to multifamily buildings only. Many multifamily buildings with individual water heaters are expected to easily meet this credit with little or no alteration to plumbing design. This measure also requires verification of pipe insulation per the HERS-Verified Pipe Insulation Credit. Assumption is 60 linear feet per dwelling unit of 1/2in insulated pipe.

<u>Solar Ready</u>: Under both the 2013 and 2106 Title 24 code, single family homes located in subdivisions with ten or more single family residences, and multifamily buildings are required to be solar ready. Solar ready for single family homes is defined as having:

- A solar zone with an area no less than 250 square feet
- Interconnection pathways shown on construction documents
- A main electric panel capable of serving a future solar electric installation

Where cost effective, solar ready definition was expanded in single family homes to include the following:

- All single family residential buildings shall install conduit to support the future installation of solar PV.
- The solar ready definition is expanded to include all single family residential buildings (including custom homes).

For costing purposes, 45 linear feet of 1 inch conduit is assumed between the proposed location of the inverter and the attic. Incremental costs assume both material and labor costs. There are no associated savings for this measure. Because of the additional cost for multiple units this measure was not considered for multifamily buildings.

PV and PV Compliance Credit: To be eligible for this compliance credit a PV system with a minimum capacity of 2 kW DC per single family home with no more than 2,000 ft² of conditioned floor area and 1 kW DC per multifamily unit with no more than 1,000 ft² of conditioned floor area is required. For the single family 2,430 ft² prototype the minimum capacity as calculated by CBECC-Res is 2.0 kW to 2.4 kW depending on the climate zone. The multifamily apartment units in the prototype are all under 1,000 ft² and therefore require a 1 kW system. The credit was developed to give builders an option with which to trade-off High Performance Attics and Walls, and to begin preparing for ZNE requirements. For costing, a micro inverter is assumed which is expected to be replaced at year 20.

Table 2 below summarizes the measures evaluated along with cost assumptions.

		Increme	ental Cost					
	Performance	Single	MF – Per					
Measure	Level	Family	Unit	Source & Notes				
		-		City of Palo Alto 2016 Reach Code Ordinance:				
QII	Yes	\$519	\$133	http://www.cityofpaloalto.org/civicax/filebank/documents/52054				
				NREL measure cost database (\$0.115/ft ² for sealing) + HERS rater				
ACH50	3.0	\$379	n/a	verification (\$100).				
Wall				Relative to R-19. 2016 CASE Report: Residential High				
Insulation	R-21	\$391	n/a	Performance Walls and QII, 2016-RES-ENV2-F				
	Aged Reflect			$0.50 / \text{ft}^2$ of roof area per local industry expert at LBNL. Use				
Cool Roof	= 0.20	\$523	\$131	average of $0.25/\text{ft}^2$.				
Window U-								
factor/ SHGC	0.30/0.23	\$73	\$20	EnerComp ($(0.15/ft^2 \text{ of window area})$				
Doors	0.20 U-factor	\$40	\$20	EnerComp ($\$1.00/ft^2$ for exterior doors)				
High			\$20	For climate zones 1-3 & 5-7 only where HPA is not prescriptive				
Performance	R-13 under			2016 CASE Report: Residential Ducts in Conditioned Space / High				
Attics (HPA)	roof deck	\$878	\$219	Performance Attics. 2016-RES-ENV1-F				
Furnace	92%	\$389	\$351	HVAC contractor costs ME reduction for smaller capacity				
Air	15/12.5	\$78	\$16	HVAC contractor costs, ME reduction for smaller capacity.				
Conditioning	15/12.5	\$70	ψτυ	Average of local HVAC contractor & NPEL database costs ME				
Conditioning	16/13	\$830	\$600	reduction for smaller canacity				
Ean Efficient	0.2 Watta/ofm	\$039 \$142	\$099	HVAC contractor costs ME reduction for smaller conscitu				
Pall Ellicacy		φ143	\$104	HVAC contractor costs, INF reduction for smaller capacity.				
Charge	HERS	n /a	\$75	Local HEDS rater				
Charge	vermeu	II/a	\$75	Local HERS fater.				
Durat				For climate zones 5, 6, & 7 where not prescriptive. Cost is relative				
Duci	DО	¢161	m /o	Uk-b. 2010 CASE Report: Residential Ducis in Conditioned Space				
Insulation	K-8	\$104	11/a	/ High Performance Aurcs, 2010-RES-ENV1-F				
	0.94 EF	\$0	\$0	internet pricing and plumbing contractor input. Minimal				
Watar baatar				(condensing) us steinless venting (stendard). Slight promium going				
water neater	0.06 EE	\$100	\$100	(condensing) vs stanness venting (standard). Slight premium going				
	0.90 EF	\$100	\$100	Develue anivelent to an la manimum at a fforting Len. 2017, 100/				
				solution for the second				
Hot water nine	LIEDC			of \$5.87 per it (2015 SF DHW CASE study) for additional fabor to				
Hot water pipe	HERS Varified	¢146	m /o	pass HEKS hispection. \$100 for HEKS verification per local HEKS				
Insulation	vermed	\$140	II/a	Taleis.				
Hot water	LIEDC			Assume compact design already of easily achieved in MF units – no				
distribution	Nertified	n /a	¢112	insulation cost per the pine insulation measure assumptions				
distribution	vermeu	II/a	\$112	Insulation cost per the pipe insulation measure assumptions.				
Solon Doody	m /a	\$257	m /o	KS Means: \$5.70 per linear foot instaned cost and 45 linear it of 1				
Solar Ready	II/a	\$237	II/a	conduit.				
				Avg. system cost for systems < 10 kW (for the last 12 months) of 6520 (Wett for single formula (latter)				
				53.29/ wait for single family (<u>mup://www.gosofarcamonila.ca.gov/</u>).				
				For multi-family systems, an average of the < 10 kW and > 10 kW				
				system cost $(\phi 4.5 // waii)$ was used; systems are expected to be tunically greater than 10 kW, although not as large as some				
				cypically greater than 10 kw, although not as large as some				
	System size	\$2.25 /	\$2 02 / W	commercial systems reported on in the database. In both cases cost				
DV Sustam	System size	φ2.32 / W DC	\$3.03 / W	was reduced by \$0.50/ wait for the INSHP incentive & 50% for the solar investment tax credit				
r v System	varies	WDC		Solar investment tax treuit.				
				Assumes inverter replacement at 20 years based on file of micro				
DV Invertor	Miaro	\$0.407	\$0.40 / W	http://www.prol.gov/docs/fy15ost/64746.pdf) Add labor cost of				
Poplacement	invertor	ΦU.40/ W/DC	φ0.40 / W	(<u>http://www.illel.gov/docs/1y150sti/04740.put</u>). Add labof Cost 01 \$275				
replacement	mverter			$\psi \angle I J$				

Table 2: Measure Descriptions & Cost Assumptions

2.3 Efficiency Packages

Three efficiency packages were developed for each climate zone where feasible, as described below.

- 1) **Envelope**: These packages focus on building envelope measures but also include efficient hot water pipe distribution and cooling fan efficiency measures that don't trigger federal preemption issues.
- 2) **Equipment**: Use of HVAC and water heating equipment that are more efficient than federal standards combined with efficient envelope measures if necessary.
- 3) <u>**PV Credit**</u>: Utilize the PV compliance credit (PVCC) available in all climate zones except 6 and 7. See Table 16 and Table 17 in Appendix B for minimum kW DC capacity requirements for the PVCC.

Since state and local governments are prohibited from adopting minimum efficiency standards for equipment and appliances that are federally regulated under the National Appliance Energy Conservation Act (NAECA), including heating, cooling, and water heating equipment, the focus of this study was to evaluate and identify cost effective packages that did not include high efficiency equipment measures. In climates where the PV Compliance Credit (PVCC) is available (all climates except 6 and 7) a package that includes the PVCC in addition to efficiency measures was evaluated to achieve Tier 2 performance levels. The Envelope (and the PV Credit) packages demonstrate that the requirements for the local ordinance can be met without the use of equipment that exceeds federal minimum efficiency requirements. While cost-effective, the Envelope package is not the only design choice. More often, builders use a combination of improvements to the envelope and high efficiency equipment to meet the performance requirements, as shown in the Equipment package, which usually results in a higher benefit to cost ratio. All measure packages are examples only, using a prototypical building, demonstrating that there are multiple options to cost-effectively meet the performance requirements.

2.4 PV Performance Packages

Using the Tier 2 efficiency package (or Tier 1 in cases where reaching Tier 2 wasn't feasible), the PV system was evaluated and sized to offset TDV loads for the following two conditions:

- <u>PV-Plus</u>: Install a PV system sized to offset a portion of the total household energy use based on TDV energy. PV sizing is consistent with the methodology included in the California Energy Commission's proposed Solar PV Ordinance being developed by the CEC, and PV sizing calculations were developed such that PV size is to be equivalent to offsetting approximately 80% of total estimated building electricity use for a gas/electric home built to the 2016 Title 24. Table 3 summarizes the prescriptive PV sizing based on Climate Zone and home size.
- <u>TDV-Zero</u>: Install a PV system sized to offset 100% of building energy use based on TDV energy, including appliances and plug loads. This is consistent with the requirements of the CALGreen Zero Net Energy Design tier.

In both these cases PV is evaluated in CBECC-Res according to the California Flexible Installation (CFI).

					10 1010	(10 11 D)							Cumure Bone			
Conditioned Space (ft2)	CZ1	CZ2	CZ3	CZ4	CZ5	CZ6	CZ7	CZ8	CZ9	CZ10	CZ11	CZ12	CZ13	CZ14	CZ15	CZ16
Less than 1000	1.6	1.4	1.5	1.3	1.4	1.5	1.3	1.5	1.4	1.4	1.7	1.5	1.8	1.3	2.1	1.3
1000 - 1499	2.0	1.7	1.7	1.5	1.6	1.7	1.5	1.8	1.7	1.7	2.2	1.9	2.3	1.6	2.8	1.6
1500 - 1999	2.4	2.0	2.1	1.8	1.9	2.0	1.8	2.1	2.0	2.0	2.7	2.3	2.8	2.0	3.5	1.9
2000 - 2499	2.8	2.3	2.4	2.1	2.1	2.3	2.0	2.4	2.3	2.3	3.2	2.7	3.4	2.3	4.2	2.3
2500 - 2999	3.2	2.6	2.7	2.4	2.4	2.6	2.3	2.7	2.6	2.7	3.7	3.1	3.9	2.7	4.9	2.6
3000 - 3499	3.6	2.9	3.0	2.6	2.7	2.9	2.5	3.0	2.9	3.0	4.2	3.4	4.4	3.0	5.6	3.0
3500 - 3999	3.9	3.2	3.2	2.9	2.9	3.2	2.7	3.3	3.2	3.3	4.7	3.8	4.9	3.4	6.3	3.3
4000 - 4499	4.3	3.5	3.5	3.2	3.1	3.4	2.9	3.6	3.5	3.6	5.1	4.2	5.4	3.7	7.0	3.6

Table 3: Minimum PV System Size (kW_{DC}) required to meet Solar PV Ordinance by Climate Zone

2.5 Cost Effectiveness

A customer based approach to evaluating cost effectiveness was used based on past experience with Reach Code adoption by local governments. The current residential utility rates at the time of the analysis were used to calculate utility costs for all cases and determine cost effectiveness for the proposed packages. Annual utility costs were calculated using hourly electricity and gas output from CBECC-Res and applying the utility tariffs summarized in Table 4. Appendix C includes the utility rate schedules used for this study. The standard residential rate (E1 in PG&E territory, D in SCE territory, & DR in SDG&E) was applied to the base case and all cases without PV systems. The applicable residential time-of-use (TOU) rate was applied to all cases with PV systems. ⁵ Any annual electricity production in excess of annual electricity consumption is credited to the utility account at the applicable wholesale rate based on the approved NEM tariffs for that utility. The net surplus compensation rates for the different utilities are as follows:

- PG&E: \$0.043 / kWh
- SCE: \$0.0298 / kWh⁶
- SDG&E: \$0.0321 / kWh⁷

Climate Zones	Electric / Gas Utility	Electricity (Standard)	Electricity (Time-of-use)	Natural Gas
1-5, 11-13, 16	PG&E	E1	E-TOU, Option A	G1
6, 8-10, 14, 15	SCE / SoCal Gas	D	TOU-D-T	GR
7	SDG&E	DR	DR-SES	GR

Table 4: IOU Utility Tariffs used based on Climate Zone

(http://www.pge.com/en/myhome/saveenergymoney/plans/tou/index.page?).

⁵ Under NEM rulings by the CPUC (D-16-01-144, 1/28/16), all new PV customers shall be in an approved TOU rate structure. As of March 2016, all new PG&E net energy metering (NEM) customers are enrolled in a time-of-use rate.

⁶ SCE net surplus compensation rate based on 1-year average September 2015 – August 2016.

⁷ SDG&E net surplus compensation rate based on 1-year average August 2015 – July 2016.

Cost effectiveness was evaluated for all sixteen climate zones and is presented according to lifecycle customer benefit-to-cost ratio. The benefit-to-cost ratio is a metric which represents the cost effectiveness of energy efficiency over a 30-year lifetime taking into account discounting of future savings and financing of incremental costs. A value of one indicates the savings over the life of the measure are equivalent to the incremental cost of that measure. A value greater than one represents a positive return on investment. The ratio is calculated as follows:

$$Lifecycle Benefit Cost Ratio = \frac{Equation 1}{(First incremental cost * Financing factor)}$$

The lifecycle cost factor is 19.6 and was calculated using Equation 2 as follows. No utility rate escalation is assumed (conservative assumption).

Lifecycle Cost Factor =
$$\frac{1-(1+disc)^{-n}}{disc}$$
 Equation 2

Where:

- n = analysis and financing term of 30-years
- disc = real discount rate of 3%

The financing factor is calculated as follows:

Financing Factor =
$$\frac{PV_{Mortgage \, Increase} - PV_{Tax \, Savings}}{L}$$
 Equation 3

Where:

- L =first incremental cost (\$)
- *PV_{Mortgage Increase}* = Present value of increased mortgage costs
- *PV_{Tax Savings}* = Present value of tax savings from additional interest payments due to increased mortgage

PVMortgage Increase is calculated using Equations 4 and 5.

$$P = L \frac{\left[\frac{c}{12} * \left(1 + \frac{c}{12}\right)^{n+12}\right]}{\left[\left(1 + \frac{c}{12}\right)^{n+12} - 1\right]} \qquad Equation \ 4$$

$$PV_{Mortgage \, Increase} = P * 12 \frac{1 - (1 + disc)^{-n}}{disc}$$
 Equation 5

Where:

- *P* = incremental monthly mortgage payment (\$)
- c = loan interest rate of 4.5%

PV_{Tax Savings} is calculated using Equations 6 and 7.

Annual Tax Savings = balance * c * taxrate Equation 6

$$PV_{Tax\,Savings} = \sum_{n=1}^{30} Annual\,Tax\,Savings * \frac{1}{(1+disc)^n}$$
 Equation 7

Where:

- *taxrate* = average tax rate of 20% (to account for tax savings due to loan interest deductions)
- *balance* = balance of incremental cost of mortgage at beginning of each year

The financing factor based on the above assumptions was 1.068 for this study.

Simple payback is also presented and is calculated using the equation below. Based on the terms described above the lifecycle cost-to-benefit ratio threshold of one is roughly equivalent to a simple payback of 18 years. Maintenance costs were not included because there are no incremental maintenance costs expected for any of these measures. There is no assumed maintenance on the envelope measures and for HVAC and DHW measures there should not be any additional maintenance cost for a more efficient version of the same system type as the baseline. Replacement costs for inverters were included for PV systems.

Simple payback = First incremental cost / Annual customer utility cost savings **Equation 8**

2.6 Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Equivalent CO₂ emission savings were calculated using the following emission factors. Electricity factors are specific to California electricity production.

		Source							
Electricity	0.724 lb. CO ₂ -e / kWh	U.S. Environmental Protection agency's 2007 eGRID							
		data. ⁸							
Natural Gas	11.7 lb. CO ₂ -e / Therm	Emission rates for natural gas combustion as reported by							
		the U.S. Environmental Protection agency's GHG							
		Equivalencies Calculator. ⁹							

 Table 5: Equivalent CO2 Emissions Factors

⁸ <u>https://www.epa.gov/energy/ghg-equivalencies-calculator-calculations-and-references</u>

⁹ <u>https://www.epa.gov/energy/greenhouse-gas-equivalencies-calculator</u>

3 <u>Results</u>

Cost effective analysis including evaluating three efficiency packages and two PV performance packages was completed for all sixteen climate zones. Evaluations looked to identify cost effective Tier 1 and Tier 2 packages for both single family and multifamily prototypes at the CALGreen performance targets of 15% and 30%. When initial proposed packages were found to not be cost effective, multiple iterations were conducted to identify a cost effective package. In certain climates it was not feasible, and targets were subsequently relaxed to something more appropriate. In other climates no cost effective package could be identified. In almost every climate there was no cost effective way to achieve Tier 2 efficiency levels without the PV compliance credit, therefore all Tier 2 packages include PV. Because the PVCC is not available in climate zones 6 and 7, no Tier 2 packages were developed for those climates.

Since the results from this analysis are intended to support mandatory energy efficiency requirements, the authors intentionally selected proven cost-effective measures with wide market acceptance in typical residential construction. Achieving greater performance is feasible using advanced design strategies and measures.

3.1 Single Family Results

3.1.1 Single Family Cost Effectiveness Analysis

A comparison of cost effectiveness for each climate zone and five cases is presented in Figure 1. Table 6 and Table 7 provide the results in tabular form along with energy and greenhouse gas (GHG) savings for each efficiency and PV performance tier. Cost effectiveness results are presented for all three efficiency packages described previously (Envelope, Equipment, and PV Credit) as well as for the two PV performance packages (PV-Plus and TDV-Zero). A summary of measures included in each package is listed in Appendix B.1. The lifecycle benefit-to-cost ratio threshold of one is roughly equivalent to a simple payback of 18 years. Shaded rows in the tables reflect those cases which are not cost effective. While using high efficiency equipment is shown to result in the highest return on investment in many climates, it was necessary to find cost effective packages that do not require specification of equipment with efficiencies better than federally mandated values to avoid federal preemption prohibitions.

Tier 1 Envelope packages were found to be cost effective in climate zones 1 through 5 and 9 through 16. The Tier 1 threshold in climate zone 4 was reduced to 10% to meet the cost effectiveness criteria without installing equipment more efficient than federally mandated. No cost effective Tier 1 efficiency packages were identified in climate zones 6 through 8. Additional solar ready requirements of installing electrical conduit are included in the Tier 1 Envelope packages for climate zones 1 through 3 and 11 through 16 while still remaining cost effective. Adding PV conduit to the Tier 1 packages was not cost effective in the other climate zones.

Table 7 presents results for the two PV performance packages including the PV capacity necessary to offset the specified TDV energy. The PV system capacity for the PV-Plus packages is sized based upon the values in Table 3 to provide approximately 80% of estimated annual kWh consumption. The required TDV-Zero PV capacity (as required to generate a TDV=0 compliance simulation result) ranges from 3.1 kW DC in the mild climates (CZ5 and 7) to 7.7 kW DC in hot climates (CZ15). In all cases the measures in these packages reflect those in the Tier 2 package, with the exception of climate zones 6 & 7 where they are based on the Tier 1 envelope package.

The PV-Plus cases demonstrate cost effectiveness with a benefit-to-cost ratio ranging from 1.06 to 1.55. Adding PV beyond the amount needed to offset electricity use reduces cost effectiveness in all cases. The Zero-TDV cases are cost effective in only four climate zones and benefit-cost ratios are consistently lower in all climates. This is impacted by the fact that the compliance model is based upon a home with natural gas space and water heating, thus when sizing PV to offset total house TDV, PV electricity generation is offsetting natural gas consumption. The customer is paid for excess electricity generation

beyond what is consumed by the dwelling but only at the wholesale rate which is substantially lower than the retail rate.

Greenhouse gas (GHG) savings range from 4.1% to 12.7% for the envelope and equipment Tier 1 packages. Including the PV compliance credit increases GHG reductions to 39% on average. GHG reductions for the two PV packages average 50% and 77% for the PV-Plus and TDV-ZERO cases, respectively.



Figure 1: Single family cost effectiveness comparison

Climate Zone	T-24 Comp. Margin	Elec Savings (kWh)	Gas Savings (therms)	% GHG Savings ²	Package Cost ³	Utility Cost Savings	Simple Payback	Lifecycle Benefit-Cost Ratio
Tier 1, Env	elope Cases	s 				4		
CZ1	16.1%	67	83.7	10.7%	\$1,138	\$146	7.8	2.35
CZ2	15.8%	146	49.1	8.2%	\$1,712	\$105	16.3	1.13
CZ3	15.5%	32	43.6	7.7%	\$1,138	\$64	17.8	1.03
CZ4	12.0%	114	18.8	4.1%	\$808	\$53	15.3	1.20
CZ5	15.2%	27	39.3	7.3%	\$812	\$54	15.1	1.22
CZ6	8.7%	20	17.1	3.6%	\$571	\$20	28.4	0.65
CZ7	7.0%	9	9.7	2.3%	\$571	\$15	39.3	0.47
CZ8	8.9%	37	10.2	2.6%	\$571	\$18	32.1	0.57
CZ9	17.2%	169	11.1	4.1%	\$808	\$47	17.2	1.07
CZ10	17.2%	213	12.9	4.7%	\$808	\$57	14.2	1.29
CZ11	16.9%	460	25.9	7.1%	\$1,090	\$156	7.0	2.63
CZ12	16.4%	222	24.2	5.4%	\$1,090	\$87	12.5	1.47
CZ13	17.4%	485	22.1	7.0%	\$1,090	\$157	7.0	2.64
CZ14	16.4%	441	24.4	6.9%	\$1,090	\$127	8.6	2.13
CZ15	15.2%	896	4.7	8.1%	\$1,010	\$209	4.8	3.79
CZ16	15.8%	296	80.4	9.8%	\$1,551	\$195	8.0	2.31
Tier 1, Equ	uipment Cas	es						
CZ1	19.3%	47	101.7	12.7%	\$1,281	\$169	7.6	2.42
CZ2	16.8%	34	67.0	9.7%	\$1,281	\$103	12.4	1.48
CZ3	15.3%	23	45.4	8.0%	\$853	\$63	13.6	1.35
CZ4	17.0%	103	45.4	8.3%	\$1,156	\$82	14.2	1.30
CZ5	16.9%	22	46.0	8.4%	\$571	\$60	9.5	1.93
CZ6	15.5%	20	36.2	7.3%	\$732	\$38	19.3	0.95
CZ7	15.6%	9	25.7	5.8%	\$571	\$35	16.4	1.12
CZ8	17.4%	68	25.1	6.0%	\$728	\$39	18.8	0.98
CZ9	16.9%	159	12.2	4.2%	\$813	\$46	17.6	1.04
CZ10	16.6%	203	14.2	4.9%	\$813	\$56	14.5	1.26
CZ11	17.3%	473	26.0	7.2%	\$1,096	\$160	6.9	2.68
CZ12	16.0%	247	22.7	5.4%	\$1,096	\$92	12.0	1.54
CZ13	17.9%	507	21.5	7.1%	\$1,096	\$161	6.8	2.70
CZ14	17.1%	458	26.4	7.3%	\$1,096	\$133	8.2	2.23
CZ15	15.2%	896	4.7	8.1%	\$1,010	\$209	4.8	3.79
CZ16	17.6%	58	123.7	12.6%	\$1,281	\$207	6.2	2.96

Table 6: Single Family Efficiency Package Cost Effectiveness Results¹

Climate Zone	T-24 Comp. Margin	Elec Savings (kWh)	Gas Savings (therms)	% GHG Savings ²	Package Cost ³	Utility Cost Savings	Simple Payback	Lifecycle Benefit-Cost Ratio				
Tier 2, Cas	es with PV (Credit										
CZ1	32.2%	2,947	111.8	35.7%	\$10,497	\$781	13.4	1.37				
CZ2	31.4%	3,227	132.7	46.9%	\$10,079	\$809	12.5	1.47				
CZ3	21.8%	3,190	40.1	40.3%	\$8,559	\$731	11.7	1.57				
CZ4	30.4%	3,353	21.8	36.6%	\$8,908	\$677	13.2	1.39				
CZ5	22.0%	3,392	35.6	43.7%	\$8,515	\$737	11.6	1.59				
CZ6		N/A - No PV Credit										
CZ7				N/A - N	lo PV Credit							
CZ8	36.4%	3,290	10.2	44.0%	\$8,828	\$617	14.3	1.28				
CZ9	35.0%	3,333	13.2	41.5%	\$8,435	\$595	14.2	1.29				
CZ10	32.2%	3,517	15.4	42.3%	\$8,828	\$612	14.4	1.27				
CZ11	31.2%	3,698	35.8	34.7%	\$9,345	\$752	12.4	1.48				
CZ12	32.4%	3,386	27.9	33.8%	\$8,828	\$684	12.9	1.42				
CZ13	31.3%	3,584	25.4	33.2%	\$9,301	\$715	13.0	1.41				
CZ14	30.9%	4,366	26.4	39.4%	\$9,378	\$801	11.7	1.57				
CZ15	32.2%	4,610	4.7	39.0%	\$9,378	\$767	12.2	1.50				
CZ16	31.5%	3,881	80.4	31.8%	\$9,526	\$852	11.2	1.64				

¹Shaded rows reflect those cases which are not cost effective.

 2 Based on CA electricity production and equivalent CO_2 emission rates of 0.724 lbCO_2e / kWh & 11.7 lb-CO_2e / therm.

³ Includes 10% markup for builder profit and overhead.

Climate Zone	Compliance Margin	PV Capacity (kW)	Elec Savings (kWh)	Gas Savings (therms)	GHG % Savings ²	Package Cost ³	Utility Cost Savings	Simple Payback	Lifecycle Benefit- Cost Ratio
PV-Plus Pa	ackage								
CZ1	32.2%	3.0	4,178	111.8	45.0%	\$14,114	\$889	15.9	1.16
CZ2	31.4%	2.5	3,798	132.7	51.9%	\$11,514	\$872	13.2	1.39
CZ3	21.8%	2.6	4,082	40.1	49.7%	\$10,780	\$784	13.8	1.33
CZ4	30.4%	2.3	3,619	21.8	39.2%	\$9,557	\$716	13.3	1.38
CZ5	22.0%	2.3	3,838	35.6	48.6%	\$9,557	\$768	12.4	1.48
CZ6	10.8%	2.5	3,912	17.1	48.9%	\$10,420	\$604	17.2	1.06
CZ7	10.6%	2.2	3,556	9.7	51.5%	\$9,526	\$655	14.5	1.26
CZ8	36.4%	2.6	4,026	10.2	53.4%	\$10,656	\$691	15.4	1.19
CZ9	35.0%	2.5	4,092	13.2	50.3%	\$10,263	\$737	13.9	1.32
CZ10	32.2%	2.5	4,202	15.4	50.0%	\$10,479	\$757	13.8	1.33
CZ11	31.2%	3.5	5,728	35.8	51.1%	\$14,359	\$1,097	13.1	1.40
CZ12	32.4%	2.9	4,673	27.9	45.2%	\$12,052	\$799	15.1	1.22
CZ13	31.3%	3.7	5,863	25.4	52.1%	\$15,101	\$1,111	13.6	1.35
CZ14	30.9%	2.5	4,941	26.4	44.1%	\$10,636	\$900	11.8	1.55
CZ15	32.2%	4.6	8,600	4.7	72.2%	\$18,755	\$1,497	12.5	1.46
CZ16	31.5%	2.5	4,501	80.4	35.6%	\$10,961	\$866	12.7	1.45
Zero-TDV	Package								
CZ1	32.2%	4.8	6,560	111.8	62.9%	\$21,113	\$987	21.4	0.86
CZ2	31.4%	4.0	6,200	132.7	72.9%	\$17,550	\$960	18.3	1.00
CZ3	21.8%	3.5	5,557	40.1	65.2%	\$14,457	\$845	17.1	1.07
CZ4	30.4%	3.9	6,252	21.8	65.3%	\$15,986	\$808	19.8	0.93
CZ5	22.0%	3.2	5,411	35.6	65.9%	\$13,233	\$821	16.1	1.14
CZ6	10.8%	3.5	5,530	17.1	68.3%	\$14,450	\$644	22.4	0.82
CZ7	10.6%	3.1	5,083	9.7	72.4%	\$13,192	\$686	19.2	0.95
CZ8	36.4%	3.7	5,821	10.2	76.3%	\$15,119	\$705	21.4	0.86
CZ9	35.0%	4.3	7,090	13.2	85.4%	\$17,478	\$756	23.1	0.79
CZ10	32.2%	4.3	7,103	15.4	82.5%	\$17,478	\$776	22.5	0.81
CZ11	31.2%	6.1	9,908	35.8	85.0%	\$24,680	\$1,269	19.4	0.94
CZ12	32.4%	5.1	8,094	27.9	75.4%	\$20,624	\$944	21.9	0.84
CZ13	31.3%	6.4	10,075	25.4	87.1%	\$25,815	\$1,299	19.9	0.92
CZ14	30.9%	5.5	10,295	26.4	88.0%	\$22,353	\$1,068	20.9	0.88
CZ15	32.2%	7.7	13,811	4.7	115.5%	\$31,003	\$1,762	17.6	1.04
CZ16	31.5%	5.2	9,147	80.4	64.2%	\$21,715	\$1,061	20.5	0.90

Table 7: Single Family PV Performance Package Cost Effectiveness Results¹

¹Shaded rows reflect those cases which are not cost effective.

 2 Based on CA electricity production and equivalent CO₂ emission rates of 0.724 lbCO₂e / kWh & 11.7 lb-CO₂e / therm. 3 Includes 10% markup for builder profit and overhead.

3.1.2 <u>Single Family Package Recommendations</u>

Based on the single family cost effective analysis, two reach code packages were developed, an efficiency package and a PV package as described below. Table 8 and Table 9 summarize the measures used to cost effectively meet the performance targets for each package.

Tier 1 Efficiency only: Where cost effective packages were identified, the 15% compliance margin target, consistent with CALGreen Tier 1 were used. As stated earlier, a cost effective 15% package was not identified for climate zone 4, so a 10% compliance margin target was used. No cost effective efficiency only packages were identified for climate zones 6 through 8.

Climate Zone	Compliance Margin Target	ð	ACH50	Window U-value / SHGC	Door U- value	AH Fan W/cfm	HW Pipe Insul.	Solar Ready
CZ1	15%	Y		.30/.50	0.20		Y	Y
CZ2	15%	Y	3	.30/.23	0.20	0.30	Y	Y
CZ3	15%	Y		.30/.50	0.20		Y	Y
CZ4	10%	Y		.30/.23		0.30		
CZ5	15%	Y		.30/.50			Y	
CZ6			N	o package				
CZ7			N	o package				
CZ8			N	o package				
CZ9	15%	Y		.30/.23		0.30		
CZ10	15%	Y		.30/.23		0.30		
CZ11	15%	Y		.30/.23		0.30		Y
CZ12	15%	Y		.30/.23		0.30		Y
CZ13	15%	Y		.30/.23		0.30		Y
CZ14	15%	Y		.30/.23		0.30		Y
CZ15	15%	Y				0.30		Y
CZ16	15%	Y	3	.30/.23	0.20	0.30		Y

Table 8: Single Family Efficiency Only: Cost Effective Measures Summary

<u>PV-Plus</u>: Cost effective packages with efficiency and PV were identified in all 16 climate zones, but the compliance margin targets were lowered to 20% for climates 3 and 5, and to 10% for 6 and 7. Table 9 summarizes the measures used in each climate zone to cost effectively meet the targets. It is assumed that the PV compliance credit can be used to meet all these targets, except in climate zones 6 and 7. It is also assumed that a PV system is installed per the methodology described in Table 3 and consistent with the CEC Solar PV Ordinance.

	20000000000			2 11151 000	<u>, </u>			<u> </u>	
Climate Zone	Compliance Margin Target	qI	ACH50	Window U- value / SHGC	Door U- value	НРА	AH Fan W/cfm	HW Pipe Insul.	PV Capacity (kW)
CZ1	30%	Y	3	.30/.50	0.20	Y		Y	3.0
CZ2	30%	Y		.30/.50	0.20	Y		Y	2.5
CZ3	20%	Y		.30/.50	0.20				2.6
CZ4	30%	Y		.30/.23					2.3
CZ5	20%	Y		.30/.50					2.3
CZ6	10%	Y					0.30		2.5
CZ7	10%	Y		.30/.23	0.20		0.30	Y	2.2
CZ8	30%	Y							2.6
CZ9	30%	Y							2.5
CZ10	30%	Y							2.5
CZ11	30%	Y		.30/.23	0.20				3.5
CZ12	30%	Y							2.9
CZ13	30%	Y		.30/.23					3.7
CZ14	30%	Y					0.30		2.5
CZ15	30%	Y					0.30		4.6
CZ16	30%	Y	3	.30/.23	0.20		0.30		2.5

 Table 9: Single Family PV-Plus: Cost Effective Measures Summary

3.2 Multifamily Results

It is generally more challenging to achieve equivalent savings targets for the multifamily cases than for the single family cases. With less exterior surface area per floor area the impact of envelope measures is diminished in multifamily buildings. The PV credit is also much smaller because it is offsetting only high performance walls; high performance attic is not applied to the multifamily prescriptive design because ducts are already assumed to be within conditioned space. Shaded rows in the tables below indicate cases that don't meet the 15% target for Tier 1 or don't have feasible Tier 2 packages.

3.2.1 <u>Multifamily Cost Effectiveness Analysis</u>

A comparison of cost effectiveness for the multi-family prototype is presented in Figure 2. Table 10 and Table 11 provide the results in tabular form, along with energy and greenhouse gas savings for the efficiency and PV performance tiers, respectively. *All multifamily results are presented on a per dwelling unit basis.* Cost effectiveness results are presented for all of the three efficiency packages described previously (envelope, equipment, and PV compliance credit) as well as for the two PV performance packages (PV-Plus and TDV-Zero). A summary of measures included in each package is listed in Appendix B.2. The lifecycle benefit-to-cost ratio threshold of one is roughly equivalent to a simple payback of 18 years. Shaded rows in the tables reflect those cases which aren't cost effective. While using high efficiency equipment is shown to result in an improved return on investment in many climates, it was necessary to find cost effective packages that do not require specification of equipment with efficiencies better than federally mandated values. It can be noted that since rental rates are determined primarily by location, tenants may not experience increased rents due to the cost of efficiency measures. If this is the case, the tenants have no costs and only the benefit of lower energy utility costs.

Tier 1, Envelope packages were found to be cost effective in climate zones 1, and 10 through 16, although the threshold for climate zone 10 was lowered to 10% to meet the cost effectiveness criteria. QII alone was found to be cost effective in climate zone 2 but a cost effective 10% package requires using the PV

compliance credit. No cost effective Tier 1, Envelope efficiency packages were identified in climate zones 3 through 9 without the addition of high efficiency equipment or PV.

Table 11 summarizes the cost effectiveness of the PV performance packages. PV capacity required to meet the required TDV energy offset for each case is also included. The PV capacity for the PV-Plus packages are sized the same as for the single family analysis and based upon the values in Table 3. The required TDV-Zero PV capacity per apartment ranges from 1.9 kW DC in the mild climates to 3.7 kW DC in hot climates (CZ15). For the multifamily prototype 8-unit apartment building, this is equivalent to 15.2 to 29.6 kW for the building. In all cases the measures in these packages reflect those in the Tier 2 package, with the exception of climate zones 6 & 7 where they are based on the Tier 1 envelope package.

The PV-Plus cases demonstrate cost effectiveness with a benefit-to-cost ratio ranging from 1.02 to 1. 68. Similar to the single family analysis, while PV is cost effective in offsetting electricity use, adding PV to meet a zero TDV design reduces cost effectiveness in all cases with only two climates having a value greater than 1.

Greenhouse gas (GHG) savings range from 2.2% to 8.6% for the envelope and equipment Tier 1 packages. Including the PV compliance credit increases GHG reductions to 34% on average. GHG reductions for the two PV packages average 49% and 78% for the PV-Plus and ZN-TDV cases, respectively.



Figure 2: Multifamily cost effectiveness comparison

Climate Zone	T-24 Comp. Margin	Elec Savings (kWh)	Gas Savings (therms)	% GHG Savings ²	Package Cost ³	Utility Cost Savings	Simple Payback	Lifecycle Benefit-Cost Ratio
Tier 1, Env	elope Cases	S T			Γ.	Γ.	1	
CZ1	16.5%	31	28.0	8.0%	\$427	\$37	11.5	1.60
CZ2	4.8%	7	7.3	2.2%	\$146	\$10	15.0	1.22
CZ3	10.9%	-3	14.3	4.5%	\$312	\$16	19.8	0.93
CZ4	10.9%	45	4.6	2.3%	\$364	\$14	26.9	0.68
CZ5	10.2%	-4	13.3	4.2%	\$509	\$14	35.8	0.51
CZ6	11.7%	19	7.7	3.0%	\$427	\$10	42.6	0.43
CZ7	10.2%	10	4.3	1.7%	\$509	\$7	69.3	0.26
CZ8	10.5%	55	1.2	1.5%	\$282	\$10	29.0	0.63
CZ9	12.3%	79	2.0	2.2%	\$282	\$14	19.7	0.93
CZ10	10.1%	92	2.5	2.6%	\$282	\$17	16.9	1.08
CZ11	17.7%	186	13.2	6.5%	\$304	\$49	6.2	2.96
CZ12	17.1%	103	12.6	5.4%	\$304	\$33	9.1	2.02
CZ13	18.1%	200	11.3	6.3%	\$304	\$50	6.1	2.99
CZ14	17.8%	176	12.9	6.3%	\$304	\$39	7.7	2.38
CZ15	17.7%	426	0.6	6.8%	\$304	\$73	4.1	4.43
CZ16	16.3%	91	29.9	8.0%	\$427	\$52	8.2	2.24
Tier 1, Equ	uipment Cas	es						
CZ1	16.7%	8	31.7	8.6%	\$290	\$37	7.8	2.35
CZ2	15.0%	7	27.3	8.0%	\$642	\$32	19.8	0.93
CZ3	12.4%	1	16.9	5.4%	\$146	\$19	7.6	2.42
CZ4	16.3%	11	25.5	8.0%	\$765	\$31	24.8	0.74
CZ5	11.8%	-3	16.6	5.3%	\$146	\$18	8.1	2.28
CZ6	12.1%	1	16.4	5.6%	\$269	\$15	17.8	1.03
CZ7	12.5%	-1	15.9	5.5%	\$379	\$20	19.3	0.95
CZ8	15.2%	83	1.2	2.1%	\$1,133	\$14	80.4	0.23
CZ9	15.7%	106	2.0	2.8%	\$1,029	\$19	55.4	0.33
CZ10	15.5%	124	2.5	3.2%	\$1,029	\$22	47.2	0.39
CZ11	16.5%	202	6.3	5.0%	\$333	\$44	7.5	2.43
CZ12	15.0%	109	6.1	3.6%	\$333	\$27	12.4	1.48
CZ13	15.4%	199	5.1	4.6%	\$311	\$42	7.4	2.48
CZ14	16.5%	201	6.1	4.9%	\$1,029	\$37	27.7	0.66
CZ15	20.4%	515	0.4	8.2%	\$1,029	\$89	11.6	1.58
CZ16	15.7%	86	29.8	7.9%	\$668	\$51	13.0	1.41

Table 10: Multifamily Efficiency Cost Effectiveness Results¹

Climate Zone	T-24 Comp. Margin	Elec Savings (kWh)	Gas Savings (therms)	% GHG Savings ²	Package Cost ³	Utility Cost Savings	Simple Payback	Lifecycle Benefit-Cost Ratio					
Tier 2, Cas	es with PV (Credit											
CZ1	21.0%	1,370	28.0	30.2%	\$4,004	\$291	13.8	1.33					
CZ2	20.4%	1,608	17.2	33.7%	\$4,004	\$318	12.6	1.46					
CZ3	15.3%	1,585	14.1	35.7%	\$4,004	\$315	12.7	1.44					
CZ4	26.9%	1,654	13.6	35.6%	\$4,004	\$321	12.5	1.47					
CZ5	12.4%	1,677	13.3	37.7%	\$4,004	\$326	12.3	1.49					
CZ6		N/A - No PV credit											
CZ7				N/A - N	lo PV credit								
CZ8	21.0%	1,622	5.7	35.3%	\$4,004	\$260	15.4	1.19					
CZ9	26.8%	1,719	4.0	35.4%	\$3,882	\$270	14.4	1.28					
CZ10	26.2%	1,734	4.9	35.2%	\$3,882	\$269	14.4	1.27					
CZ11	26.5%	1,778	13.2	32.6%	\$3,882	\$311	12.5	1.47					
CZ12	26.5%	1,673	12.6	32.8%	\$3,882	\$312	12.4	1.47					
CZ13	27.3%	1,746	11.3	31.8%	\$3,882	\$301	12.9	1.42					
CZ14	26.0%	1,973	12.9	36.0%	\$3,882	\$307	12.7	1.45					
CZ15	25.4%	2,100	0.6	33.0%	\$3,882	\$281	13.8	1.33					
CZ16	25.7%	1,734	42.4	33.8%	\$3,767	\$369	10.2	1.80					

¹Shaded rows reflect those cases which are not cost effective.

 2 Based on CA electricity production and equivalent CO_2 emission rates of 0.724 lbCO_2e / kWh & 11.7 lb-CO_2e / therm.

³ Includes 10% markup for builder profit and overhead.

Climate Zone	Compliance Margin	PV Capacity (kW)	Elec Savings (kWh)	Gas Savings (therms)	GHG % Savings ²	Package Cost ³	Utility Cost Savings	Simple Payback	Lifecycle Benefit- Cost Ratio
PV-Plus Pa	ckage								
CZ1	21.0%	1.6	2,172	28.0	43.5%	\$6,151	\$393	15.7	1.17
CZ2	20.4%	1.4	2,234	17.2	44.9%	\$5,436	\$393	13.8	1.33
CZ3	15.3%	1.5	2,374	14.1	51.2%	\$5,793	\$377	15.4	1.19
CZ4	26.9%	1.3	2,137	13.6	44.8%	\$5,078	\$391	13.0	1.41
CZ5	12.4%	1.4	2,350	13.3	51.1%	\$5,436	\$375	14.5	1.27
CZ6	11.7%	1.5	2,388	7.7	52.5%	\$5,793	\$322	18.0	1.02
CZ7	10.2%	1.3	2,139	4.3	48.0%	\$5,160	\$369	14.0	1.31
CZ8	21.0%	1.5	2,413	5.7	51.6%	\$5,793	\$350	16.5	1.11
CZ9	26.8%	1.4	2,372	4.0	48.4%	\$5,313	\$369	14.4	1.27
CZ10	26.2%	1.4	2,386	4.9	47.9%	\$5,313	\$383	13.9	1.32
CZ11	26.5%	1.7	2,893	13.2	50.8%	\$6,386	\$514	12.4	1.48
CZ12	26.5%	1.5	2,457	12.6	46.5%	\$5,671	\$437	13.0	1.42
CZ13	27.3%	1.8	2,982	11.3	52.2%	\$6,744	\$525	12.8	1.43
CZ14	26.0%	1.3	2,512	12.9	44.9%	\$4,955	\$406	12.2	1.51
CZ15	25.4%	2.1	3,940	0.6	61.8%	\$7,817	\$618	12.6	1.45
CZ16	25.7%	1.3	2,244	42.4	40.9%	\$4,841	\$444	10.9	1.68
Zero-TDV	Package								
CZ1	21.0%	2.5	3,415	28.0	64.2%	\$9,473	\$424	22.3	0.82
CZ2	20.4%	2.3	3,674	17.2	70.7%	\$8,728	\$433	20.2	0.91
CZ3	15.3%	2.0	3,233	14.1	68.1%	\$7,740	\$400	19.4	0.95
CZ4	26.9%	2.2	3,587	13.6	72.4%	\$8,300	\$429	19.4	0.95
CZ5	12.4%	1.9	3,189	13.3	67.8%	\$7,219	\$399	18.1	1.02
CZ6	11.7%	2.1	3,356	8.0	72.7%	\$7,987	\$341	23.4	0.78
CZ7	10.2%	2.1	3,383	4.0	75.0%	\$7,877	\$394	20.0	0.92
CZ8	21.0%	2.4	3,768	5.7	79.6%	\$8,858	\$379	23.4	0.78
CZ9	26.8%	2.5	4,124	4.0	83.1%	\$9,148	\$403	22.7	0.81
CZ10	26.2%	2.5	4,115	4.9	81.5%	\$9,109	\$415	22.0	0.84
CZ11	26.5%	3.0	4,979	13.2	84.9%	\$11,074	\$586	18.9	0.97
CZ12	26.5%	2.8	4,509	12.6	82.3%	\$10,347	\$503	20.6	0.89
CZ13	27.3%	3.2	5,129	11.3	87.6%	\$11,712	\$603	19.4	0.94
CZ14	26.0%	2.7	5,056	12.9	86.8%	\$10,021	\$482	20.8	0.88
CZ15	25.4%	3.7	6,571	0.6	102.9%	\$13,444	\$726	18.5	0.99
CZ16	25.7%	2.6	4,398	42.4	71.0%	\$9,378	\$514	18.2	1.01

Table 11: Multifamily PV Performance Cost Effectiveness Results¹

¹Shaded rows reflect those cases which are not cost effective.

 2 Based on CA electricity production and equivalent CO₂ emission rates of 0.724 lbCO₂e / kWh & 11.7 lb-CO₂e / therm. 3 Includes 10% markup for builder profit and overhead.

3.2.2 <u>Multifamily Package Recommendations</u>

Based on the multifamily cost effective analysis, two reach code packages were developed, similar to the single family packages. Table 12 and Table 13 summarize the measures used to cost effectively meet the performance targets for each multifamily package.

Tier 1 Efficiency only: Where cost effective packages were identified, the 15% compliance margin target, consistent with CALGreen Tier 1 were used. As stated earlier, a cost effective 15% package was not identified for climate zone 10, so a 10% compliance margin target was used, and only QII was cost effective in climate zone 2. Additionally, no cost effective efficiency only packages were identified for climate zones 3 through 9.

Climate Zone	Compliance Margin Target	ß	Window U- value / SHGC	Door U- value	AH Fan W/cfm	Refrigerant Charge	HW Comp. Dist.			
CZ1	15%	Y	0.30/0.50	0.20	0.3		Y			
CZ2	QII Only	Y								
CZ3			N	o package						
CZ4			N	o package						
CZ5			N	No package						
CZ6			N	o package						
CZ7			N	o package						
CZ8			N	o package						
CZ9			N	o package						
CZ10	10%	Y	0.30/0.23		0.3					
CZ11	15%	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20	0.3					
CZ12	15%	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20	0.3					
CZ13	15%	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20	0.3					
CZ14	15%	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20	0.3					
CZ15	15%	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20	0.3					
CZ16	15%	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20	0.3		Y			

 Table 12: Multifamily Efficiency Only: Cost Effective Measures Summary

PV-Plus: Cost effective packages with efficiency and PV were identified in all 16 climate zones, but the compliance margin targets in all climates were lowered below 30% in all cases to be cost effective. Table 13 summarizes the compliance margin targets in each climate zone and the measures used to cost effectively meet the targets. As with the single family packages, with the exception of climate zones 6 and 7, it is assumed that the PV compliance credit can be used to meet these targets. It is also assumed that a PV system is installed per the methodology developed for the proposed Solar PV ordinance (Table 3).

				<u> </u>			
Climate Zone	Compliance Margin Target	ğ	Window U-value / SHGC	Door U- value	AH Fan W/cfm	HW Comp. Dist.	PV Capacity (kW)
CZ1	20%	Y	0.30/0.50	0.20	0.3	Y	1.6
CZ2	20%	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20	0.3	Y	1.4
CZ3	15%	Y	0.30/0.50	0.20	0.3	Y	1.5
CZ4	25%	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20	0.3	Y	1.3
CZ5	10%	Y	0.30/0.50	0.20	0.3	Y	1.4
CZ6	10%	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20			1.5
CZ7	10%	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20			1.3
CZ8	20%	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20	0.3	Y	1.5
CZ9	25%	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20	0.3		1.4
CZ10	25%	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20	0.3		1.4
CZ11	25%	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20	0.3		1.7
CZ12	25%	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20	0.3		1.5
CZ13	25%	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20	0.3		1.8
CZ14	25%	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20	0.3		1.3
CZ15	25%	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20	0.3		2.1
CZ16	25%	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20			1.3

Table 13: Multifamily PV-Plus: Cost Effective Measures Summary

4 Conclusions & Summary

This report evaluated the feasibility and cost effectiveness of "above code" ordinance performance tiers through the application of both efficiency measures and PV in all 16 California climates zones. For this analysis, PG&E rates were used for gas and electricity in climate zones 1 through 5, 11 through 13, and 16. SCE electricity rates and Southern California Gas rates were used for climate zones 6, 8 through 10, 14 and 15. SDG&E rates were used for electricity and gas for climate zone 7.

The following describes the recommended performance levels for the above-code ordinance packages. The original intent was to develop packages that align with the tiers as defined in the 2016 CALGreen code. Based on the analysis results, performance thresholds were reduced in some climates and eliminated altogether in other climates. Identifying cost effective efficiency (only) packages was particularly challenging in multifamily buildings. Table 14 and Table 15 summarize recommended cost effective ordinance criteria by climate zone for single family and multifamily buildings, respectively. Where cost effective packages exist, there is both a Tier 1 efficiency only package and the efficiency with PV (PV-Plus) package. The tables include the Title 24 compliance target needed to meet the criteria for each package. Tier 1 compliance targets are compliance margins for efficiency measures only and are designed to be met without using the PV Compliance Credit. The PV-Plus compliance targets are for projects that include PV. The efficiency targets are set higher, but assume that the PV compliance credit (PVCC) is used to meet the performance targets. The efficiency targets are set lower for climate zones 6 and 7 because projects built in these climate zones are not eligible to take the PVCC.

Following is a summary of the differences between the two packages defined in this analysis and the tiers defined in CALGreen.

Tier 1 Packages: CALGreen defines Tier 1 as showing a 15% or greater Title 24 compliance margin compared to the Standard Design. The intent of the Efficiency tier in this study was to find cost effective packages of measures that meet the CALGreen Tier 1 criteria without mandating the installation of PV or high efficiency equipment that exceed federal minimum levels. To encourage adoption of efficiency measures in preparation for the 2019 Title-24 code, the authors recommend that PV not be allowed as a means to meet the Tier 1 compliance requirements. Based on the lifecycle benefit-to-cost ratio metric applied in this analysis, cost effective packages to meet Tier 1. There are several climates where the compliance margin targets are lowered to maintain the cost effectiveness criteria and other climates where no cost effective efficiency packages were identified. To facilitate future PV installations in single family, solar ready requirements beyond those in the Title-24 code have been included where cost effective.

PV-Plus Packages: CALGreen defines both Tier 2 and ZNE Tier performance levels. The ZNE Tier requires that the building meet the required efficiency targets as defined in Section A4.203.1.2.3 of 2016 CALGreen and size a PV system to offset 100% of the TDV energy of the building (achieve an Energy Design Rating of 0). The results of this work, based on dwellings with gas and electricity, found that sizing the PV system to meet the ZNE Tier criteria was generally not cost effective or in some limited cases, marginally cost effective. Instead a PV and efficiency package (PV-Plus) was developed that limited the size of the PV system to no larger than the annual estimated electricity use of the building and combine it with efficiency measures that are cost effective in all climate zones. Lifecycle benefit-to-cost ratio for the PV-Plus cases for both the single family and multifamily prototypes are all above one. In cases where PV capacity in the PV-Plus package is less than the minimum to meet the PV compliance credit, it's recommended that jurisdictions allow the smaller PV capacity be installed and still qualify for the PVCC to avoid sizing the PV systems larger than the estimated electricity use.

		T-24	0			
	Climate	Compliance		PVCC		Solar
Packages	Zones	Target	QII	Allowed	PV	Ready
Tion 1 Efficiency	1-3, 11-16	15%	Yes	No	n/a	Yes
Colv Package	5, 9-10	15%	Yes	No	n/a	No
Only Fackage	4	10%	Yes	No	n/a	No
	1,2,4, 8-16	30%	Yes	Yes	Yes	n/a
PV-Plus Package	3,5	20%	Yes	Yes	Yes	n/a
	6-7	10%	Yes	n/a	Yes	n/a

 Table 14: Single Family Reach Code Package Recommendations

Table 15: Multifamily Reach Code Package Recommendations

	Climate	T-24			
	Climate	Compliance		PVCC	
Packages	Zones	Target	QII	Allowed	PV
Tion 1 Efficiency	1, 11-16	15%	Yes	No	n/a
	10	10%	Yes	No	n/a
Only Fackage	2	QII	Yes	No	n/a
	4, 9-16	25%	PVCC AllowedPVQIIAllowedPVYesNon/aYesNon/aYesNoNoYesYesYes	Yes	
	1-2, 8	20%	Yes	Yes	Yes
PV-Plus Package	3	15%	Yes	Yes	Yes
	1-2,8 20% Yes Yes 3 15% Yes Yes 5 10% Yes Yes	Yes			
	6-7	10%	Yes	n/a	Yes

Consistent with CALGreen, a pre-requisite for all packages includes HERS verification of Quality Insulation Installation (QII).

The recommended packages do not include a TDV-Zero option because these packages were generally not found to be cost effective. Lifecycle benefit-to-cost ratios for the single family TDV-Zero packages are 0.78 to 1.07. Limited cost effectiveness is largely a result of oversizing the PV systems relative to the house electricity load. With mixed fuel homes, PV electricity generation offsets natural gas consumption when sizing relative to zero TDV. The consumer is compensated by the utility for electricity generation in excess of annual consumption, but only at the wholesale rate which is substantially lower than the retail rate. Consideration of dwellings without gas was not in the scope of this study.

This analysis uses a customer-based lifecycle cost (LCC) approach to evaluating cost effectiveness of the proposed ordinance, whereas the CEC LCC methodology uses Time Dependent Valuation (TDV) as the primary metric for energy savings. Both methodologies require estimating and quantifying the energy savings associated with energy efficiency measures, as well as quantifying the costs associated with the measures. The main difference between the methodologies is the manner in which they value energy and thus the cost savings of reduced or avoided energy use. The CEC LCC Methodology uses TDV, which is intended to capture the societal impact of energy savings, while the life cycle customer cost methodology uses utility rate schedules and applies net energy metering rules to estimate cost savings to the customer from onsite PV generation. If evaluated under the CEC's TDV methodology, all of the PV performance packages, including Zero-TDV, would be cost effective.

In conclusion, this report has identified cost effective options to meet above-code performance levels for dwellings using natural gas and electricity which can be adopted by cities and counties within investorowned utility territories across California. Including PV to the level of offsetting electricity loads was found to be cost effective in all sixteen climate zones evaluated as summarized above.

5 <u>References</u>

CEC. 2016a. 2016 Alternative Calculation Method Approval Manual. CEC-400-2015-039-CMF. June 2015. California Energy Commission. <u>http://www.energy.ca.gov/2015publications/CEC-400-2015-039/CEC-400-2015-039-CMF.pdf</u>

CEC. 2016b. 2016 Building Energy Efficiency Standards for Residential and Nonresidential Buildings. CEC-400-2015-037-CMF. June 2015. California Energy Commission. http://www.energy.ca.gov/2015publications/CEC-400-2015-037/CEC-400-2015-037-CMF.pdf

CEC. 2016c. 2016 Reference Appendices. CEC-400-2015-038-CMF. June 2015. California Energy Commission. <u>http://www.energy.ca.gov/2015publications/CEC-400-2015-038/CEC-400-2015-038/CEC-400-2015-038-CMF.pdf</u>

CEC. 2016d. 2016 Residential Alternative Calculation Method Reference Manual. CEC-400-2015-024-CMF-REV. June 2017. California Energy Commission. http://www.energy.ca.gov/2015publications/CEC-400-2015-024/CEC-400-2015-024-CMF-REV.pdf

Horii, B., E. Cutter, N. Kapur, J. Arent, and D. Conotyannis. 2014. "Time Dependent Valuation of Energy for Developing Building Energy Efficiency Standards." <u>http://www.energy.ca.gov/title24/2016standards/prerulemaking/documents/2014-07-</u>09_workshop/2017_TDV_Documents/

TRC. 2016. "City of Santa Monica 2016 Building Energy Efficiency Reach Code Cost Effectiveness Study." Prepared for Javier Mariscal, Codes and Standards Program Southern California Edison. November, 16, 2016.

Appendix A – Prescriptive Package

The following presents the residential prescriptive package as printed in the 2016 Building Energy Efficiency Standards (CEC, 2016b).

							С														
						1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16
		(¥6(is Insulation oof Rafter	ıg Type	No Air Space ¹	NR	NR	NR	R 8	NR	NR	NR	R 8	R 8	R 8	R 8	R 8	R 8	R 8	R 8	R 8
		eets §150.1(c	Continuou Above R	Roofii	With Air Space ²	NR	NR	NR	R 6	NR	NR	NR	R 6	R 6	R 6	R 6	R 6	R 6	R 6	R 6	R 6
		Option A (m		Ceiling Insulation		R 38	R 38	R 30	R 38	R 30	R 30	R 30	R 38								
Building Envelope Insulation Roofs/ Ceilings				Radiant Barrier		NR	REQ	NR													
	toofs/ eilings (c)9A)	(c)9A)	Detor D (Theets \$1.50.1(C)7.4) Below Roof Deck	Roofin g Type	No Air Space	NR	NR	NR	R 18	NR	NR	NR	R 18								
	Ce R	neets §150.1			With Air	NR	NR	NR	R 13	NR	NR	NR	R 13								
		Option B (n		Ceiling		R 38	R 38	R 30	R 38	R 30	R 30	R 30	R 38								
				Radiant Barrier		NR	REQ	REQ	NR	REQ	REQ	REQ	NR								
		ı C (meets		Ceiling Insulation		R 38	R 30	R 38													
		Option		Radiant		NR	REQ	NR													

TABLE 150.1-A COMPONENT PACKAGE-A STANDARD BUILDING DESIGN

 TABLE 150.1-A COMPONENT PACKAGE-A STANDARD BUILDING DESIGN (CONTINUED)

					Climate Zone															
			-		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16
Building Envelope Insulation			Above Grade	Framed ⁴	U 0.051	U 0.065	U 0.065	U 0.051	U 0.051	U 0.051										
				Mass Wall Interior 5	U 0.070 R 13	U 0.070 R 13	U 0.059 R 17													
		Walls		Mass Wall Exterior	U 0.125 R 8.0	U 0.1025 R 8.0	U 0.125 R 8.0	U 0.070 R 13												
			Grade	Below Grade Interior	U 0.070 R 13	U 0.070 R 13	U 0.066 R 15													
			Below	Below Grade Exterior	U 0.200 R 5.0	U 0.100 R 10	U 0.100 R 10	U 0.053 R 19												
			Slab F	Perimeter	NR	NR	U 0.58 R 7 0													
	Fl	oors	Raised		U 0.037 R 19	U 0.037 R 19	U 0.037 R 19													
			Concrete Raised		U 0.092 R 8.0	U 0.092 R 8.0	U 0.269 R 0	U 0.269 R 0	U0.269 R 0	U 0.269 R 0	U 0.269 R 0	U 0.269 R 0	U 0.269 R 0	U 0.269 R 0	U 0.092 R 8.0	U 0.138 R 4.0	U 0.092 R 8.0	U 0.092 R 8.0	U 0.138 R 4.0	U 0.092 R 8.0
Building Envelope	ts	L OW-	Aged Solar Reflectance		NR	0.63	NR	0.63	NR											
	roduc	sloped	Thermal Emittance		NR	0.75	NR	0.75	NR											
	Roofing P	Steep Sloped	Aged Solar Reflectance Thermal Emittance		NR	0.20	0.20	0.20	0.20	0.20	0.20	NR								
					NR	0. 75	0.75	0.75	0.75	0.75	0.75	NR								
Building Envelope		Maximum U-factor		0.32	0.32	0.32	0.32	0.32	0.32	0.32	0.32	0.32	0.32	0.32	0.32	0.32	0.32	0.32	0.32	
	tion	Maximum SHGC		NR	0.25	NR	0.25	NR	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25	
	estral	Maximum Total Area		tal Area	20%	20%	20%	20%	20%	20%	20%	20%	20%	20%	20%	20%	20%	20%	20%	20%
	Fen	Maximum West Facing Area		NR	5%	NR	5%	NR	5%	5%	5%	5%	5%	5%	5%	5%	5%	5%	5%	

				Climate Zone															
				1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16
		Electric-Resistance Allowed		No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No
	Space	If gas, AFUE		MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN
	Η	If Heat Pump, HSPF ⁹		MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN
		SEER		MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN
	Space cooling	Refrigerant Charge Verification or Fault Indicator Display		NR	REQ	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	REQ	NR							
V		Whole House Fan ¹⁰		NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	REQ	NR	NR						
HVAC SYSTEN	Central System Air Handlers	Central Fan Integrated Ventilation System Fan Efficacy		REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ
	Ducts ¹²	Ceiling s A & B	Duct Insulation	R-8	R-8	R-6	R-8	R-6	R-6	R-6	R-8								
		Roof/C Options	§150.1(c)9A	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
		gu	Duct Insulation	R-6	R-6	R-6	R-6	R-6	R-6	R-6	R-6	R-6	R-6	R-6	R-6	R-6	R-6	R-6	R-6
		Roof/Ceili	§150.1(c)9B	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ
W ater Heating All Buildings				System Shall meet Section 150.1(c)8															

 TABLE 150.1-A COMPONENT PACKAGE-A STANDARD BUILDING DESIGN (CONTINUED)
Footnote requirements to TABLE 150.1-A:¹⁰

- 1. Install the specified R-value with no air space present between the roofing and the roof deck.
- 2. Install the specified R-value with an air space present between the roofing and the roof deck. Such as standard installation of concrete or clay tile.
- 3. R-values shown for below roof deck insulation are for wood-frame construction with insulation installed between the framing members.
- 4. Assembly U-factors can be met with cavity insulation alone or with continuous insulation alone, or with both cavity and continuous insulation that results in an assembly U-factor equal to or less than the U-factor shown. Use Reference Joint Appendices JA4 Table 4.3.1, 4.3.1(a), or Table 4.3.4 to determine alternative insulation products to meet the required maximum U-factor.
- 5. Mass wall has a thermal heat capacity greater than or equal to 7.0 Btu/h-ft². "Interior" denotes insulation installed on the inside surface of the wall.
- 6. Mass wall has a thermal heat capacity greater than or equal to 7.0 Btu/h-ft². "Exterior" denotes insulation installed on the exterior surface of the wall.
- 7. Below grade "interior" denotes insulation installed on the inside surface of the wall.
- 8. Below grade "exterior" denotes insulation installed on the outside surface of the wall.
- 9. HSPF means "heating seasonal performance factor."
- 10. When whole house fans are required (REQ), only those whole house fans that are listed in the Appliance Efficiency Directory may be installed. Compliance requires installation of one or more WHFs whose total airflow CFM is capable of meeting or exceeding a minimum 1.5 cfm/square foot of conditioned floor area as specified by Section 150.1(c)12.
- 11. A supplemental heating unit may be installed in a space served directly or indirectly by a primary heating system, provided that the unit thermal capacity does not exceed 2 kilowatts or 7,000 Btu/hr and is controlled by a timelimiting device not exceeding 30 minutes.
- 12. For duct and air handler location: REQ denotes location in conditioned space. When the table indicates ducts and air handlers are in conditioned space, a HERS verification is required as specified by Reference Residential Appendix RA3.1.4.3.8.

¹⁰ Single family buildings are modeled with Option B and multifamily buildings are modeled with Option C.

				Tabl	e 16:	Single	Family	Tier P	ackage	S			
Climate Zone	QII	ACH50	Window U-value / SHGC	Door U-value	НРА	Furnace	AC SEER/EER	AH Fan W/cfm	DHW EF	HW Pipe Insul.	Solar Ready	PV Credit Size (kW)	T-24 Comp. Margin
Tier 1, En	velop	e Cas	es										
CZ1	Y		.30/.50	0.20						Y	Y		16.1%
CZ2	Y	3	.30/.23	0.20				0.30		Y	Y		15.8%
CZ3	Y		.30/.50	0.20						Y	Y		15.5%
CZ4	Y		.30/.23					0.30					12.0%
CZ5	Y		.30/.50							Y			15.2%
CZ6	Y												8.7%
CZ7	Y												7.0%
CZ8	Y												8.9%
CZ9	Y		.30/.23					0.30					17.2%
CZ10	Y		.30/.23					0.30					17.2%
CZ11	Y		.30/.23					0.30			Y		16.9%
CZ12	Y		.30/.23					0.30			Y		16.4%
CZ13	Y		.30/.23					0.30			Y		17.4%
CZ14	Y		.30/.23					0.30			Y		16.4%
CZ15	Y							0.30			Y		15.2%
CZ16	Y	3	.30/.23	0.20				0.30			Y		15.8%
Tier 1, Eq	uipmo	ent Ca	ases										
CZ1	Y					0.92					Y		19.3%
CZ2	Y					0.92					Y		16.8%
CZ3	Y								0.94		Y		15.3%
CZ4	Y					0.92		0.30					17.0%
CZ5	Y								0.94				16.9%
CZ6	Y								0.94	Y			15.5%
CZ7	Y								0.94				15.6%
CZ8	Y							0.30	0.94				17.4%
CZ9	Y						15/12.5	0.30					16.9%
CZ10	Y						15/12.5	0.30					16.6%
CZ11	Y						15/12.5	0.30			Y		17.3%
CZ12	Y						15/12.5	0.30			Y		16.0%
CZ13	Y						15/12.5	0.30			Y		17.9%
CZ14	Y						15/12.5	0.30			Y		17.1%
CZ15	Y							0.30			Y		15.2%
CZ16	Y					0.92					Y		17.6%

Appendix B.1 – Single Family Package Summaries

Climata		0	lue /	lue		ace	/EER	u "u	I EF	oipe	. >	redit (kW)	T-24
Zone	Ð	ACH	Winc U-va SHG(Door U-va	НРА	AFUE	AC SEER	AH F W/cf	МНО	HW I Insul	Solaı Read	PV C Size (Margin
Tier 2, Ca	ses w	ith P\	V Credit				/				•/ =		
CZ1	Y	3	.30/.50	0.20	Y					Y		2.1	32.2%
CZ2	Y		.30/.50	0.20	Y					Y		2.1	31.4%
CZ3	Y		.30/.50	0.20								2.0	21.8%
CZ4	Y		.30/.23									2.1	30.4%
CZ5	Y		.30/.50									2.0	22.0%
CZ6						N/A – 1	No PV Cre	edit					
CZ7						N/A – 1	No PV Cre	edit					
CZ8	Y											2.1	36.4%
CZ9	Y											2.0	35.0%
CZ10	Y											2.1	32.2%
CZ11	Y		.30/.23	0.20								2.2	31.2%
CZ12	Y											2.1	32.4%
CZ13	Y		.30/.23									2.2	31.3%
CZ14	Y							0.30				2.2	30.9%
CZ15	Y							0.30				2.2	32.2%
CZ16	Y	3	.30/.23	0.20				0.30				2.1	31.5%

			Table	17: M	lultifamil	y Tier	1 Pack	ages			
Climate Zone	QII	Window U- value / SHGC	Door U-value	Furnace AFUE	AC SEER/EER	AH Fan W/cfm	Refrigerant Charge	DHW EF	HW Comp. Dist.	PV Credit Size (kW)	T-24 Comp. Margin
Tier 1, En	velop	oe Cases									
CZ1	Y	0.30/0.50	0.20			0.3			Y		16.5%
CZ2	Y										4.8%
CZ3	Y	0.30/0.50	0.20						Y		10.9%
CZ4	Y	0.30/0.23				0.3	Y				10.9%
CZ5	Y	0.30/0.50	0.20			0.3	Y		Y		10.2%
CZ6	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20			0.3			Y		11.7%
CZ7	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20			0.3	Y		Y		10.2%
CZ8	Y	0.30/0.23				0.3					10.5%
CZ9	Y	0.30/0.23				0.3					12.3%
CZ10	Y	0.30/0.23				0.3					10.1%
CZ11	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20			0.3					17.7%
CZ12	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20			0.3					17.1%
CZ13	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20			0.3					18.1%
CZ14	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20			0.3					17.8%
CZ15	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20			0.3					17.7%
CZ16	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20			0.3			Y		16.3%
Tier 1, Eq	uipm	ent Cases									
CZ1	Y	0.30/0.50						94	Y		16.7%
CZ2	Y			92				96			15.0%
CZ3	Y							94			12.4%
CZ4	Y			92				96	Y		16.3%
CZ5	Y							94			11.8%
CZ6	Y							94	Y		12.1%
CZ7	Y							96	Y		12.5%
CZ8	Y	0.30/0.23			16/13	0.3	Y				15.2%
CZ9	Y				16/13	0.3					15.7%
CZ10	Y				16/13	0.3					15.5%
CZ11	Y	0.30/0.23			15/12.5	0.3					16.5%
CZ12	Y	0.30/0.23			15/12.5	0.3					15.0%
CZ13	Y				15/12.5	0.3					15.4%
CZ14	Y				16/13	0.3					16.5%
CZ15	Y				16/13	0.3					20.4%
CZ16	Y	0.30/0.23		92		0.3					15.7%

Climate Zone		Mindow U- value / SHGC	Door U-value	Furnace AFUE	AC SEER/EER	AH Fan W/cfm	Refrigerant Charge	DHW EF	HW Comp. Dist.	PV Credit Size (kW)	T-24 Comp. Margin
CZ1	Y	0.30/0.50	0.20			0.3			Y	1.0	21.0%
CZ2	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20			0.3			Y	1.0	20.4%
CZ3	Y	0.30/0.50	0.20			0.3			Y	1.0	15.3%
CZ4	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20			0.3			Y	1.0	26.9%
CZ5	Υ	0.30/0.50	0.20			0.3			Y	1.0	12.4%
CZ6				Ν	I/A – No F	V Credit					
CZ7				Ν	I/A – No F	V Credit					
CZ8	Υ	0.30/0.23	0.20			0.3			Y	1.0	21.0%
CZ9	Υ	0.30/0.23	0.20			0.3				1.0	26.8%
CZ10	Υ	0.30/0.23	0.20			0.3				1.0	26.2%
CZ11	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20			0.3				1.0	26.5%
CZ12	Υ	0.30/0.23	0.20			0.3				1.0	26.5%
CZ13	Υ	0.30/0.23	0.20			0.3				1.0	27.3%
CZ14	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20			0.3				1.0	26.0%
CZ15	Υ	0.30/0.23	0.20			0.3				1.0	25.4%
CZ16	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20							1.0	25.7%

Appendix C - Utility Rate Tariffs

/

Following are the PG&E electricity, both standard and time-of-use, and natural gas tariffs applied in this study. The PG&E monthly gas rate in \$/therm was applied on a monthly basis for the 12-month period ending March 2016.

Pacific G San Fran U 39	as and Electric Company cisco, California	Cancelling	Revised Revised	Cal. P.U.C. Sheet Cal. P.U.C. Sheet	No. 36706-E No. 36470-E			
	ELEC	TRIC SCHEDUL DENTIAL SERV	E E-1 ICES		Sheet 1			
APPLICABILITY:	This so bulk is applicable to single-family dwellings and in phase and polyphase service Condition 8); and to all single- by the person whose residence	single-phase and po flats and apartments in common areas in phase and polyphas e is supplied through	lyphase resid separately m a multifamily e farm servic h the same m	dential service in netered by PG&E to s complex (see Special e on the premises ope eter.	single- erated			
	The provisions of Schedule S—Standby Service Special Conditions 1 through 6 shall also apply to customers whose premises are regularly supplied in part (but <u>not</u> in whole) by electric energy from a nonutility source of supply. These customers will pay monthly reservation charges as specified under Section 1 of Schedule S, in addition to all applicable Schedule E-1 charges. See Special Conditions 11 and 12 of this rate schedule for exemptions to standby charges.							
TERRITORY:	This rate schedule applies even	erywhere PG&E prov	ides electric	service.				
RATES:	Total bundled service charges this schedule are subject to th delivery portion of the bill (i.e. addition, total bundled charge kWh usage.	are calculated using e delivery minimum to all rate componen s will include applica	g the total rate bill amount sh its other than ble generatio	es below. Customers nown below applied to the generation rate). n charges per kWh fo	on the In rall			
	Customers receiving a medice percent of baseline at a rate \$ excess of 200 percent of base Medical Baseline allowance si customers, the Conservation 1 total rate less the sum of. Trai Services, Distribution, Genera Competition Transition Charge Cost Recovery Amount. Custor receive a 50 percent discount	al baseline allowance 0.04000 per kWh les line. No portion of the all be used to pay the normal service and the normal service and the normal service and the normal service and the so (CTC), New Syste or the delivery mining a me on the delivery mining and on the delivery mining and the service and the normal service and the service and the normal service and the s	a shall pay for s than the ap he rates paid he DWR Bon- t is calculated sion Rate Adj Programs, N em Generatio adical baselin mum bill amo	all usage in excess of pplicable rate for usage by customers that red d charge. For these I residually based on t justments, Reliability luclear Decommission n Charges, ¹ and Ener e allowance shall also unt shown below.	if 200 e in xeive a he iing, gy			
	Direct Access (DA) and Comm in accordance with the parage	nunity Choice Aggre aph in this rate sche	gation (CCA) dule titled Bill	charges shall be calc ing.	ulated			
		TOTAL RAT	ES					
	Total Energy Rates (\$ per kW Baseline Usage 101% - 130% of Baseline 131% - 200% of Baseline 201% - 300% of Baseline Over 300% of Baseline	h)		\$0.18212 \$0.24090 (I) \$0.24090 (R) \$0.39999 (I) \$0.39999 (I))			
	Delivery Minimum Bill Amount	(\$ per meter per da	y)	\$0.32854				
	California Climate Credit (per payment occurring in the April	household, per semi and October bill cyc	-annual les)	(\$28.14)				
	Per Decision 11-12-031, New	— v System Generation	n Charges are	e effective 1/1/2012.	(Continued)			
Advice Letter No:	4810-F-A	locuad by		Date Filed	May 31, 2016			
Decision No.	15-07-001 and E-4782	Steven Malnight		Effective	June 1, 2016			
1C8	S	enior Vice President Regulatory Affairs		Resolution No.				

Pacific G San Fran U 39	ias and Electric Company cisco, California	Cancelling	Revised Revised	Cal. P.U.C. She Cal. P.U.C. She	eet No. 36713-6 eet No. 36500-6					
	ELECTR RESIDENTIA	RIC SCHEDUL AL TIME-OF-U	E E-TOU	E	Sheet 2					
RATES (Cont'd.):										
	OPTION A TOTAL RATES									
Total Energy	Rates (\$ per kWh)	PEAK		OFF-PEAK						
Summer Total Usag Baseline (Usage Or	ge Credit (Applied to Baseline nly)	\$0.40327 (\$0.11709)	(I) (R)	\$0.32769 (\$0.11709)	(I) (R)					
Winter Total Usag Baseline	ge Credit (Applied to Baseline	\$0.28530	(I)	\$0.27100	(1)					
Delivery Minir per day)	ייי) num Bill Amount (\$ per meter	\$0.32854	(K)	(30.11709)	(K)					
California Clir per semi-ann April and Oct	nate Credit (per household, ual payment occurring in the ober bill cycles)	(\$28.14)								
Total bundled se rates shown bel the sum of (1) th times the numbe minimum bill am Reliability Servic Charges, Energ on kWh usage ti revenue assigne	ervice charges shown on cust ow. Where the delivery minim re delivery minimum bill amou ar of kWh used. For revenue a rount will be assigned to the T ces, Public Purpose Programs y Cost Recovery Amount, DW imes the corresponding unbur ed to Distribution.*	omer's bills are num bill amount nt plus (2) for b accounting purp ransmission, Tr , Nuclear Deco R Bond, and Na Idled rate comp	unbundled acc applies, the cu undled service osses, the reve ansmission Ra mmissioning, (aw System Ge onent per kWh	cording to the co ustomer's bill will , the generation nues from the d ate Adjustments, Competition Tran neration Charge n, with any reside	mpo nt rate elivery sition s ¹ based ual					
¹ Per Decision 1 * This same ass customers.	1-12-031, New System Gene ignment of revenues applies t	ration Charges o direct access	are effective 1. and communi	/1/2012. ty choice aggreg	ation					
Advice Letter No: Decision No.	4810-E-A 15-07-001 and E-4782 Se	Issued by Steven Malnight nior Vice Preside	nt	Date Filed Effective Resolution No.	May 31, 2016 June 1, 2016					
2C9	- 1	Regulatory Affairs								

Pacific San Fi U 39	c Gas and Electric Company rancisco, California	Cancelling	Revised Revised	Cal. P.U.C. Cal. P.U.C.	Sheet No. Sheet No.	32682-G 32620-G
	GA: RESI	S SCHEDULE G DENTIAL SERV	i-1 ICE		Sh	eet 1
APPLICABILITY	f: This rate schedule* applies to r Transmission and/or Distributio metered single family premises and to separately-metered com GS, or GT are not applicable. (have an option of switching to a those accounts that provide ga	natural gas service to in Systems. To quali for residential use, ii mon areas in a multi Common area accou a core commercial rai s service to common	Core End- fy, service ncluding th family com nts that are te schedule use areas	Use Customers o must be to individ ose in a multifami plex where Sched separately meter a. Common area a as defined in Rule	n PG&E's ually- ly complex, lules GM, red by PG&E accounts are a 1.	
TERRITORY:	Schedule G-1 applies everywhere	ere within PG&E's na	tural gas S	Service Territory.		
RATES:	Customers on this schedule pa meter, as shown below. The T Transportation Charge, as follo	y a Procurement Cha ransportation Charge ws:	arge and a will be no	Transportation Ch less than the Mini	harge, per imum	
	Minimum Transportation Charo	e:**		Per Dav \$0.09863		
	ያጥ			Per Therm		
	Procurement:	\$0	Baseline 20960	(R) \$0.2	Excess 0960 (R)	
	Transportation Charge:	\$0	81592	\$1.3	0547	
	Total:	\$1	.02552	(R) \$1.5	1507 (R)	-
	Public Purpose Program Surch	aroe:				
	Customers served under this served under this served under Schedule G-F	chedule are subject t PPS.	o a gas Pu	blic Purpose Prog	ram (PPP)	
	See Preliminary Statement, Pa	rt B for the Default Ta	ariff Rate C	components.		
	The Procurement Charge on th Schedule G-CP—Gas Procure	is schedule is equiva ment Service to Core	lent to the End-Use	rate shown on info Customers.	ormational	
BASELINE QUANTITIES:	The delivered quantities of gas	shown below are bill	ed at the n	ates for baseline u	ISe.	
	BASELINE QU	ANTITIES (Therms P	er Day Pe	r Dwelling Unit)		
	Territories***	Effective Apr. 1, 2	016 E	ffective Nov. 1, 20)15	
	P	0.46		2.15		
	R	0.69		1.98		
	S	0.46		1.92		
	Ţ	0.69		1.79		
	Ŵ	0.69		1.79		
	X	0.59		1.98		
	Ŷ	0.85		2.55		
PG&E's gas to The Minimum Schedules GS The applicable		etered tenants of master Statement, Part A.	metered cus	tomers served under	gas rate	
					(0	Continued)
Advice Letter No	3715-G	Issued by		Date Filed		May 24, 2016
Decision No.	97-10-065 & 98-07-025	Steven Malnight		Effective		June 1, 2016
1C6	Se	nior Vice President Regulatory Affairs		Resolution N	lo.	

Following are the SCE electricity tariffs, both standard and time-of-use, and SoCalGas natural gas tariffs applied in this study.

EDISON					
Southern California Edison Rosernead, California (U 338-E)	Cancelling	Revised Revised	Cal. PUC Cal. PUC	Sheet No. Sheet No.	59026-E 58237-E
	Schedule D			Sheet 2	
DO	MESTIC SERVIC	DE			
DATES	(Continued)				
<u>ATES</u>					
	Delivery Service	Gene	ration		
Energy Charge- \$/kWh/Meter/Day	Total	UG***	DWREC ³	1	
Baseline Service	0.05799.(1)	0.05919 (1)	(0.00022)		
Wint	ter 0.06799 (I)	0.06919(1)	(0.00022)		
Nonbaseline Service*	and a second of the	a.aaara (1)	(u.uruaa)		
101% - 200% of Baseline - Summ	ner 0.15997 (I)	0.06919 (I)	(0.00022)		
Wint	ter 0.15997 (I)	0.06919 (I)	(0.00022)		
Over 200% of Baseline - Summ	ter 0.22308 (R)	0.06919 (I)	(0.00022)		
Win	ter 0.22306 (R)	0.06919 (I)	(0.00022)		
Desis Charge States Dev	ዲ. እ				
Sinda Eamly Accommodate	0.031	1			
Multi-Family Accommodate	on 0.024				
Minimum Charge** - \$/Meter/Day		1			
Single-Family Accommodate	on 0.329				
Multi-Family Accommodate	on 0.329				
Minimum Charge (Medical Baselin	ne)** - \$/Meter/Day				
Single-Family Accommodate	on 0.164	1			
Multi-Family Accommodate	on 0.164				
California Climate Credit ⁴	(38.00)				
Peak Time Rebate - \$kWh		(0.75)			
Peak Time Rebate w/enabling technology - \$/kWh		(1.25)			
Nonbaseline Service includes all kWh in excess of applic Baseline Service.	able Baseline allocati	ions as describ	ed in Prelimina	ary Statement	Part H,
The Minimum Charge is applicable when the Delivery Se	rvice Energy Charge,	plus the applic	cable Basic Ch	arge is less th	nan the
Minimum Charge. ** The ongoing Competition Transition Charge (CTC) of \$(0 I Total = Total Delivery Service rates are applicable to B Service (CCA Service) Customers, except DA and CCA Schedule but instead pay the DWRBC as provided by SC Generation = The Generation rates are applicable on the	0.00015) per kWh is re sundled Service, Dire Service Customers a thedule DA-CRS or S Bundled Service Cus	ecovered in the ct Access (DA are not subject chedule CCA-(stomers	UG component and Community to the DWRBC CRS.	nt of Generat nity Choice A Crate compo	on. ggregation hent of this
 DWREC = Department of Water Resources (DWR) Energy Calculation Special Condition of this Schedule. Applied on an equal basis, per household, semi-annually 	gy Credit - For more i	information on t	Schedule for n	gy Credit, see	the Billing
	(Continued)				
To be inserted by utility)	(Continued)		(To be inser	rted by Cal	PUC)
To be inserted by utility) Advice 3401-E	(Continued) Issued by R. O. Nichols		(To be inser	rted by Cal	. PUC) 016
To be inserted by utility) Advice 3401-E Decision 16-03-030 Ser	(Continued) Issued by R. O. Nichols	nt	(To be inser Date Filed Effective	ted by Cal May 2, 2	. PUC) 016

EDISON				
Southern California Edison		Revised	Cal. PUC Sheet No. 5905	9-E
Rosemead, California (U 338-E)	Cancelling	Revised	Cal. PUC Sheet No. 5824	9-E
	Schedule TOU-D-	T	Sheet 2	
<u>TIME</u>	OF-USE TIERED DO	DMESTIC		
	(Continued)			
RATES	(,			
(*7	Delivery Service	Gener	ation ²	
	Total ¹	UG***	DWREC ³	
Energy Charge - \$/kWh/Meter/D	Day			
Summer Season - C	On-Peak		10 00000	
Level I (up to 130% of Ba	seline) 0.10523 (I)	0.21660 (R)	(0.00022)	
Level II (More than 130% of Ba	seline) 0.10302 (R)	0.21000 (R)	(0.00022)	
Summer Season - C	m-Peak	0.05311 (0	(0.00022)	
Level II /More than 130% of Ba	seline) 0.18352 (P)	0.05311(0)	(0.00022)	
Level II (wore than 130 % of Ba	seline) 0.10302 (R)	0.00311(1)	(0.00022)	
Winter Season - On	-Peak			
Level I (up to 130% of Ba	seline) 0.10523 (I)	0.09660 (R)	(0.00022)	
Level II (More than 130% of Ba	seline) 0.18352 (R)	0.09660 (R)	(0.00022)	
Winter Season - Off	-Peak			
Level I (up to 130% of Ba	seline) 0.10523 (I)	0.04749 (I)	(0.00022)	
Level II (More than 130% of Ba	seline) 0.18352 (R)	0.04749 (I)	(0.00022)	
Basic Charge - S/Meter/Day				
Single-Family Accommo	odation 0.031			
Multi-Family Accommo	odation 0.024			
Minimum Charge* - \$/Meter/Day	Y			
Single-Family Accommo	dation 0.329			
Multi-Family Accommo	odation 0.329			
Minimum Charge (Medical Base	eline)** - \$/Meter/Day			
Single-Family Accommo	odation 0.164			
Multi-Family Accommo	odation 0.164			
California Climate Credit ⁴	(38.00)			
California Alternate Rates for				
Energy Discount - %	100.00*			
Buck Block Block & Block				
Peak Time Rebate - akvvn Peak Time Rebate		(0.75)		
w/enabling technology - \$/kWh		(1.25)		
* The Minimum Charge is applicable when the Deliv	very Service Energy Char	ge, plus the a	oplicable Basic Charge is less than	the
** Represents 100% of the discount percentage as sh	own in the applicable Spe	cial Condition o	f this Schedule.	
*** The ongoing Competition Transition Charge (CTC)	of \$(0.00015) per kWh is r	ecovered in the	UG component of Generation.	
1 Total = Total Delivery Service rates are applicable	e to Bundled Service, Dir	ect Access (D/	A) and Community Choice Aggregat	tion
Schedule but instead pay the DWRBC as provided	by Schedule DA, CRS or S	are not subject	TID the DWRBC rate component or	1115
2 Generation = The Gen rates are applicable only to I	Bundled Service Customer	5.		
3 DWREC = Department of Water Resources (DWR)	Energy Credit - For more	Information on	the DWR Energy Credit, see the Bil	ling
Calculation Special Condition of this Schedule.	number Gas the Country Co	and tions of the	Schadula for more information	
 Applieu on an equal pasis, per nousenoid, semi-an 	many. See the special C	unditions of the	schedule for more information.	
	(Continued)			
	,/			
(To be inserted by utility)	Issued by		(To be inserted by Cal. PUC)	1
Advice 3401-E	R. O. Nichols		Date Filed May 2, 2016	
Decision 16-03-030	Senior Vice Preside	nt	Effective Jun 1, 2016	

2019

Effective Resolution

SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GAS	COMPANY	Revised	CAL. P.U.C. SHEET NO.	52782-G
LOS ANGELES, CALIFORNIA	CANCELING	Revised	CAL. P.U.C. SHEET NO.	52751-G

RE (Includes	Schedule No. GR <u>SIDENTIAL SERVICE</u> s GR, GR-C and GT-R R	lates)	Sheet 1				
APPLICABILITY	ፈጥ						
The GR rate is applicable to natural gas p	rocurement service to in	dividually meter	ed residential customers.				
The GR-C, cross-over rate, is a core proc transportation customers with annual con-	urement option for indivisumption over 50,000 th	idually metered r erms, as set forth	residential core a in Special Condition 10.				
The GT-R rate is applicable to Core Aggregation Transportation (CAT) service to individually metered residential customers, as set forth in Special Condition 11.							
The California Alternate Rates for Energy (CARE) discount of 20%, reflected as a separate line item on the bill, is applicable to income-qualified households that meet the requirements for the CARE program as set forth in Schedule No. G-CARE.							
TERRITORY							
Applicable throughout the service territor	у.						
<u>RATES</u> <u>Customer Charge</u> , per meter per day:	<u>GR</u> 16.438¢	<u>GR-C</u> 16.438¢	<u>GT-R</u> 16.438¢				
For "Space Heating Only" customers, a d Customer Charge applies during the wint from November 1 through April 30 ^{1/} :	aily er period 33.149¢	33.149¢	33.149¢				
Baseline Rate, per therm (baseline usage	defined in Special Condi	tions 3 and 4):					
Procurement Charge: 2/	34.536¢	34.536¢	N/A				
Transmission Charge: 24		56.280¢	55.758¢				
Total Baseline Charge:	90.816¢	90.816¢	55.758¢				
Non-Baseline Rate, per therm (usage in e	xcess of baseline usage):						
Procurement Charge: 2/	34.536¢	34.536¢	N/A				
Transmission Charge: 3/		82.280¢	81.758¢				
Total Non-Baseline Charge:	116.816¢	116.816¢	81.758¢				
^{1/} For the summer period beginning May accumulated to at least 20 Ccf (100 cu	1 through October 31, v bic feet) before billing.	with some except	ions, usage will be				
(Footnotes continue next page.)							
	(Continued)						
(TO BE INSERTED BY UTILITY)	ISSUED BY	(TO B	E INSERTED BY CAL. PUC)				
ADVICE LETTER NO. 4989	Dan Skopec	DATE FILED	Jul 7, 2016				
DECISION NO.	Vice President	EFFECTIVE	Jul 10, 2016				
105	Regulatory Affairs	RESOLUTIO	N NO. G-3351				

Following are the SDG&E electricity, both standard and time-of-use, and natural gas tariffs applied in this study.

SDGE							
San Diago Gaz - Electric Corr	-	-	Revised	Cal. P.U.C. Shee	et No.	27650-E	_
San Diego Gas & Electric Con San Diego, California	Car	nceling	Revised	Cal. P.U.C. Shee	et No.	26948-E	_
		SC	HEDULE	DR		Sheet 1	7
		RESIDE	ENTIAL SE	RVICE			
		(Include	s Rates for	DR-LI)			
APPLICABILITY							
Applicable to domestic ser in single family dwellings, fi residential purposes by combination of redential Special Condition 7.	vice for lighting lats, and apartn tenants in mu and nonresiden	, heating nents, se Iti-family ntial servi	, cooking, parately m dwellings ice on the	water heating, a etered by the ut under Special same meter; an	and pow ility; to s I Condit id to inc	er, or combination thereof, ervice used in common for tion 8; to any approved idental farm service under	
This schedule is also appl Program and/or Medical B and may include Non-prof such facilities qualify to re CARE and Medical Baseli respectively.	icable to custor aseline, residin fit Group Living ceive service u ine customers a	mers qua g in sing Facilitie Inder the are ident	alifying for le-family a s and Qua terms an tified in the	the California A ccommodations, alified Agricultur d conditions of a rates tables b	Iternate , separa al Empl Schedul elow as	Rates for Energy (CARE) tely metered by the Utility, oyee Housing Facilities, if e E-CARE. The rates for DR-LI and DR-MB rates,	
Customers on this schedul GHG-ARR.	e may also qua	lify for a	semi-annu	al California Clir	mate Cre	edit \$(17.44) per Schedule	
FORITORY							
TERRITORY							
Within the entire territory se	erved by the Util	lity.					
RATES							
Total Rates:							
Description - DR Rates	UDC Total	DWR-BC	EECC R	ate + Total Ra	te	1	
	Rate	Rate	DWR C	redit			
aummer:							
Baseline Energy (\$/KWh) Above 130% of Baseline	0.05460 I 0.25645 R	0.00539	0.129	00 0.1090	4 I 9 R		
			0.120				
Winter:							
Baseline Energy (\$/kWh)	0.10256 I	0.00539	0.066	04 0.1739	9 I		
Above 130% of Baseline	0.28737 R	0.00539	0.066	04 0.35660	D R		
Minimum Bill (\$/day)	0.329			0.329			
(+,)	0.020			0.040] 7	
Description -DR-LI Rates	Rate	Rate	DWR C	redit Total Ra	te		
Summer – CARE Rates:						1	
Baseline Energy (\$/kWh)	0.05225 I	0.00000	0.129	0.18190	I		
Above 130% of Baseline	0.25390 R	0.00000	0.129	0.38355	R		
Winter - CARE Rates:							
Baseline Energy (\$/kWh)	0.10001 I	0.00000	0.066	0.16605	5 I		
Above 130% of Baseline	0.28482 R	0.00000	0.066	0.35080	s R		
Minimum Bili (\$/day)	0.164			0.164			
						•	
			(Continue	d)			
1C10			Issued b	У	Date	Filed Jun 29, 201	6
Advice Ltr. No. 2861-E-A	A		Dan Sko	pec	Effec	tive Jul 1, 201	6
Decision No. 15-07-001	1		Vice Presic Regulatory 4	ient Mairs	Rest	Jution No. E.479	37
10-07-001			-galatory P	and all the	1000	E-10	18

SDG	£										
500	5			Revised	Cal. P.U	J.C. 8	Sheet I	No		26962-E	_
San Diego Gas & Ele San Diego, Ca	etric Comp alifornia	any	Canceling	Revised	Cal. P.L	LC S	Sheet	No		26908-E	
			COUL							Sheet 1	5
SUREDULE DK-SES											
SOMESTIC TIME-OF-USE FOR HOUSEHOLDS WITH A SOLAR ENERGY STOTEM											
APPLICABILITY Service under this with Solar Energy Energy System w combination thereo (CARE) customers of this schedule.	schedule Systems /ith dom /f, in sing are eligi	e is availab . Service estic servi le family d ble for serv	e on a vol is limited t ce for lig wellings ar rice on this	untary ba to individu hting, he nd flats. (s schedule	sis for indi ually mete ating, coo Qualifying a, as furthe	ividu red oking Cali er de	ally n reside g, wa fornia escrib	netered re ential cust ter heatin Alternativ ed under	sidential cus omers with ng, and po re Rates for Special Con	stomers a Solar wer, or Energy idition 8	
Customers on this Schedule GHG-AR	schedul R.	le may als	o qualify f	for a sen	ni-annual	Calif	iomia	Climate (Credit \$(17.	44) per	I
		ર્સ	ን								
TERRITORY Within the entire ter	rritory se	rved by the	Utility.								
RATES	,,	,	,-								
Total Rates:											
Description - DR-SE	8 Rates	UDC Total	DWR-E	BC EE	CC Rate +		Total R	tate			
Energy Charges (\$/kW	h)	Rate	Rate		TR Great	╈					
On-Peak – Summer		0.12835	I 0.0053	39 I (.33023	R	0.463	97 R			
Off-Peak - Summer		0.12030	I 0.0053	se I (0.09530	R	0.229	04 K			
Semi-Peak – Winter		0.12030	I 0.00053	19 I (06159	R	0.207	33 R			
Off-Peak - Winter		0.12835	I 0.0053	39 I (06626	R	0.202	00 R			
Minimum Bill (\$/day)		0.329					0.32	9			
(1) Total Rates consist of	f UDC, Sche	dule DWR-BC	Department of	Water Resou	rces Bond Ch	arge),	and Sch	edule EECC	(Electric Energy	Commodity	
Cost) rates, with the E	ECC rates re	effecting a DWR	Credit of \$(0.)	00021) that	customers re	celve	on their r	nonthly bills.			I
(2) Total Rates presented	d are for cus	stomers that rec	eive commodit	y supply and	delivery servic	e fron	n Utility.	Differences	in total rates pair	d by Direct	1
Access (DA) and Com	munity Choi	ce Aggregation (CCA) customer	rs are identifie	d in Schedule I	DA-CF	IS and C	CA-CRS, resp	ectively.		
(3) DWR-BC charges do	not apply to	CARE of Medic	al Baseline cu:	stomers.							
UDC Rates											
Description-DR-SES	Transm	Distr	PPP	ND	стс		LGC	RS	TRAC	UDC	1
Energy Charges	<u> </u>									1 o tan	1
(\$/kWh)											1
On Death Common	0.00040			0.00080			00000			0.40805.1	1
On-Peak – Summer Semi-Peak – Summer	0.02943	1 0.06367	0.01241 1	0.00052	0.00160	1 0.	00039	1 0.00013	R 0.00000 I	0.12035	1
Off-Peak - Summer	0.02943	1 0.08367	0.01241	0.00052	I 0.00180	1 0.	00039	I 0.00013	R 0.00000 I	0.12835 I	1
Semi-Peak - Winter	0.02943	I 0.08367	0.01241	0.00052	0.00180	I 0.	00039	I 0.00013	R 0.00000 I	0.12835 I	1
Off-Peak - Winter	0.02943	I 0.08367	0.01241 I	0.00052	I 0.00180	Ι ο.	00039	I 0.00013	R 0.00000 I	0.12635	1
Minimum Bill (\$/day)		0.329								0.329	1 I
-											1
				(Contin	(bou						
1C9				Issued	l by			Date File	d	Dec 29, 20	15
Advice Ltr. No. 2	840-E			Dan Sk	opec			Effective		Jan 1, 20	16
	_			Vice Pre	sident						
								Den la di			

SDGF			
San Diego Gas & Electric Company	Revised Cal. P.U.C. Sh	eet No.	21921-G
San Diego, California Car	celing <u>Revised</u> Cal. P.U.C. Sh	eet No.	21908-G
	SCHEDULE GR		Sheet 1
RESIDE	NTIAL NATURAL GAS SERVIC	E	
(Includes	Rates for GR. GR-C. GTC/GTC/	<u>A.)</u>	
APPLICABILITY			
The GR rate is applicable to natural gas p	rocurement service for individual	ly metered residentia	al customers.
The GR-C, cross-over rate, is a con- transportation customers with annual con-	e procurement option for indiv sumption over 50,000 therms, as	vidually metered re set forth in Special (sidential core Condition 10.
The GTC/GTCA rate is applicable to in residential customers, as set forth in Spec	ntrastate gas transportation-only cial Condition 11.	/ services to individ	lually metered
Customers taking service under this sche (CARE) program discount, reflected as a the terms and conditions of Schedule G-0	dule may be eligible for a 20% C separate line item on the bill, if th CARE.	alifornia Alternate R ney qualify to receive	ate for Energy service under
TERRITORY			
Within the entire territory served natural g	as by the utility.		
RATES			
Baseline Rate, per therm (baseline usage	defined in Special Conditions 3 a	GR-C (and 4):	GTC/GTCA"
Procurement Charge:2/	\$0.34561	\$0.34561 I	N/A
Transmission Charge: Total Baseline Charge:	\$0.90805 \$1.25366	\$0.90805 \$1.25366 I	\$0.90805 \$0.90805
Non-Baseline Rate, per therm (usage in e Procurement Charge: 2 ²⁷ Transmission Charge: Total Non-Baseline Charge: 1 ³⁷ Total Non-Baseline Charge: 1 ³⁷ '1 The rates for core transportation-only custor NGV, include any FERC Settlement Procee ²⁷ This charge is applicable to Utility Procurer shown in Schedule GPC which are subject	excess of baseline usage): \$0.34561 <u>\$1.08354</u> \$1.42915 mers, with the exception of customs ads Memorandum Account (FSPMA) ment Customers and includes the GF to change monthly as set forth in Sp	\$0.34561 I <u>\$1.08354</u> \$1.42915 I ers taking service under credit adjustments. ² C and GPC-A Procure lecial Condition 7.	N/A <u>\$1.08354</u> \$1.08354 er Schedule GT- ernent Charges
	(Continued)		
105	Issued by	Date Filed	Jul 7, 2016
Advice Ltr. No. 2489-G	Vice President	Effective	Jul 10, 2016
Decision No.	Regulatory Affairs	Resolution No.	



2016 Title 24 Residential Reach Code Recommendations: Cost Effectiveness Analysis for All California Climate Zones

August 2017



This report was prepared by the California Statewide Codes and Standards Enhancement (CASE) Program that is funded, in part, by California utility customers under the auspices of the California Public Utilities Commission.

Copyright 2017 Pacific Gas and Electric Company, Southern California Edison, Southern California Gas Company, San Diego Gas & Electric Company, Los Angeles Department of Water and Power, and Sacramento Municipal Utility District.

All rights reserved, except that this document may be used, copied, and distributed without modification.

Neither Pacific Gas and Electric Company, Southern California Edison, Southern California Gas Company, San Diego Gas & Electric Company, Los Angeles Department of Water and Power, Sacramento Municipal Utility District, or any of its employees makes any warranty, express of implied; or assumes any legal liability or responsibility for the accuracy, completeness or usefulness of any data, information, method, product, policy or process disclosed in this document; or represents that its use will not infringe any privately-owned rights including, but not limited to, patents, trademarks or copyrights.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXEC	UTIVE	E SUMN	1ARY I					
1.	INTR	ODUCT	ION					
	1.1	Scope						
		1.1.1	Prototype					
		1.1.2	Cost Data					
		1.1.3	Cost Effectiveness					
	1.2	Limitati	ions					
2.	METI	HODOL	OGY 4					
	2.1	Prototy	/pes4					
	2.2	Measu	re Analysis5					
		2.2.1	Energy Savings					
		2.2.2	<i>Costs</i>					
	2.3	Cost Effectiveness Methodology						
3.	MEASURE DESCRIPTIONS AND COSTS							
	3.1	HERS V	erification Measures					
		3.1.1	Single Family					
		3.1.2	Low-rise Multifamily					
	3.2	Envelope Measures						
		3.2.1	Quality Insulation Installation (QII) (HERS)					
		3.2.2	Cool Roof					
		3.2.3	Improved Fenestration					
		3.2.4	Insulated Door					
		3.2.5	High Performance Walls (HPW)					
		3.2.6	High Performance Attics (HPA)					
		3.2.7	Reduced Infiltration ACH50 (HERS) 15					
	3.3	DHW N	leasures					
		3.3.1	Hot Water Piping Insulation of All Lines (HERS)					
		3.3.2	Compact Hot Water Distribution (HERS) 17					
		3.3.3	Drain Water Heat Recovery					
	3.4	HVAC N	Aeasures 19					
		3.4.1	AHU Reduced Fan Watt Draw (0.3 W/CFM)					
		3.4.2	Verified Refrigerant Charge					

		3.4.3	Verified Low-leakage Ducts Entirely in Conditioned Space	20
		3.4.4	Heat or Energy Recovery Ventilation	20
	3.5	Solar P	hotovoltaics	21
4.	RESU	JLTS		23
	4.1	Cost Ef	fectiveness	26
	4.2	Green	nouse Gas Savings	30
	4.3	Reach	Code Recommendations	31
	4.4	Compl	ance	32
5.	APPE	ENDIX A	– COST DATA	34
6.	APPE	ENDIX B	– UTILITY RATE SCHEDULES	38
	6.1	Electri	c Rate Schedule	38
	6.2	Natura	l Gas Rate Schedule	40

TABLE OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Summary of Cost Effectiveness Results	I
Figure 2: Parameters of Residential Prototypes	5
Figure 3. PV Compliance Credit by Climate Zone	6
Figure 4. Climate Zones Grouped by Geographic Region	7
Figure 5. Investor-Owned Utility (IOU) Rate Schedules	8
Figure 6. Single Family HERS Verification Costs Summary	. 10
Figure 7. Single Family Total HERS Measure Costs Summary	. 10
Figure 8. Low-rise Multifamily HERS Verification Costs Summary	.
Figure 9. Low-rise Multifamily Total HERS Measure Costs Summary	.
Figure 10. Residential QII Incremental Costs Summary	. 12
Figure 11. Low-Rise Residential Steep-Sloped Cool Roof Incremental Costs Summary	. 13
Figure 12. Improved Glazing Incremental Costs Summary	. 14
Figure 13. Improved Doors Incremental Costs Summary	. 14
Figure 14. High Performance Walls Incremental Costs Summary	. 15
Figure 15. High Performance Attics Measure Costs Summary	. 15
Figure 16. Infiltration Incremental Costs Summary	. 16
Figure 17. Residential Pipe Insulation Incremental Costs Summary	. 17
Figure 18. Compact Distribution Incremental Costs Summary	. 17
Figure 19. Drain Water Heat Recovery in Unequal Flow Configuration (Journal of Light Constru	uction,
September 2016)	. 18
Figure 20. Reduced Fan Watt Draw Incremental Costs Summary	. 19
Figure 21. Refrigerant Charge Verification Incremental Costs Summary	. 19
Figure 22. Low Leakage Ducts in Condition Space Incremental Costs Summary	. 20
Figure 23. Balanced HRV/ERV System Connected via Existing HVAC System	. 21
Figure 24. Heat/Energy Recovery Ventilator Incremental Cost Summary	. 21
Figure 25. Solar Photovoltaics Incremental Costs Summary	. 22
Figure 26: Efficiency Measure Summary for Single Family Prototype (2100 & 2700 ft ²)	. 24

Figure 27: Efficiency Measure Summary for Low-rise Multifamily Prototype	25
Figure 28. Cost Effectiveness Results for Single Family Prototype (Average of 2100 & 2700 ft ²)	. 28
Figure 29. Cost Effectiveness Results for Low-rise Multifamily Prototype	29
Figure 30. Estimated GHG Savings per Single Family Building	30
Figure 31. Estimated GHG Savings for Low-rise Multifamily building	31
Figure 32. New Construction Residential Reach Code Recommendations for 2016 Title 24	32
Figure 33. Single Family HERS Verification Base Cost	34
Figure 34. Single Family HERS Verification Detailed Costs	34
Figure 35. Multifamily HERS Verification Base Costs	34
Figure 36. Multifamily HERS Verification Detailed Costs	34
Figure 37. Residential Quality Insulation Installation Detailed Costs	35
Figure 38. Cool Roof Detailed Costs	35
Figure 39. Improved Fenestration Detailed Costs	35
Figure 40. Insulated Door Detailed Costs	35
Figure 41. High Performance Wall Detailed Costs	36
Figure 42. High Performance Attic Detailed Costs	36
Figure 43. Reduced Infiltration Detailed Costs	36
Figure 44. Compact Domestic Hot Water Distribution Detailed Costs	36
Figure 45. Drain Water Heat Recovery Detailed Costs	36
Figure 46. Reduced Fan Watt Draw Detailed Costs	37
Figure 47. Increased Duct Insulation Detailed Costs	37
Figure 48. Rate Schedules for Each Utility	38
Figure 49. PG&E Residential Electric Rates	38
Figure 50. SCE Residential Electric Rates	39
Figure 51. SDG&E Residential Electric Rates	39
Figure 52. PG&E Residential Natural Gas Rates	40
Figure 53. SCG Residential Natural Gas Rates	40
Figure 54. SDG&E Residential Natural Gas Rates	40

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Southern California Edison (SCE) engaged TRC Energy Services (TRC) to provide a cost effectiveness study to support low-rise residential new construction reach code requirements above 2016 Title 24 Building Energy Efficiency Standards (T24), in all 16 California climate zones (CZs). The T24 Standards are the minimum energy efficiency requirements for building construction in California, and a reach code would require energy performance beyond the minimum. TRC developed high-performance reach code measure packages for each climate zone that represent possible ways to exceed T24, and are not intended to represent a mandatory or prescriptive set of measures.

TRC simulated measures in CBECC-Res 2016 v3.0 to inform energy impacts, and their corresponding costs were attained through expert interviews and online research. TRC tested various measure packages for cost effectiveness to maximize the compliance margin achieved solely through energy efficiency. In alignment with the goals of 2019 Title 24, TRC then sized solar photovoltaic (PV) generation to offset the annual electricity kWh required by the building after maximizing efficiency, referred to as the Efficiency + PV package.

TRC determined cost effectiveness by comparing the incremental cost of each measure package to the net present value (NPV) of energy cost savings over the 30-year period. Energy cost savings were estimated both in time dependent valuation (TDV) as well as on-bill savings determined through utility rates. The PV compliance credit is added to the efficiency-only packages to present the maximum compliance margin TRC found to be cost effective. Based on cost effectiveness results, TRC recommends that jurisdictions adopt ordinances with requirements and 2016 Energy Design Rating targets achieved through both energy efficiency and solar PV, as per Figure 1.

		Single Family			Low-rise Multifamily	
cz	Compliance Margin Efficiency-Only	Compliance Margin Efficiency + PV	2016 Energy Design Rating Efficiency + PV	Compliance Margin Efficiency-Only	Compliance Margin Efficiency + PV	2016 Energy Design Rating Efficiency + PV
1	40%	45.0/	20	20%	25%	15
T	40%	45%	20	20%	25%	15
2	30%	35%	20	20%	25%	20
3	30%	35%	15	10%	15%	15
4	25%	45%	20	20%	30%	15
5	30%	40%	15	10%	10%	15
6	15%	15%	20	15%	15%	15
7	None	15%	15	None	10%	20
8	25%	55%	15	15%	25%	20
9	30%	55%	15	20%	30%	20
10	30%	55%	15	20%	30%	15
11	30%	50%	20	20%	30%	20
12	35%	55%	20	20%	30%	20
13	30%	50%	20	25%	30%	20
14	30%	50%	20	20%	30%	20
15	30%	45%	15	25%	30%	20
16	30%	45%	25	20%	30%	25

Figure 1. Summary of Cost Effectiveness Results

I. INTRODUCTION

Southern California Edison (SCE) engaged TRC Energy Services (TRC) to provide a cost effectiveness study to support low-rise residential new construction reach code requirements above 2016 Title 24 Building Energy Efficiency Standards (T24), in all 16 California climate zones (CZs). The T24 Standards are the minimum energy efficiency requirements for building construction in California, and a reach code would require energy performance beyond the minimum. The 2016 T24 Standards became effective on January 1, 2017.

The reach code energy efficiency targets for single family and low-rise multifamily are based on the CALGreen Tier 3 definition:

- Single Family: 30% in CZs 1-5 and 8-16; 15% in CZs 6 and 7
- Low-rise Multifamily: 30% in CZs 1, 2, 4, and 8-16; 15% in CZs 3 and 5-7

While TRC targeted these efficiency levels, the CALGreen Tier 3 requirement for an Energy Design Rating (EDR) = 0 was not targeted. Based on coordination with the CEC, TRC sized solar photovoltaic (PV) generation to offset the annual electricity kWh demanded by the buildings after maximizing efficiency, which results in an EDR > 0.

I.I Scope

TRC researched measures drawn from multiple sources in an effort to develop cost effective packages that achieve the compliance margin targets above. Compliance margin improvement is measured in terms of Time Dependent Valuation (TDV), described further in Section 2.2.1. Measures were simulated in CEC-approved 2016 T24 compliance software to inform energy impacts, and their corresponding costs were attained through expert interviews and online research. Final measure packages represent one possible way to achieve higher compliance margins and are **not intended to represent a mandatory or prescriptive set of measures**.

I.I.I Prototype

TRC used two single family prototypes and one low-rise multifamily prototype to estimate energy savings and cost effectiveness, further described in *Section 2.1*. These CEC developed prototypes are commonly used in Title 24 Code and Standards Enhancement (CASE) studies and local reach code analysis, and are meant to be representative of the types of buildings constructed in California.¹ Nonetheless, local jurisdictions can choose to analyze other prototypes during the reach code adoption process.

I.I.2 Cost Data

When available, TRC used existing cost data collected through 2019 Draft CASE Reports and other studies. TRC also conducted additional supplier, distributor, and contractor interviews in multiple locations throughout the state. TRC also researched online sources including RSMeans, Grainger, and Home Depot. Measure costs represent the incremental changes beyond the 2016 T24 Standards prescriptive requirements.

I.I.3 Cost Effectiveness

TRC determined cost effectiveness by comparing the incremental cost of each measure package to the NPV of energy cost savings over the 30-year period. Results include measure compliance margin, present value of energy savings, costs, and benefit to cost (B/C) ratio.

¹ Davis Energy Group (September 2016) CALGreen Cost Effectiveness Study. CA Statewide Codes and Standards Program.

TRC analyzed cost effectiveness for two scenarios:

- Energy Efficiency Only: The efficiency package energy savings benefits are measured in terms of TDV, in accordance with CEC Life Cycle Cost methodology typically used in CASE studies.
- Energy Efficiency + PV (EE + PV): The EE + PV package adds enough solar PV to the energy efficiency package to offset annual kWh load. Energy savings benefits are measured in terms of on-bill savings, in accordance with CEC cost effectiveness analysis for solar PV. TRC used life cycle customer cost methodology using residential retail rates for electricity and natural gas for each of the four major investor owned utilities Pacific Gas & Electric Company (PG&E), Southern California Edison (SCE), Southern California Gas Company (SCG), and San Diego Gas and Electric (SDG&E).

When the B/C ratio is greater than 1.0, the added cost of the measure is offset by the discounted energy cost savings and the measure is cost effective. See Section 2.3 for further detail.

I.2 Limitations

The study has the following scope limitations:

- Federal Preemption: The Department of Energy (DOE) regulates the minimum efficiencies required for all appliances, such as space conditioning and water heating equipment. State or city codes that mandate appliance efficiencies higher than the DOE's risk litigation by manufacturer industry organizations. Thus, TRC did not use increased equipment efficiencies as reach code measures, although these measures are often the simplest and most affordable measures to increase energy performance. While this study is limited by federal preemption, developers can use any package of measures to achieve reach code goals, including the use of high-efficiency appliances that are federally regulated.
- Modeling Capability: TRC used CEC-approved Title 24-2016 compliance software, CBECC-Res, to ensure that a free and readily available software program could be used by permit applicants to show compliance with the reach code. CEC-approved compliance software does not yet have the capability to model the energy performance of some measures typically associated with energy savings, such as drain water heat recovery, and reduced infiltration in low-rise multifamily. When necessary, TRC used spreadsheet analysis to estimate the energy performance of measures that could not be modeled in compliance software and added the impact to the compliance margin (including interactive effects).
- Plug and Lighting Loads: Plug and lighting loads (e.g., kitchen appliances and indoor lighting), have been explicitly excluded from the scope of this study. CEC-approved simulation software does not allow compliance credit for energy efficiency improvements in these end-uses.

2. METHODOLOGY

TRC developed 0% compliant residential prototypes for all 16 climate zones representing buildings that exactly meet the 2016 Title 24 code requirements to create the baseline model. TRC then used CBECC-Res to simulate energy efficiency measures and photovoltaics to evaluate the energy savings and corresponding compliance percentage over the baseline model.

TRC assessed the cost effectiveness of 2016 reach code packages by analyzing several energy efficiency measures applied to the prototype buildings. TRC used the on-bill cost savings to evaluate customer cost effectiveness. This methodology requires estimating and quantifying the value of the energy impact associated with measures as compared to the baseline prototypes using utility rate schedules over a life of 30 years. The methodology also includes quantifying the incremental costs for the construction, maintenance, and replacement of the proposed measure relative to the 2016 Title 24 prescriptive requirements. The methodology to attain incremental costs is described in *Section 2.2.2*.

2.1 Prototypes

TRC used CEC developed residential prototypes to run simulations for all California CZs:

- 2,100 ft² single family one-story home
- 2,700 ft² single family two-story home
- 6,960 ft² low-rise multifamily residential building with two stories and eight dwelling units

The CEC prototypes are fully defined in the Residential Alternative Calculation Method (ACM) reference manual.² The prototypes have equal geometry facing north, east, south, and west orientations, to ensure that results are applicable regardless of the orientation of a building.

TRC initialized the three prototypes to be exactly compliant with the prescriptive minimum 2016 T24 requirements (0% compliance margin) in each climate zone, summarized in Figure 2. The TDV of energy savings for energy efficiency measures were derived by applying measure packages to the minimally code compliant prototype as described in *Section 2.2*.

² 2016 Residential Alternative Calculation Method, California Energy Commission. Available at: <u>http://www.energy.ca.gov/2015publications/CEC-400-2015-024/CEC-400-2015-024-CMF.pdf</u>

Parameters		Single Family Bui	lding			
	2100 SF	2700 SF	6960 MF			
Floor Area (ft2)	2100	2700	6960			
# of floors	1	2	2			
Window-to-Floor Area Ratio	20%	20%	15%			
HVAC Distribution System	Ducts located ir	ventilated attic	Ducts located entirely in conditioned space			
Cooling System	Split AC: SEER 14 & EER 11.7					
Heating System		Gas furnace, 78% AFUE				
Conditioned Thermal Zones	1	1	8			
Domestic Water Heating	Natural Gas instantaneous water heater; EF 0.82					
Ceiling Insulation (Option B, Table 150.1-A)	R-30 in CZ3 and 5-7; R-38 in CZ1, 2, 4 and 8-16					
Roof Insulation (Option B, Table 150.1-A)	No Requirement in CZ1-3 and 5-7 R13 in CZ4 and 8-16					
Steep-sloped Roof Solar Reflectance	0.10 in CZs 1-9 and CZ16 0.20 in other CZs					
Wood-framed Wall Insulation (U-factor)	0.065 for CZ6 & CZ7; 0.051 for other CZs					
Fenestration U-factor	0.32					
Fenestration Solar Heat Gain Coefficient (SHGC)		0.50 for CZ1, CZ3 8 0.25 for other 0	& CZ5; CZs			
Door U-factor		0.50				

Figure 2: Parameters of Residential Prototypes

2.2 Measure Analysis

TRC investigated measures for single family and low-rise multifamily prototypes with the goal of establishing cost effective packages of measures above 2016 Title 24, Part 6. TRC used CBECC-Res 2016.3.0 (build 954) to simulate the residential prototypes. CBECC is a free public-domain software developed by the CEC for use in complying with Title 24 Standards. Software algorithms are updated continuously, and new versions of the software are released periodically.

2.2.1 Energy Savings

Compliance software outputs energy performance in terms of TDV, kWh, therms, and EDR totals for both the proposed building and the standard building meeting prescriptive Title 24 requirements. The EDR uses a scale of 1 - 100, where 100 is a prescriptive residential building meeting the prescriptive requirements of the 2006 International Energy Conservation Code.

The compliance margin of the proposed building is determined by comparing the proposed building TDV energy usage for regulated loads to the standard building TDV energy usage. This study targets that the proposed buildings use 15-30% less energy than the standard building's TDV energy usage before PV is added, consistent with CALGreen Tier 3 energy efficiency goals. Note that CBECC-Res allows a compliance credit when a minimum PV system size is installed (see Figure 3). TRC added these compliance credits after determining cost effective, efficiency-only packages.

Climate Zone	Maximum PV Credit for Single Family	Maximum PV Credit for Multifamily
1	8.6%	4.5%
2	9.1%	5.1%
3	7.4%	3.3%
4	20.3%	11.1%
5	8.1%	2.7%
6	0.0%	0.0%
7	0.0%	0.0%
8	27.5%	9.2%
9	26.1%	11.1%
10	23.5%	10.1%
11	18.4%	8.8%
12	22.6%	9.4%
13	20.4%	9.2%
14	16.7%	8.2%
15	17.0%	7.7%
16	15.7%	8.4%

Figure 3. PV Compliance Credit by Climate Zone

TDV assigns values to electricity and natural gas delivered for each hour in the year. TDV accounts for retail rates, greenhouse gas emissions, the demand profile from consumers, and several other factors to value electricity generation. Electricity TDV can vary widely on a given day. However, the TDV of gas has a generally

consistent value for several months, with the fall and winter values typically higher than spring and summer. The TDV energy budget and compliance margin is a standard output for building permit applicants completing a performance calculation.

Because TDV combines electric and gas energy impacts, different energy efficiency measures can have different kWh and therms impacts while having the same TDV impact. The measure packages in Section 4.1 represent one possible way to achieve a higher compliance margin – these packages are not intended to represent a mandatory set of reach code measures.

TRC investigated potential energy efficiency measures to apply to the low-rise residential prototype in each climate zone. TRC utilized previous reach code studies, IOU program data, and proposed 2019 Codes and Standards Enhancement (CASE) studies to investigate reach code measures that would have the greatest impact on reducing the largest energy consuming end uses. TRC conducted market research to assess measure feasibility, costs, and potential energy impact. Measures were run as packages to capture interactive effects.

TRC estimated PV energy savings by sizing PV to offset annual electricity demand after applying efficiency packages.

2.2.2 Costs

TRC initially gathered costs for four regions within California to best represent localized costs (Figure 4). TRC anticipated that the main cause of cost variation among the regions would be due to labor rates. However, based on RS Means research and local quotes, the labor rates and material costs vary minimally statewide. Therefore, except where data indicated significant cost fluctuation between regions, average statewide costs were used in the analysis.

Region	Climate Zone
North Coastal	1-5
South Coastal	6-10
Central	11-13
Inland	14-16

	Figure 4.	Climate	Zones	Grouped	by	Geographic	Region
--	-----------	---------	-------	---------	----	------------	--------

TRC reviewed previous studies for relevant cost data, such as CASE studies, when available. TRC conducted cost research by accessing online retailers and interviews with contractors and distributors serving each region. Costs include first costs, maintenance, and replacement if the end of useful life is prior to the end of the measure life for a product. For replacements, an annual two percent (2%) inflation rate was assumed. Taxes and contractor markups were added as appropriate. Detailed costs are provided in *Appendix A – Cost Data*.

Costs for solar PV were estimated in coordination with the CEC and their consultant, Energy and Environmental Economics (E3), as described in Section 3.4.4.

2.3 Cost Effectiveness Methodology

TRC determined cost effectiveness by comparing the incremental costs of a measure including solar PV to the cost savings benefits, in a combined B/C ratio metric. The B/C Ratio is the present value of incremental utility costs savings divided by the present value of total incremental costs. When the B/C ratio is greater than 1.0, the added cost of the measure is offset by the discounted energy cost savings, and the measure is cost effective.

TRC assessed the cost savings benefits of 2016 reach code packages using two methods:

- 1. On-Bill: Customer cost effectiveness using utility rate schedules to value on-bill energy impacts, and
- 2. **TDV:** The CEC Life Cycle Cost (LCC) methodology using 2016 TDV of energy

Both methodologies require estimating and quantifying the value of the energy impact associated with energy efficiency measures over the life of the measures (30 years) as compared to the prescriptive Title 24 requirements.

TDV values are based on long-term discounted costs over 30 years. The CEC developed the 2016 TDV values for all climate zones used in this study. The TDV values do not account for net-metered PV generation, thus 2016 TDV is only used to analyze efficiency measure packages (excluding PV). TDV energy estimates are presented in terms of "TDV kBtus," which combine electricity and natural gas energy units.³ The present value of the energy savings is calculated by multiplying the TDV savings of the building by a Net Present Value (NPV) factor of \$0.17/TDV kBtu for residential measures with a 30-year life.

The customer cost effectiveness methodology captures the energy cost savings from energy efficiency measures and solar PV resulting from lower energy bills. TRC determined the Net Present Value (NPV) of the on-bill savings over a 30-year lifetime, including a three percent (3%) discount rate and a two percent (2%) energy cost inflation rate. On-Bill savings were estimated by calculating monthly electricity (kWh) and natural gas (therms) savings resulting from energy efficiency measures using current residential utility (IOU) rate schedules as shown in Figure 5. As per net energy metering (NEM) 2.0 program rules, non-bypassable charges (NBCs) are accounted for every billing interval and cannot be offset by PV energy generation credits. As a simplifying assumption, TRC applied an average NBC rate to each billing interval and aggregated them annually. Please see Appendix B -*Utility Rate Schedules* for further schedule details.

CLIMATE ZONES	Utility	Commodity	Rate Schedule
1, 2, 3, 4, 5,	Desific Cos and Electric Company	Electric	E-TOU Option A
11, 12, 13, 16	Pacific Gas and Electric Company	Gas	G1
6, 8, 9, 14, 15	Southern California Edison	Electric	TOU-D-T
	Southern California Gas Company	Gas	GR
7.10		Electric Company Gas GR	
7, 10	San Diego Gas and Electric Company		

Figure 5. Investor-Owned Utility (IOU) Rate Schedules

³ kBtus = thousands of British Thermal Units.

3. MEASURE DESCRIPTIONS AND COSTS

This section provides a description, general modeling parameters, market overview, and summarized costs for energy efficiency measures. After initial investigation and analysis of several energy efficiency measures, TRC selected the measures listed below and the subsequent packages described in *Section 4.1* based on cost effectiveness and technical feasibility in the California low-rise residential new construction market. Single family costs presented here represent the average installation cost for the two prototypes: the 2,100 and 2,700 square foot.

- Home Energy Rating System (HERS) verification measures, as indicated for the applicable measures
- Envelope measures
 - Quality Insulation Installation (QII) (HERS)
 - Cool Roof
 - Improved Fenestration
 - Insulated Door
 - High-Performance Walls (HPW)
 - High-Performance Attics (HPA)
 - Reduced Infiltration (HERS)
- Domestic Hot Water (DHW) measures
 - Hot Water Piping Insulation of All Lines (HERS)
 - Compact Hot Water Distribution (HERS)
 - Drain Water Heat Recovery (DWHR)
- Heating, Ventilation, and Air Conditioning (HVAC) measures
 - Air Handling Unit (AHU) Reduced Fan Watt Draw (0.3 W/CFM) (HERS)
 - Verified Refrigerant Charge (HERS)
 - Verified Low-leakage Ducts entirely in Conditioned Space (HERS)
 - Heat or Energy Recovery Ventilation
- Solar Photovoltaics

3.1 HERS Verification Measures

Several of the residential measures require HERS verification in order to show compliance. HERS verification can range from a visual inspection and confirmation to a test requiring specialized equipment. HERS raters typically provide a total project verification price based on the location of a project, the number of site visits required, and the number of units and measures to be verified. It is not market practice to identify the cost for an individual HERS verification, as several factors affect the cost. TRC estimated HERS verification costs including the cost for site visits and tests by a certified HERS rater. 2016 Title 24 has mandatory HERS measures, effectively requiring that a HERS rater arrive on-site for almost every new construction project. The costs below reflect HERS verification costs when all of the indicated HERS measures are employed; therefore, a different combination of HERS measures may result in different individual measure costs.

3.1.1 Single Family

Typical single family HERS verification pricing includes a set fee for each site visit and additional fees for each HERS measure to be verified during that visit. To estimate costs for each single family HERS measure, TRC used the per-site and per-measure costs shown in Figure 6.

Component	Single Family
On-site visit (\$/visit) – mandatory measure	\$100
Additional Measure verification (\$/measure)	\$84
On-site visit (\$/visit) – individual measure trip	\$202
Registry documentation (\$/measure/visit)	\$25

Figure 6. Single Family HERS Verification Costs Summary

To estimate the cost for each HERS verification in the single family building, TRC developed a scenario to estimate the number of site visits necessary for all of the HERS measures and which measures could be verified in the same trip. Based on discussion with multiple HERS raters in California, TRC identified that builders typically minimize HERS fees by scheduling HERS raters to test and verify multiple measures and units during one visit. For single family, TRC assumed costs for HERS verifications include a cost for site visits to perform mandatory verifications, and additional verification costs for each non-mandatory measure. If a measure, such as QII, needs an additional trip where no other measure will be verified, a \$202 fee is applied per trip. An additional trip is included for each measure to account for an initial model field verification, as required by the HERS testing procedures.⁴ From discussions with HERS raters, common practice is to conduct a site visit to test one sample home in order for a builder to make any necessary adjustments before the rest of the homes are tested. Figure 7 provides a summary of the total costs per HERS Measure per single family home. The costs assume that one in five homes (two for QII) are tested, which reduces the cost per home.

Single Family HERS Measure	Cost/Home
Duct Leakage (Mandatory; sampling 1-in-5)	\$90
Verified Airflow/Fan Efficiency (Mandatory; sampling 1-in-5)	\$90
Whole Building Mechanical Ventilation (Mandatory; sampling 1-in-5)	\$90
Quality Insulation Installation (Sampling 1-in-2)	\$444
Compact Hot Water Distribution (Sampling 1-in-5)	\$83
Piping Insulation, All Hot Water Lines (Sampling 1-in-5)	\$83
Verified Refrigerant Charge (Sampling 1-in-5)	\$83
Total cost per single family home	\$964

Figure 7. Single Family Total HERS Measure Costs Summary

⁴ CEC. (2015). 2016 Reference Appendices for the 2016 Building Energy Efficiency Standards.

3.1.2 Low-rise Multifamily

For multifamily buildings, HERS Rating companies either price by the number of site visits required or by the number of dwelling units. HERS raters use built in assumptions about the number of dwelling units to be verified (1-in-5 or 1-in-7) when estimating the cost per visit or per unit.

The values in Figure 8 depict the two multifamily HERS pricing methods:

- Method 1 is to price per-site-visit required. Measures that require multiple visits and large projects that cannot be verified in one visit due to construction schedules will be more costly.
- Method 2 is to price per-unit. This method makes general assumptions on a standard number of visits per measure and averages costs amongst the number of units in a project.

The cost for multiple site visits is captured in Method 1 simply by requiring a flat fee for each visit. In Method 2, QII adds an additional \$50 to each unit cost due to multiple site visits required.

Component	Multifamily	
Method 1	ethod 1 On-site visit (\$/visit)	
	Registry documentation (\$/measure/visit)	\$25
Method 2	Per unit verification, no QII (\$/unit)	\$175
	Per unit cost of QII (\$/unit)	\$50
	Registry documentation (\$/unit)	\$25

Figure 8. Low-rise Multifamily HERS Verification Costs Summary

To estimate costs for each HERS verification in the low-rise multifamily building, TRC developed cost estimates using both methods. For Method 1, which has a fee per site visit, TRC developed three scenarios to estimate the costs for the low, middle, and highest case scenarios for the number of site visits required for each HERS measure. For Method 2, TRC priced the HERS verifications using the prototype building, including the cost for QII. To be conservative, TRC assumed that measures that require more than one site visit would be scheduled separately as additional visits. In practice, it is common and more economical for builders to schedule multiple verifications during a single visit. The final per measure costs in Figure 9 represent the average Method 1 and Method 2.

Figure 9. Low-rise Multifamily Total HERS Measure Costs Summary

Multifamily HERS Measure	Total Cost/Building
Duct Leakage (Mandatory)	\$198
Verified Airflow/ Fan Efficiency (Mandatory)	\$159
Whole Building Mechanical Ventilation (Mandatory)	\$159
Quality Insulation Installation	\$625
Compact Hot Water Distribution	\$255
Piping Insulation, All Hot Water Lines	\$255
Verified Refrigerant Charge	\$223
Verified Low Leakage Ducts in Conditioned Space	\$263
Total cost per multifamily building	\$2,138

3.2 Envelope Measures

3.2.1 Quality Insulation Installation (QII) (HERS)

In 2016 Title 24, QII is a compliance credit for the performance path.⁵ QII ensures that insulation is installed properly in floors, walls, and roofs/ceilings to maximize the thermal benefit of insulation. Depending on the type of insulation used, QII can be simple to implement for only the additional cost of HERS verification. Batt insulation may require an increase in installation time because the insulation needs to be cut to fit around penetrations and special joists. Although this should be standard practice, feedback from the field is that installers do not typically take the time to do it properly.

Measure costs shown in Figure 10 are drawn from the findings of the 2016 Residential High-Performance Walls and QII CASE Report.^{6,7} Additionally, TRC spoke with over 14 HERS raters to gather more recent cost estimates. TRC assumed an increase in labor time to account for a learning curve for insulation installers.

Component/Material	Base Case	Proposed Update	Additional Labor (hour)	Average Installation Labor ¹	HERS Verification	Total Cost
Single Family	Standard	Improved	2.1	\$103	\$427	\$530
Low-rise Multifamily	Standard	Improved	9.7	\$466	\$764	\$1,230

Figure 10. Residential QII Incremental Costs Summary

¹ Installation labor varies by climate region. Values in Figure represents average labor cost.

3.2.2 Cool Roof

Cool roof requirements in Title 24 are specific to roof slope and building type. Title 24 defines low-sloped roofs as having a roof pitch of <2:12. Low-sloped roofs are generally found on high-rise multifamily and commercial construction, and can be built with a variety of roofing products. Steep-sloped roofs are more typical of low-rise residential construction in California, and are built with asphalt shingles or concrete or clay tile. For this analysis, only steep-sloped roofs were included based on the prototypes.

To develop cost estimates, TRC conducted interviews with roofers and roof supply distributors throughout California. In addition to interviews, TRC reviewed product material costs from online retailers. Multiple roofers and product distributors stated that there is little or no additional labor to install cool roof products for either low- or steep-sloped roofs.

TRC gathered costs for asphalt shingles and concrete and clay tile that meet the current and proposed aged solar reflectance (ASR) values for steep-sloped roofs. Several interviewees mentioned that the cool roof properties of tile do not impact costs, and that costs are associated with color and other performance characteristics. Therefore, there is no incremental cost for tile meeting the proposed ASR value.

Although the residential prototypes specify tile roofing, TRC included cost estimates for asphalt shingles to represent the mix of roofing products employed in the market; therefore, the costs are greater than zero because asphalt shingles can carry a cost premium for cool roof products. Cool roof ASR values up to 0.29 can be met with white shingles, which have no incremental cost over current market standard shingles. Shingles in a

⁵ QII is also included in a prescriptive package to trade instantaneous water heaters for storage water heaters

⁶ California Utilities Statewide Codes and Standards Team. (September 2014) Residential High Performance Walls and QII Codes and Standards Enhancement Initiative. Available at: <u>http://www.energy.ca.gov/title24/2016standards/prerulemaking/documents/2014-07-21_workshop/final_case_reports/2016_T24_CASE_Report-High_Perf_Walls-Sep2014.pdf</u>

⁷ California Utilities Statewide Codes and Standards Team. (April 2017) Quality Insulation Installation Codes and Standards Enhancement Initiative.

variety of non-white colors that meet the cool roof values can have an increased cost over their non-cool roof equivalents (i.e. consistent in other qualities such as durability), depending on the product. The incremental cost of non-white asphalt shingles meeting an ASR = 0.20 is minimal to zero, as compared to shingles meeting an ASR = 0.10. The most likely reason for this is that ASR = 0.20 is the prescriptive requirement in the majority of California climate zones, and product availability and costs have adjusted since this requirement was adopted under 2013 Title 24. However, achieving an ASR of 0.32 is significantly more expensive for asphalt shingles because white shingles cannot achieve this performance, and product selection meeting this value is currently limited. The incremental cost of each proposed ASR value is an average of asphalt shingles, both white and non-white, and tile roofing.

Figure 11 provides the incremental cost to go from the base case (ASR=0.10 or ASR=0.20) to a cool roof requirement (ASR = 0.28 or ASR = 0.32) for steep-sloped roofs. TRC only applied the cool roof measure to the prototypes in climate zones where they achieve energy savings; therefore, not all climate zones are included, some are proposed to 0.28, and others are proposed to 0.32.

Building Type	Base Case	Proposed Update	Average Incremental Costs/Building ¹
Single Family	ASR=0.10 or 0.20, TE=0.75	ASR=0.20, TE=0.85	\$0
	ASR=0.10 or 0.20, TE=0.75	ASR=0.28, TE=0.85	\$215
	ASR=0.10 or 0.20, TE=0.75	ASR=0.32, TE=0.85	\$1,308
Low-rise Multifamily	ASR=0.10 or 0.20, TE=0.75	ASR=0.20, TE=0.85	\$0
	ASR=0.10 or 0.20, TE=0.75	ASR=0.28, TE=0.85	\$421
	ASR=0.10 or 0.20, TE=0.75	ASR=0.32, TE=0.85	\$2,564

Figure 11. Low-Rise Residential Steep-Sloped Cool Roof Incremental Costs Summary

¹ Costs vary by climate region. Values in Figure represents average cost. The analysis found no cost difference between ASR 0.10 and 0.20; therefore, costs are the same for both base case scenarios.

3.2.3 Improved Fenestration

The National Fenestration Rating Council rates glazing performance by U-factor and Solar Heat Gain Coefficient (SHGC). U-factor rating describes the overall ability of the window (including framing) to resist heat transfer. SHGC describes how solar radiation is admitted through a window from sunlight exposure. The lower the value for each rating, the more resistive a window is to heat transfer.

This measure reduces the U-factor from the prescriptive value of 0.32 to 0.30 and, in climate zones with SHGC requirements, reduces the SHGC from the prescriptive value of 0.25 to 0.23. In climate zones without an SHGC requirement, the default SHGC is assumed to be 0.50. The cost of \$0.20/ft² of window is based on the 2019 High Performance Windows and Doors CASE report (see Figure 12).⁸

⁸ California Utilities Statewide Codes and Standards Team. (April 2017) Residential High Performance Windows and Doors Codes and Standards Enhancement Initiative.

	Climato			Incremental Costs/Building		
Component	Zones	Base Case	Proposed Update	Single Family	Low-Rise Multifamily	
N.C. 1	2, 4, 6-16	U-0.32/SHGC-0.25	U-0.30/SHGC-0.23	\$94	\$204	
Window	1, 3 & 5	U-0.32/SHGC-0.50	U-0.30/SHGC-0.50	\$94 ¹	\$204 ¹	

Figure 12. Improved Glazing Incremental Costs Summary

¹ TRC did not find product prices for 0.50 SHGC windows, and conservatively used the cost for an SHGC = 0.23, assuming these would be more expensive.

3.2.4 Insulated Door

This measure reduces the U-factor of the door from 0.50 to 0.20 in all climate zones except CZ6.⁹ This proposed update is the same for both single family and low-rise multifamily building types. The 2019 High Performance Windows and Doors CASE Study suggests an incremental cost of \$1.30 per unit resulting from material cost of \$1.00/ft² of door with a 30% markup for overhead and profit (Figure 13). ¹⁰

Figure 13. Improved Doors Incremental Costs Summary

Component	Basa Casa	Bronocod Undato	Incremental Costs/Building		
	Dase Case	Proposeu Opuale	Single Family	Low-rise Multifamily	
Door	U-0.50	U-0.20	\$26	\$208	

3.2.5 High Performance Walls (HPW)

High performance walls (HPW) increase the performance of the exterior above-grade walls, reducing the amount of heat transfer and reducing HVAC loads. This measure requires a lower wall U-factor, which can be achieved through various assemblies; this analysis uses improved insulation within 2x6 studs. This measure reduces the required U-factor in each climate zone beyond the 2016 T24 prescriptive requirements, except in climate zones CZ6 and CZ7 where a reduced U-factor was not found to cost effective at this time. U-0.051 is proposed in CZ6 for the LRMF prototype. Climate zones with prescriptive U-factor wall requirements of 0.051 are upgraded to 0.043, consistent with the 2019 High Performance Walls CASE Report value.¹¹

Costs for this upgrade were derived from the 2019 CASE Report, which assumes U-0.051 is achieved using R-21 cavity insulation and R-4 exterior insulation, and U-0.043 is achieved using R-21 cavity insulation and an R-7.5 exterior insulation. The 2016 Title 24 CASE Report used R-19 and R-5 exterior insulation to estimate costs, but the 2019 Title 24 draft CASE Report suggests that installing R-21 and R-4 exterior insulation is a more common practice. The incremental cost includes upgrading to R-7.5 insulation, increasing weep screed and window flashing depth, and installing the continuous exterior insulation by hand rather than the traditional nail gun. These additional components are required when exterior insulation exceeds 1". Costs to upgrade from 0.065 to 0.051 in CZ6 are derived from the 2016 Title 24 CASE Report and the 2019 Title 24 CASE Report (Figure 14).

⁹ This was done to keep consistent with TRC's previously developed study for Santa Monica's reach code.

¹⁰ California Utilities Statewide Codes and Standards Team. (April 2017) Residential High Performance Windows and Doors Codes and Standards Enhancement Initiative.

¹¹ California Utilities Statewide Codes and Standards Team. (March 2017) Residential High Performance Walls Codes and Standards Enhancement Initiative.
Climate Zono Base Case Proposed Lind	Droposod Lindoto	Incrementa	l Costs/Building	
Climate zone	Dase Case	Proposed Opuale	Single Family	Low-rise Multifamily
1-5 & 9-16	U-0.051	U-0.043	\$913	\$2,299
6	U-0.065	U-0.051	-	\$1,615

Figure 14. High Performance Walls Incremental Costs Summary

3.2.6 High Performance Attics (HPA)

The high performance attics (HPA) measure assumes insulation is installed at the ceiling and at the roof deck, either above or below the deck. In most climate zones, the prescriptive standard assembly for 2016 Title 24 is an HPA consisting of R-38 insulation at the ceiling and R-13 insulation below the roof deck. TRC evaluated combinations of ceiling and roof deck insulation to achieve a HPA based on current 2016 Title 24 prescriptive requirements for each climate zone. This measure requires adding below roof deck insulation of R19. There are several other options for above or below deck insulation that meet the prescriptive requirement, as noted in the 2016 Title 24 High Performance Attics CASE Report.¹²

Measure costs include installing R-13 below deck insulation in CZ 1 and upgrading from R-13 to R-19 below deck insulation in CZs 8-16. TRC used cost data from the 2016 CASE Report, the 2019 Draft CASE Report, and online retailers.¹³ Deck insulation costs are based on batt insulation with cabling to hold the insulation in place, as referenced in the 2019 Draft CASE Report. Figure 15 provides total incremental costs for each of the proposed measures.

Climata Zana	Pasa Casa	Droposod Lindato	Incrementa	l Costs/Building
Climate 20ne	Dase Case	Proposeu Opuale	Single Family	Low-rise Multifamily
1	R-38	R-38 + R-13	\$1,387	\$2,784
8-16 ¹	R-38 + R-13	R-38 + R-19	\$460	\$1,462

Figure 15. High Performance Attics Measure Costs Summary

¹ R-19 is proposed only for single family in climate zone 8.

3.2.7 Reduced Infiltration ACH50 (HERS)

As described in Section 3.4.3, verified low leakage ducts in conditioned space requires that a HERS rater test envelope leakage (i.e. a blower door test) on low-rise multifamily dwelling units, and that the total duct leakage to the outside does not exceed 25 cfm.¹⁴ QII, described in Section 3.2.1, reduces building infiltration through proper sealing and helps a project meet the 25 cfm requirement for duct leakage to the outside. Thus, for the analysis, TRC assumed QII and verified low leakage ducts in conditioned space can be implemented in order to achieve building infiltration reduction in low-rise multifamily buildings.

¹² California Utilities Statewide Codes and Standards Team. (July 2014) Residential High Performance Walls Codes and Standards Enhancement Initiative. Available at: <u>http://www.energy.ca.gov/title24/2016standards/prerulemaking/documents/2014-07-21_workshop/case_reports/2016_Title_24_Draft_CASE_Report-Residential_Ducts_in_Conditioned_Space-High_Performance_Attics.pdf</u>

¹³ California Utilities Statewide Codes and Standards Team. (April 2017) Residential High Performance Attics Codes and Standards Enhancement Initiative.

¹⁴ Additionally, although not covered under Title 24, LEED for Homes requires that low-rise residential projects verify leakage to the outside. TRC interviewed HERS raters who have worked on LEED projects and have experience with this procedure.

Based on discussions with HERS raters and HVAC contractors, TRC assumes that the low-rise multifamily building would reduce infiltration down to five air changes per hour at 50 Pascals (5 ACH50), 30% lower than the 7 ACH50 software default, as a result of implementing QII and HERS verified low leakage ducts in conditioned space.¹⁵ CBECC-Res simulation software does not allow this measure to be implemented in low-rise multifamily buildings (because there is no CEC-defined verification test method), hence the associated savings are evaluated by extrapolating the savings from single family simulations.

For single family homes, TRC assumes that only QII is applied to help reduce infiltration rates (verified lowleakage ducts in conditioned space does not apply to single family homes because the ducts are assumed to be in a vented attic). The baseline infiltration of single family homes is 5 ACH50, which is proposed to be reduced to 3 ACH50. As per the PG&E CALGreen Cost Effectiveness Study, the incremental cost for reducing infiltration by 2 ACH50 (i.e., from 5 ACH50 to 3 ACH50) is \$0.115 per square foot of conditioned floor area for single family homes.¹⁶

For low-rise multifamily buildings, TRC also estimates an additional cost of \$0.115/ft² based on data available from the National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL) residential cost database.¹⁷ See Figure 16 for full costs per building. Verification costs associated with QII and verified low leakage ducts are added separately.

Pasa Casa	Dropocod Lindoto	Increment	al Costs/Building
Dase Case	ase Case Proposed Update	Single Family	Low-rise Multifamily
5 ACH50	3 ACH50	\$276	-
7 ACH50	5 ACH50	-	\$800

Figure 16. Infiltration Incremental Costs Summary

3.3 DHW Measures

3.3.1 Hot Water Piping Insulation of All Lines (HERS)

Part 6 of the 2016 Title 24 Standards include mandatory pipe insulation requirements that cover all hot water pipes ¾" and larger, as well as the hot water lines running to the kitchen use point. To receive compliance credit for pipe insulation, all pipes between the water heater and fixtures that are not covered under the mandatory requirement must be insulated and verified by a HERS rater. This measure is applied to all climate zones in single family and multifamily building types.

Beginning on January 1, 2017 the 2016 California Plumbing Code requires pipe insulation levels that are similar to that required if taking the non-HERS pipe insulation credit. Thus, the non-HERS credit is obsolete under the 2016 energy code and all pipes must be insulated. However, the HERS-Verified Pipe Insulation Credit will remain. While CBECC-Res algorithms have not yet been updated to reflect this change, for this analysis we assumed that the revised HERS verified credit would be equivalent to the current credit for pipe insulation without HERS

¹⁵ HERS raters and building professionals indicated that these two measures combined could likely achieve 3 ACH50. Thus, 5 ACH50 is a conservative assumption.

¹⁶ Davis Energy Group (September 2016) CALGreen Cost Effectiveness Study. CA Statewide Codes and Standards Program.

¹⁷ National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL) National Residential Efficiency Measure Database v3.0.0.

verification. TRC ran simulations that demonstrated the HERS credit is roughly twice that for pipe insulation without verification, in terms of TDV energy.¹⁸

Due to the 2016 California Plumbing Code requiring that all DHW pipes be insulated, the measure cost only consists of the additional HERS verification required to receive performance credit under Title 24. The HERS verification cost in Figure 17 is derived using the HERS verification methods described above.

Component/ Material	Proposed	Single	Low-rise		
	Update	Family	Multifamily		
HERS Verification	None	Verified	\$175	\$131	

Figure 17. Residential Pipe Insulation Incremental Costs Summary

3.3.2 Compact Hot Water Distribution (HERS)

Compact DHW distribution is a design strategy that reduces the length of pipe runs from the water heater to appliances and fixtures. Designing a project to meet compact DHW distribution requires forethought in floor plan and fixture placement, and/or moving a water heater to a location closer to fixtures (e.g. the attic, an exterior or interior closet). Generally, compact distribution limits the hot water pipe length between the water heater and the fixtures, thus reducing distribution heat losses, as well as water waste and time waiting for hot water to arrive to the fixture. The maximum allowed pipe lengths to qualify under the 2016 as a compact distribution compliance option are outlined in Residential Reference Appendices RA3.6.5.

Feedback from HERS raters indicates that code vaguely defines compact distribution and that it is not yet widely adopted in single family new construction. Compact distribution in single family homes can be done in a variety of ways, but this study assumes that the water heater must be moved to an interior wall of the garage, in accordance with the 2019 Draft Compact Hot Water Distribution CASE Study.¹⁹ The low-rise multifamily prototype, which has individual water heaters and dwelling units that are typically smaller than a single family home, does not require significant changes to water heater location, floorplan, or piping design to achieve compact distribution.

TRC derived material and labor impacts from the 2019 CASE Study, and related costs from RS Means and online retailers.

Base Case	Proposed Update	Single Family	Low-rise Multifamily
Standard design	None	\$498	\$0
No Verification	HERS Verified	\$175	\$131
Tota	l Costs	\$673	\$131

Figure 18. Compact Distribution Incremental Costs Summary

¹⁸ Analysis performed in accordance with: Davis Energy Group (September 2016) CALGreen Cost Effectiveness Study. CA Statewide Codes and Standards Program.

¹⁹ California Utilities Statewide Codes and Standards Team. (April 2017) Residential Compact Hot Water Distribution Codes and Standards Enhancement Initiative.

3.3.3 Drain Water Heat Recovery

Drain water heat recovery (DWHR) is a technology used to reduce the amount of energy needed by a water heater or fixture to heat incoming water to the required temperature. The technology utilizes a heat exchanger in the shower drain line to pre-heat cold water supplied to the cold water side of a water heater or fixtures. There are multiple configurations possible, and Figure 19 shows DWHR in an equal flow configuration where all makeup flow is directed to the water heater. In an equal flow configuration, makeup flow is piped to both the water heater and the shower.

To avoid overlapping interactive effects with other DHW measures, TRC assumed an unequal flow configuration where preheated water is directed only to the water heater. This configuration reduces the energy necessary to heat cold water entering the water heater, and should not overlap with the pipe insulation and compact DHW measures, which reduce pipe distribution losses.

Figure 19. Drain Water Heat Recovery in Unequal Flow Configuration (Journal of Light Construction, September 2016)



DWHR is currently most commonly installed in a vertical configuration, so only the two-story single-family prototype will have the vertical space necessary to locate the system below showers. CBECC-Res cannot currently model the benefits of Drain Water Heat Recovery, so TRC used energy performance data and cost data from the 2019 Title 24 Draft CASE Study to estimate the maximum potential energy savings in the two-story

2,700 ft² single family prototype assuming an unequal flow to the water heater configuration.²⁰ Energy savings were translated from 2019 TDV to 2016 TDV, resulting in savings between 15-17% of the total DHW TDV energy (1%-10% of the total building TDV energy) depending on the climate zone.

The additional cost to implement DWHR, as estimated by the 2019 CASE study, is \$731 for a two-story single family building, assuming a single device can be connected to all second floor showers. This measure was not applied to the low-rise multifamily prototype because each dwelling unit has an individual water heater without adequate vertical piping to apply the DWHR device; DWHR are more cost effective in multifamily buildings with a central water heater.

3.4 HVAC Measures

3.4.1 AHU Reduced Fan Watt Draw (0.3 W/CFM)

This measure upgrades the fan in the furnace or air handler from one using a permanent split capacitor (PSC) motor to one with an electronically commutated motor (ECM) that meets an efficacy of 0.3 watts/cfm or lower operating at full speed. New federal regulations that go into effect July 3, 2019 are expected to result in equivalent performance for all newly manufactured furnaces provided that the ducts are sized properly. Costs are based on the PG&E CALGreen Cost Effectiveness Study (Figure 20).²¹ Fan watt draw is a mandatory HERS measure; therefore the cost does not include HERS verification fees.

Figure 20. Reduced Fan Watt Draw Incremental Costs Summary

Component/Material	Base Case	Proposed Update	Single Family	Low-rise Multifamily			
ECM Motor	0.58 watts/cfm	0.30 watts/cfm	\$143	\$832			

3.4.2 Verified Refrigerant Charge

This measure requires that a HERS rater verify the amount of refrigerant in an air-cooled conditioner or airsource heat pump system is at an appropriate level. Having too much (overcharge) or too little (undercharge) can reduce the efficiency of a system and result in early failure. The correct refrigerant charge can improve the performance of a system and reduce energy wasted from an inefficient system. The costs, as shown in Figure 21, assume HERS sampling of HVAC units for multifamily buildings.²²

Figure 21. Refrigerant Charge Verification Incremental Costs Summary

Component	Base Case	Proposed Update	Single Family	Low-rise Multifamily
HERS Verification	None	Verified	\$175	\$131

²⁰ California Utilities Statewide Codes and Standards Team. (April 2017) Residential Drain Water Heat Recovery Codes and Standards Enhancement Initiative.

²¹ Davis Energy Group (September 2016) CALGreen Cost Effectiveness Study. CA Statewide Codes and Standards Program.

²² Sampling is typically done by performing testing on one out of every five or seven dwelling units, as determined by the HERS rater and project team.

3.4.3 Verified Low-leakage Ducts Entirely in Conditioned Space

This measure verifies that ducts and air handling equipment are located in conditioned space and meet the CEC's definition that leakage to the outside cannot exceed 25 cubic feet per minute (cfm). This low leakage requirement is achieved through three verifications:

- Duct leakage test
- Envelope leakage test (i.e., blower door test)
- Verify low leakage air handling unit

This measure is only implemented in the low-rise multifamily prototype. Prescriptive requirements are for ducts located in conditioned space; therefore, the only additional cost is for the HERS verification to confirm that the system meets the specified leakage values.

CEC has established a testing protocol for verification of low leakage ducts entirely in conditioned space in the Title 24 Reference Appendices, along with all other HERS verification tests. To test the building leakage in multifamily buildings, some HERS raters use a blower door test method by compartmentalizing individual dwelling units. Based on discussions with HERS raters, the estimated HERS verification cost for this measure would be equal to that of duct leakage testing. To be conservative, TRC assumes additional trips and time required beyond the duct leakage testing to estimate the cost for this measure. Thus, there is a \$527 cost for low leakage ducts in conditioned space for low-rise multifamily buildings, about double that of only duct leakage testing (Figure 22).

Figure 22. Low Leakage Ducts in Condition Space Incremental Costs Summary

Component	Base Case	Proposed Update	Single Family	Low-rise Multifamily
HERS Verification	None	Verified	n/a	\$527

3.4.4 Heat or Energy Recovery Ventilation

This measure includes installing heat or energy recovery ventilation (HRV/ERV) in single family homes to improve their energy efficiency and indoor air quality. It introduces a 'balanced' mechanical ventilation system, which exhausts air from bathrooms and supplies outdoor air in equal quantities using the existing ductwork (see Figure 23). TRC used the Home Ventilating Institute (HVI) database to identify HRV systems with airflow rates that comply with ASHRAE 62.2 ventilation standards.²³ The average Sensible Recovery Efficiency (SRE) of the selected products is 67%.

²³ <u>https://www.hvi.org/proddirectory/CPD_Reports/section_3/index.cfm</u>



Figure 23. Balanced HRV/ERV System Connected via Existing HVAC System

Source: <u>http://www.finehomebuilding.com/2014/11/05/ducting-hrvs-and-ervs</u>

Costs for this measure include the ventilator, installation of the ventilator, ducting, and wiring, and MERV6 filter replacements once per year. Costs in Figure 24 were derived from online retailers and RSMeans.

Cost Component	Cost per Single Family Home
HRV/ERV fan	\$700
Installation, including ducting	\$415
Filter replacements	\$186
Total Cost	\$1,301

Figure 24. Heat/Energy Recovery Ventilator Incremental Cost Summary

3.5 Solar Photovoltaics

To meet the CEC's current proposed goal for 2019 Title 24 at the time of this analysis, the PV system must be sized to offset the building's annual electricity consumption (after accounting for energy efficiency measures).²⁴ TRC estimated solar PV costs in coordination with the CEC and their consultant, Energy and Environmental Economics (E3). E3's PV cost estimates in 2017 dollars include two inverter replacements over a 30 year lifetime, costing \$0.45/W. PV systems installed in California are eligible for both the NSHP rebate and the federal solar Investment Tax Credit (ITC), which rebates 30% of the initial cost of the system. TRC determined the median NSHP incentive of \$0.17/W by reviewing recent program data for systems smaller than 10 kW. Total costs in Figure 25 reflect the upfront costs to the building owner when purchasing a PV system. TRC did not investigate other financing mechanisms such as loans and leases.

²⁴ Based on coordination with the CEC, TRC sized solar photovoltaic (PV) generation to offset the annual electricity kWh demanded by the buildings after maximizing efficiency, which results in an EDR > 0. This is in alignment with CEC's 2019 Title 24 goal.

Cost Component	2017 \$/Watt
PV Median Cost, including inverter replacements	\$3.32
NSHP Incentive	-\$0.17
30% Federal ITC, excluding inverter replacements	-\$0.81
Net Cost	\$2.34

Figure 25. Solar Photovoltaics Incremental Costs Summary

4. **RESULTS**

The cost effectiveness and greenhouse gas savings results are presented in this section for the energy efficiency and Efficiency + PV packages in each climate zone. Figure 26 and Figure 27 list the efficiency measures implemented for the single family and low-rise multifamily prototypes, respectively. These measures have been selected because they are market feasible and optimize cost effectiveness while achieving high compliance margin targets. Single family 2100 ft² and 2700 ft² prototypes are comprised of the exact same measure package, with the exception of drain water heat recovery, which is only applied to the 2700 ft² two-story prototype.

Maggura								C	limat	e Zon	e							
	Measure	2	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16
	Quality Insulation Inst	Quality Insulation Installation (HERS)		x	x	x	х	x	х	x	x	x	x	х	x	x	x	x
	Carl Bash	(ASR-0.28 / TE-0.85)								x	х	x						
		(ASR-0.32 / TE-0.85)											x	x	x	x	x	
	Improved	(U-0.30 / SHGC-0.23)		x		x		x		x	х	x	x	x	x	x	x	x
Fundance	Fenestration	(U-0.30 / SHGC-0.50)	х		x		x											
Envelope	Insulated Door (U-0.20)		x	x	x	x	x	x	х	x	х	x	x	x	x	x	x	x
	High Performance Walls (U-0.043)		х	х							х	x	x	x	x	х	x	x
	High Performance Attics (R13 below deck)		х															
	High Performance Att	High Performance Attics (R19 below deck)								x	х	x	x	x	x	x	x	x
	Reduced Infiltration (3	2 ACH50)	х	х		x				х	х	x	x	x	x	x	x	x
	Hot Water Piping Insu	lation, All Lines (HERS)	х	х	x	х	x			x	х	x	x	x	x	x	x	x
DHW	Compact Hot Water D	istribution (HERS)	х								х	x	x	x	x	x	x	x
	Drain Water Heat Rec	overy (2700 ft ² only)	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	х	x	x	x	x	x	x	x
	AHU Reduced Fan Wa	tt Draw (0.3 W/CFM)	x	x	x	x	x	x	х	x	х	x	x	x	x	x	x	x
HVAC	Verified Refrigerant Cl	harge (HERS)	х		x	х	x		x									x
	Heat / Energy Recover	y Ventilation	х	х	х	х	х					x	x	х	х	х	x	x

Figure 26: Efficiency Measure Summary for Single Family Prototype (2100 & 2700 ft²)

	Maasuro								(Climat	e Zon	e						
	Measur	re	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16
	Quality Insulation Ins	tallation (HERS)	x	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	x	x	x
		(ASR-0.20 / TE-0.85)					х											
	Cool Roof	(ASR-0.28 / TE-0.85)						х	х									
		(ASR-0.32 / TE-0.85)		x		х				х	х	х	x	х	x	x	x	x
	Improved	(U-0.30 / SHGC-0.23)		x		x		х		x	х	х	x	х	x	x	x	x
	Fenestration	(U-0.30 / SHGC-0.50)	x		х		х											
Envelope	Insulated Door (U-0.2	20)	x	x	х	х	х	х	х	x	х	х	х	х	x	x	x	x
	High Performance Walls (HPW)	(U-0.051)						x										
		(U-0.043)	x	x		x				х	х	х	x	х	x	x	x	x
	High Performance	R13 below deck	x															
	Attics (HPA)	R19 below deck									x	x	х	x	х	x	x	x
	Reduced Infiltration (5 ACH50)	x	x	х	x	х	x	х	х	х	х	x	х	x	x	x	x
	Hot Water Piping Inst	ulation, All Lines (HERS)	x	x	х	x	х	х	х	x	х	х	х	х	х	x	x	x
DHW	Compact Hot Water I	Distribution (HERS)	x	x	х	x	х	x	х	x	х	х	х	х	х	x	x	x
	AHU Reduced Fan Wo	att Draw (0.3 W/CFM)	x	x	х	x		х	х	x	х	х	х	х	х	x	x	x
HVAC	Verified Refrigerant C	Verified Refrigerant Charge (HERS)			х	x	х	x	х									x
	Verified Low-Leakage Conditioned Space (H	Verified Low-Leakage Ducts Entirely in Conditioned Space (HERS)		x	х	x	x	x	x	x	х	x	x	x	x	x	x	x

Figure 27: Efficiency Measure Summary for Low-rise Multifamily Prototype

4.1 Cost Effectiveness

TRC determined cost effectiveness by comparing the incremental cost of each measure package (Figure 26 and Figure 27) to the NPV of energy cost savings over the 30-year period. Results include measure compliance margin, present value of energy savings, costs, and B/C ratio.

TRC developed cost effectiveness for two scenarios:

- Energy Efficiency Only: The efficiency package energy savings benefits are measured in terms of TDV, in accordance with CEC Life Cycle Cost methodology typically used in CASE studies. The compliance margin achieved in these packages reflects only energy efficiency packages, and no solar PV or PV compliance credit.
- Energy Efficiency + PV (EE + PV) Package: The EE + PV package adds enough solar PV to the energy efficiency package to offset annual kWh load. Energy savings benefits are measured in terms of on-bill savings in accordance with CEC cost effectiveness analysis for solar PV.²⁵

When the B/C ratio is greater than 1.0, the added cost of the measure is offset by the discounted energy cost savings and the measure is cost effective. See Section 2.3 for further detail.

Cost-effectiveness results for the single family and multifamily prototypes are shown in Figure 28 and Figure 29, respectively:

- Column A shows the California climate zone (CZ)
- Column B shows the CALGreen Tier 3 definition targets
- Column C shows the compliance margin achieved through only the Efficiency-Only packages
- Columns D and E show the energy savings estimated with the Efficiency-Only packages
- Column F shows the TDV savings of the Efficiency-Only packages
- Column G shows the cost of the Efficiency-Only packages
- Column H is the B/C Ratio of each package (Column F divided by Column G).
- Column I shows the PV size necessary to offset annual kWh loads.
- Column J shows the 2016 EDR found to be cost effective with the efficiency package and PV array
- Column K shows the compliance margin achievable when including the PV compliance credit (refer to Figure 3 for more detail)
- Columns L and M show the energy savings estimated with the EE + PV packages.
- Column N shows the on-bill savings of the EE + PV packages
- Column O shows the cost of the EE + PV packages
- Column P is the B/C Ratio of each package (Column N divided by Column O).

²⁵ During the development of this study, CEC was in the process of developing TDV values for excess PV generation; TDV for the EE + PV packages are not currently included.

Single family results are as follows:

- Cost effective reach code packages were found in all climate zones except efficiency-only in CZ7. All EE + PV packages are cost effective using the on-bill cost effectiveness methodology.
- CALGreen Tier 3 compliance targets are achieved in all CZs when including the PV compliance credit (column K). When excluding the PV compliance credit, CZs 4 and 8 do not achieve the CALGreen Tier 3 compliance targets.

Low-rise multifamily results are as follows:

- Cost effective packages were found in all climate zones except efficiency-only in CZ7. All EE + PV packages are cost effective using the on-bill cost effectiveness methodology.
- CALGreen Tier 3 compliance targets are achieved in all CZs except CZs 1, 2, 5, 7, and 8 when including the PV compliance credit (column K). When excluding the PV compliance credit, only CZs 6 achieves the CALGreen Tier 3 compliance target.

		ENERGY EFFICIENCY ONLY PACKAGE (TDV)							EE + PV PACKAGE (ON-BILL)						
CZ	CALGreen Tier 3 Target	Comp- liance Margin	Annual kWh savings	Annual Therm savings	Present Value of Savings (TDV)	Present Value of Costs	B/C Ratio	PV Size (kW)	2016 Energy Design Rating	Compliance Margin with PV Compliance Credit	Annual kWh savings	Annual Therm savings	Present Value of Savings (On-Bill)	Present Value of Costs	B/C Ratio
Α	В	С	D	E	F	G	н	Т	J	К	L	М	Ν	0	Р
1	30%	40%	341	278	\$9,882	\$5,807	1.7	3.6	18	49%	4,683	278	\$45,481	\$14,326	3.2
2	30%	31%	234	148	\$6,066	\$3,755	1.6	3.1	18	40%	4,661	148	\$37,896	\$11,093	3.4
3	30%	31%	147	120	\$4,714	\$2,705	1.7	3.0	13	39%	4,573	118	\$35,181	\$9,915	3.5
4	30%	28%	180	109	\$4,673	\$2,925	1.6	3.0	16	48%	4,650	109	\$35,729	\$10,053	3.6
5	30%	35%	140	127	\$4 <i>,</i> 983	\$3,169	1.6	2.8	11	43%	4,592	127	\$35,226	\$9,910	3.6
6	15%	16%	63	15	\$1,279	\$1,171	1.1	2.6	16	16%	3,461	15	\$16,192	\$7,305	2.2
7	15%	16%	21	11	\$777	\$1,680	0.5	2.5	13	16%	3,434	11	\$20,600	\$7,567	2.7
8	30%	28%	137	13	\$2,344	\$2,065	1.1	2.7	13	56%	3,668	13	\$17,289	\$8,374	2.1
9	30%	31%	259	24	\$4,230	\$3,560	1.2	2.7	15	57%	3,958	24	\$18,850	\$9,939	1.9
10	30%	34%	353	80	\$6,492	\$4,860	1.3	3.2	13	57%	4,842	80	\$33,373	\$12,470	2.7
11	30%	34%	799	139	\$11,694	\$5,789	2.0	3.7	18	53%	6,425	139	\$51,718	\$14,624	3.5
12	30%	36%	389	135	\$8,728	\$5,789	1.5	3.2	17	59%	5,086	135	\$40,260	\$13,443	3.0
13	30%	34%	837	124	\$11,598	\$5,789	2.0	3.9	18	54%	6,642	124	\$52,376	\$15,080	3.5
14	30%	34%	759	138	\$11,106	\$6,552	1.7	3.3	19	51%	5,689	138	\$32,751	\$14,312	2.3
15	30%	31%	1,872	28	\$14,252	\$6,552	2.2	5.1	15	48%	9,586	28	\$51,947	\$18,534	2.8
16	30%	31%	420	236	\$9,517	\$5,231	1.8	2.5	23	47%	4,904	236	\$45,321	\$11,142	4.1

Figure 28. Cost Effectiveness Results for Single Family Prototype (Average of 2100 & 2700 ft²)

		E	ENERGY EFFICIENCY ONLY PACKAGE (TDV)						EE + PV PACKAGE (ON-BILL)							
cz	CALGreen Tier 3 Target	Comp- liance Margin	Annual kWh savings	Annual Therm savings	Present Value of Savings (TDV)	Present Value of Costs	B/C Ratio	PV Size (kW)	2016 Energy Design Rating	Compliance Margin with PV Compliance Credit	Annual kWh savings	Annual Therm savings	Present Value of Savings (On-Bill)	Present Value of Costs	B/C Ratio	
Α	В	С	D	E	F	G	н	I	J	К	L	м	N	0	Р	
1	30%	21.3%	262	234	\$9,068	\$8,449	1.1	15.3	15	26%	20,676	234	\$128,705	\$44,267	2.9	
2	30%	21.0%	483	119	\$9,311	\$8,406	1.1	13.2	16	26%	21,192	119	\$127,503	\$39,498	3.2	
3	15%	12.6%	54	86	\$3,875	\$3,366	1.2	13.0	13	16%	20,580	86	\$120,910	\$33,921	3.6	
4	30%	21.2%	479	95	\$8,618	\$8,406	1.0	12.9	11	32%	21,323	95	\$127,460	\$38,820	3.3	
5	15%	11.0%	-24	79	\$3,224	\$2,534	1.3	12.3	12	14%	20,587	79	\$120,484	\$31,334	3.8	
6	15%	16.9%	306	45	\$5,319	\$5,076	1.0	13.2	14	17%	21,169	45	\$110,604	\$36,028	3.1	
7	15%	11.1%	127	16	\$3,109	\$3,257	0.95	12.6	16	11%	20,822	16	\$101,450	\$32,934	3.1	
8	30%	19.1%	659	28	\$7,816	\$7,069	1.1	13.9	15	28%	22,626	28	\$118,344	\$39,612	3.0	
9	30%	23.4%	1007	43	\$12,528	\$8,531	1.5	13.8	16	35%	23,604	43	\$123,512	\$40,957	3.0	
10	30%	21.9%	1076	52	\$11,848	\$8,531	1.4	14.2	15	32%	24,231	52	\$126,000	\$41,748	3.0	
11	30%	24.9%	1889	131	\$21,033	\$8,827	2.4	15.6	18	34%	26,705	131	\$173,607	\$45,417	3.8	
12	30%	24.2%	1031	129	\$15,751	\$8,827	1.8	14.2	19	34%	23,244	129	\$144,832	\$42,071	3.4	
13	30%	25.2%	2053	114	\$21,629	\$8,827	2.5	16.3	18	34%	27,298	114	\$177,170	\$47,171	3.8	
14	30%	24.5%	1763	131	\$19,650	\$8,827	2.2	13.7	20	33%	26,385	131	\$142,912	\$40,949	3.5	
15	30%	25.8%	4613	12	\$31,532	\$8,827	3.6	19.7	18	33%	37,580	12	\$203,040	\$54,984	3.7	
16	30%	23.1%	912	270	\$15,742	\$8,827	1.8	12.5	23	31%	22,067	270	\$141,531	\$38,095	3.7	

Figure 29. Cost Effectiveness Results for Low-rise Multifamily Prototype

4.2 Greenhouse Gas Savings

New construction low-rise residential buildings complying with the reach code will reduce energy consumption and thereby reduce greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. GHG reduction estimates are based on the proposed Efficiency + PV packages, however, compliance with the reach code may be achieved through a variety of measure packages. Each measure package will have varying electric and natural gas usages, and therefore varying GHG savings.

TRC multiplied saved energy by a factor of 0.65 lbs of CO₂ equivalent (CO₂e) per kWh, and 11.7 lbs of CO₂e per therm to estimate GHG savings.²⁶ Percent GHG savings are calculated by comparing GHG emission savings to the emissions a prescriptive building. Jurisdictions adopting a reach code can use Figure 30 and Figure 31 below to approximate reductions of GHG emissions in typical single family and low-rise multifamily residential buildings, respectively.

CZ	kWh Savings / Bldg	Therms Savings / Bldg	Lbs CO2e Avoided / Bldg from Electricity	Lbs CO2e Avoided/ from Natural Gas	GHG Savings %
1	4,683	278	3,044	3,252	54%
2	4,661	148	3,029	1,726	50%
3	4,573	118	2,973	1,375	55%
4	4,650	109	3,023	1,281	52%
5	4,592	127	2,985	1,488	58%
6	3,461	15	2,249	171	44%
7	3,434	11	2,232	134	49%
8	3,668	13	2,384	158	49%
9	3,958	24	2,573	281	51%
10	4,842	80	3,147	932	58%
11	6,425	139	4,176	1,624	59%
12	5,086	135	3,306	1,582	53%
13	6,642	124	4,317	1,455	60%
14	5,689	138	3,698	1,613	54%
15	9,586	28	6,231	327	74%
16	4,904	236	3,187	2,764	45%

Figure 30. Estimated GHG Savings per Single Family Building

²⁶ United States Environmental Protection Agency. 2015. "Emission Factors for Greenhouse Gas Inventories." Available at: https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-12/documents/emission-factors nov 2015.pdf.

cz	kWh Savings / Bldg	Therms Savings / Bldg	Lbs CO2e Avoided / Bldg from Electricity	Lbs CO2e Avoided/ from Natural Gas	GHG Savings %
1	20,676	234	13,439	2,737	53%
2	21,192	119	13,775	1,387	53%
3	20,580	86	13,377	1,004	56%
4	21,323	95	13,860	1,115	56%
5	20,587	79	13,382	919	56%
6	21,169	45	13,760	530	59%
7	20,822	16	13,534	192	59%
8	22,626	28	14,707	332	61%
9	23,604	43	15,342	499	62%
10	24,231	52	15,750	609	63%
11	26,705	131	17,358	1,536	61%
12	23,244	129	15,108	1,505	57%
13	27,298	114	17,744	1,334	62%
14	26,385	131	17,150	1,532	61%
15	37,580	12	24,427	140	76%
16	22,067	270	14,344	3,155	47%

Figure 31. Estimated GHG Savings for Low-rise Multifamily building

4.3 Reach Code Recommendations

TRC recommends that California jurisdictions adopt reach codes meeting the compliance margin and EDR requirements in Figure 32:

- If a jurisdiction desires an efficiency-only reach code, the efficiency-only compliance margin may be used in the ordinance.
- If a jurisdiction desires an Efficiency + PV reach code, the Efficiency + PV compliance margin and 2016 EDR may be used in the ordinance. New construction residential buildings would need to achieve the recommended compliance margins and install solar PV to achieve the 2016 EDR target.²⁷

Recommended reach code values are more lenient than the levels found to be cost effective – compliance margins are rounded down, and EDR values are rounded up. To create more lenient reach codes, jurisdictions can draft ordinances further reducing compliance margins or increasing EDR requirements beyond those recommended for more lenient reach codes. There is no energy efficiency target compliance margin target for low rise residential buildings in CZ7 because TRC did not find a cost effective package of efficiency-only measures. However, because the EE + PV packages are cost effective using the on-bill methodology, TRC has provided the recommendations for reach code compliance margins and EDR ratings.

²⁷ EDR Targets are highly dependent on TDV. 2016 TDVs are significantly different than 2019 TDVs, which will result in different 2019 EDR Targets. Nonetheless, the solar PV size required to achieve comparable EDR targets is not expected to vary by more than 0.5 kW array size.

		Single Family			Low-rise Multifam	ily
cz	Compliance Margin	Compliance Margin	2016 Energy Design Rating	Compliance Margin	Compliance Margin	2016 Energy Design Rating
	Efficiency-Offiy	Linclency + PV	Linclency + FV	Eniciency-Only	Linclency + PV	Linclency + FV
1	40%	45%	20	20%	25%	15
2	30%	35% 20		20%	25%	20
3	30%	35% 15		10%	15%	15
4	25%	45%	20	20%	30%	15
5	30%	40%	15	10%	10%	15
6	15%	15%	20	15%	15%	15
7	None	15%	15	None	10%	20
8	25%	55%	15	15%	25%	20
9	30%	55%	15	20%	30%	20
10	30%	55%	15	20%	30%	15
11	30%	50%	20	20%	30%	20
12	35%	55%	20	20%	30%	20
13	30%	50%	20	25%	30%	20
14	30%	50%	20	20%	30%	20
15	30%	45%	15	25%	30%	20
16	30%	45%	25	20%	30%	25

Figure 32. New Construction Residential Reach Code Recommendations for 2016 Title 24

TRC recommends that individual projects consider battery storage technology alongside PV installations to achieve reach code requirements while reducing hourly exports to the electric grid.

4.4 Compliance

The majority of new construction T24 compliance submittals use building simulation software. CBECC-Res is a CEC approved software tool used for the 2016 Title 24 Standards. The compliance software outputs the TDV energy usage of a proposed building and the percent compliance margin compared with a standard prescriptively-compliant building. EDRs are also standard outputs of the 2016 compliant software. For nearly all the measures described in this report, local building officials can confirm that building designs meet the Reach Code by reviewing the compliance margin and residential EDR value presented in the simulation software output reports.

For design strategies that cannot currently be modeled in CEC approved software, and thus not captured adequately in the compliance margin and EDR, the applicant must show compliance through ancillary documentation:

DHW Compliance Credits: Currently, CBECC only allows one DHW distribution credit in a simulation. Therefore, for example, a project that incorporates compact distribution as well as insulating all pipes can only receive credit for one of the measures through the software. DHW distribution measures will have overlapping benefits, so it is not justified to provide the full credit of each standalone measure. To comply with multiple DHW distribution measures in one prototype, TRC suggests that the permit applicant simulate the DHW distribution measure with the lowest distribution multiplier as per in Table B-1 of Appendix B in the Residential ACM Reference Manual. Then, the applicant would simulate the other DHW distribution measures individually and reduce savings proportionally by the total number of DHW distribution measures.^{28,29}

- Drain Water Heat Recovery (DWHR): The currently available version of CBECC-Res (v3.0) cannot model the benefits of a DWHR device. A DWHR compliance credit has been submitted as a 2019 Title 24 CASE measure and is expected to be incorporated into the 2019 version of the compliance software. To use DWHR to comply with 2016 Title 24 and a Reach Code, an applicant must indicate on the plans how many water heaters are installed. TRC recommends that the building department estimate that the DWHR system reduces the DHW kTDV load by 10% if 100% of dwelling units are connected to a DWHR system and use the same ratio if less than 100% of dwelling units are connected to DWHR. The overall building compliance margin should then be adjusted with the reduced DHW load.
- Infiltration: To comply with low-rise multifamily reduced building infiltration, a project will need to implement and pass HERS verified QII and low leakage ducts in conditioned space. The Title 24 documentation will state that a project is implementing both of these measures and the HERS verification documents will confirm that they pass. TRC recommends that such projects be awarded an extra 1% compliance margin credit to account for reduced HVAC loads.

²⁸ 2016 Residential ACM Reference Manual, California Energy Commission. Available online at: <u>http://www.energy.ca.gov/2015publications/CEC-400-2015-024/CEC-400-2015-024-CMF-REV2.pdf</u>

²⁹ For two measures, the savings of each measure simulated individually would be halved, for three measures, the savings would be 1/3, and so on.

5. APPENDIX A – COST DATA

The following figures provide detailed cost when necessary for the measures presented in Section 3.

	Single Family
On-site visit (\$/visit)	\$220
Standard measure verification (\$/measure)	\$45
Additional measure verification (\$/measure)	\$100
Registry documentation (\$/measure/visit)	\$25

Figure 33. Single Family HERS Verification Base Cost

Figure 34. Single Family HERS Verification Detailed Costs

Single Family HERS Measure	"Test"	Site Visit	Site Visit	Site	Total #	Total
Single Failing HERS Measure	Visit	1	2	Visit 3	Visits	Cost ²
Duct Leakage (Mandatory)	Х			Х	2	\$250
Verified Airflow/ Fan Efficiency (Mandatory)	Х			Х	2	\$250
Whole Building Mechanical Ventilation (Mandatory)	Х			Х	2	\$250
Quality Insulation Installation ¹	Х	Х	Х	Х	4	\$427
Compact Hot Water Distribution ¹	Х		Х		2	\$175
Piping Insulation, All Hot Water Lines ¹	Х		Х		2	\$175
Verified Refrigerant Charge ¹	Х			Х	2	\$175

¹ Denotes projects that can be verified using sampling; the cost analysis assumed 1-in-2 sampling

² Assumes measures that require 2 or more on-site visits will be optimally scheduled

Figure	35.	Multifamily	HERS	Verification	Base	Costs
--------	-----	-------------	------	--------------	------	-------

	Single Family
On-site visit (\$/visit)	\$213
Non-mandatory additional measure verification (\$/visit)	\$50
Registry documentation (\$/measure/visit)	\$25

Figure 36. Multifamily HERS Verification Detailed Costs

Single Family HERS Measure	Best Case # Site Visits	Mid Case # site visits	Worst Case # site visits	Avg. Measure Cost ¹
Duct Leakage (Mandatory)	1	1	2	\$122
Verified Airflow/ Fan Efficiency (Mandatory)	1	1	1	\$52
Whole Building Mechanical Ventilation (Mandatory)	1	1	1	\$52
Quality Insulation Installation	3	4	5	\$764
Compact Hot Water Distribution	1	1	2	\$131
Piping Insulation, All Hot Water Lines	1	1	2	\$131
Verified Refrigerant Charge	1	1	2	\$131
Verified Low Leakage Ducts in Conditioned Space	2	3	4	\$527

¹Assumes that measures that require 2 or more on-site visits will be scheduled individually without consideration of other measures.

Component/ Material	Climate Zones	Base Case	Proposed Update	Installation Labor	HERS Verification	Total Cost
	1-5		+2.1 hrs of labor	\$111		\$537
Cingle Femily	6-10	Chandand		\$99	¢427	\$526
Single Family	11-13	Standard		\$101	\$427	\$528
	14-16			\$101		\$528
	1-5			\$501		\$1,265
Low-rise	6-10	Chandand	+9.7 hrs of	\$449	Ċ7C4	\$1,213
Multifamily	11-13	Standard	labor	\$457	\$764	\$1,221
	14-16			\$457]	\$1,221

Figure 37. Residential Quality Insulation Installation Detailed Costs

Cost Source: RS Means 2017 and local HERS raters

¹Additional labor hours is based on envelope surface area for each prototype

		Proposed		IMC (\$/unit)				
Component	Base Case	Update (ASR/TE)	Unit	North Coast	South Coast	North Central	Inland	
Asphalt Shingles	ND	0.20/0.85	reaf #2	\$1.16	\$2.19	\$1.35	\$1.48	
Concrete/Clay Tile	INIT		1001112	\$1.59	\$1.75	\$1.59	\$1.59	
			Average	\$1.38	\$1.97	\$1.47	\$1.53	
Asphalt Shingles	NR	0.28/0.85	roof ft2	\$1.61	\$1.15	\$1.42	\$1.52	
Concrete/Clay Tile				\$1.59	\$1.75	\$1.59	\$1.59	
			Average	\$1.60	\$1.45	\$1.51	\$1.56	
Asphalt Shingles	ND	0.22/0.95	roof ft2	\$2.47	\$1.89	\$2.29	\$2.80	
Concrete/Clay Tile		0.32/0.85	1001112	\$1.59	\$1.75	\$1.59	\$1.59	
			Average	\$2.03	\$1.82	\$1.94	\$2.19	
Asphalt Shingles	0.20/0.95	0.22/0.95	roof ft 2	\$1.31	(\$0.31)	\$0.94	\$1.32	
Concrete/Clay Tile	0.20/0.85	0.32/0.85	1001112	\$1.59	\$1.75	\$1.59	\$1.59	
			Average	\$0.66	(\$0.15)	\$0.47	\$0.66	

Figure 38. Cool Roof Detailed Costs

Source: Online retailers and roofing product distributors

Figure 39. Improved Fenestration Detailed Costs

Component	Base Case	Proposed Update	Unit	Units/	/Building	IMC (\$/unit)
component	(U-factor/SHGC)	(U-factor/SHGC)	Onit	SF	MF	invic (9/ dility
Residential Window	0.32/0.25	0.30/0.23	ft ² window	400	1 0 4 4	\$0.20
Residential Window	ntial Window 0.32/0.50 0.30/0.50		0/0.50		1,044	\$0.20 ¹

Source: Nittler, K. (2017). Codes and Standards Enhancement (CASE) Initiative: Residential High Performance Windows and Doors – Draft Report.

¹ The incremental cost for 0.30/0.23 windows is conservatively used for 0.30/0.50.

Figure 40. Insulated Door Detailed Costs

Component	Base Case	Proposed Update	Unit	Units/	Building	IMC (\$/unit)
component	(U-factor)	(U-factor)		SF	MF	
Residential Door	0.50	0.20	ft ² door	20	160	\$1.30

Source: Nittler, K. (2017). Codes and Standards Enhancement (CASE) Initiative: Residential High Performance Windows and Doors – Draft Report.

2016 Title 24 Residential Reach Code Recommendations

Figure 41. High Performance Wall Detailed Costs

Component	Base Case	Proposed	Unit	Units/	Building	
	(U-factor)	Update (U-factor)		SF	MF	IMC (\$/unit)
Wall Framing	2x4 @ 16"	2x6 @ 16"	ft ² wall	1,574	3,760	\$0.29
Cavity Insulation	R-15	R-21	ft ² wall	1,574	3,760	\$0.05
Continuous Exterior Insulation	R-4	R-7.5	ft ² wall	1,574	3,760	\$0.20
Additional Sill Flashing (for R-7.5)	1"	1.5″	linear ft window perimeter	404	1,114	\$0.22

Source: Rasin, J. and F., Farahmand. (2015). Codes and Standards Enhancement (CASE) Initiative: Residential High Performance Walls; German, A. (2017). Codes and Standards Enhancement (CASE) Initiative: High Performance Walls – Draft Report

Figure 42. High Performance Attic Detailed Costs

Component	Base	Base Proposed		Units/Building		IMC/unit
Component	Case Case		Unit	SF	MF	(\$/unit)
Below Deck Insulation (Batt)	R-0	R-19	roof deck ft ²	2,130	4,176	\$0.97
Below Deck Insulation (Batt)	R-13	R-19	roof deck ft ²	2,130	4,176	\$0.12
Cabling	none	installed	labor hrs	2	4	\$44

Source: Hoeschele, M. (2017). Codes and Standards Enhancement (CASE) Initiative: High Performance Attics – Draft Report; Online retailers; RS Means 2017.

Figure 43. Reduced Infiltration Detailed Costs

Component Para Cara Droparad Cara		Broposod Case	Unit	U	nits/Building	IMC/unit
component	Dase Case	Proposed Case	case Unit		MF	(\$/unit)
Reduced envelope infiltration	5.0 ACH50	3.0 ACH50	CFA	2,400	6,960	\$0.11

Source: Davis Energy Group, Inc., Enercomp, Inc., Misti Bruceri & Associates, LLC. (2016). CALGreen Cost Effectiveness Study.

Figure 44. Compact Domestic Hot Water Distribution Detailed Costs

Component	Base Case Proposed Case		Linit	Units/E	Building	IMC/unit
component	Dase Case	Proposed Case	Unit	SF	MF	(\$/unit)
¾" PEX piping (insulated)	Standard	Compact Design	linear ft	(17)	-	\$2.23
1" Gas piping	Standard	Additional	linear ft	20	-	\$7.18
5" Vent piping	Standard	Additional	linear ft	14	-	\$21.79
Venting	Standard	Additional	labor hrs	1	-	\$93.25
HERS Verification	Standard	Verified	-	-	-	See HERS verification

Source: Online retailers and RS Means 2017

Figure 45. Drain Water Heat Recovery Detailed Costs

Component	Base Case	Proposed Case	Unit	Units/ SF Building	IMC/unit (\$/unit)
Vertical DWHR device + installation	None	1 device	# devices	1	\$771.28

Source: Esser, M et al. (2017). Codes and Standards Enhancement (CASE) Initiative: Drain Water Heat Recovery – Draft Report.

Figure 46. Reduced Fan Watt Draw Detailed Costs

6	D	Drewsond Cost Unit		Units/Building		IMC/ unit	
Component	Base Case	Proposed Case	Unit	SF	MF	SF	MF
ECM Motor	0.58 watts/cfm	0.30 watts/cfm	# motors	1	8	\$143	\$104

Source: Davis Energy Group, Inc., Enercomp, Inc., Misti Bruceri & Associates, LLC. (2016). CALGreen Cost Effectiveness Study.

Figure 47. Increased Duct Insulation Detailed Costs

Commonset	Dees Cose	Duo no co di Cocco	Unit Unit		Building	INAC /
Component	onent Base Case Proposed Case Unit	SF	MF	ivic/ unit		
Duct Insulation	R-6	R-8	linear ft duct	248	718	\$0.86

Source: Wei, J et al. (2015). Codes and Standards Enhancement (CASE) Initiative: Residential Ducts in Conditioned Space/ High Performance Attics.

6. APPENDIX B – UTILITY RATE SCHEDULES

TRC selected electric and natural gas rates from the major utilities to evaluate customer costs for the measure packages. Rate schedules were coordinated with experts at each utility to ensure appropriate interpretation of net energy metering policies. The rates were applied to climate zones within the utility territory. Detailed rate schedules are provided in subsequent tables.

Utility	Commodity	Rate Schedule	Climate Zones	Link
PG&E	Electric	E-TOU Option A	1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 11,	https://www.pge.com/tariffs/tm2/pdf/ELEC_SCHEDS_E-TOU.pdf
	Gas	G1	12, 13, 16	https://www.pge.com/tariffs/tm2/pdf/GAS_SCHEDS_G-1.pdf
SCE	Electric	TOU-D-T		https://www.sce.com/NR/sc3/tm2/pdf/CE220.pdf
SCG	Gas	GR	0, 8, 9, 14, 15	https://www.socalgas.com/regulatory/tariffs/tm2/pdf/GR.pdf
CDC 8 F	Electric	DR-SES	7 10	http://regarchive.sdge.com/tm2/pdf/ELEC_ELEC-SCHEDS_DR- SES.pdf
SDG&E	Gas	GR	7, 10	http://regarchive.sdge.com/tm2/pdf/GAS_GAS-SCHEDS_GN- 3.pdf

Figure 48. Rate Schedules for Each Utility

6.1 Electric Rate Schedule

Figure 49. PG&E Residential Electric Rates

Pacific Gas & Electric (PG&E) Residential TOU Electri	c Rates
Rate E-TOU Option A	
Summer (\$/kWh) (June 1 through Sep 31)	
On-Peak	0.39336
Off-Peak	0.31778
Winter (\$/kWh) (Oct 1 through May 31)	
On-Peak	0.27539
Off-Peak	0.26109
Additional Charges	
Baseline Credit (per kWh)	\$0.08830
Customer Charge (\$/meter/day)	\$0.32854
CA Climate Credit (\$/month in April and October)	-\$17.40
Net Surplus Compensation (NSC) – NEM	\$0.0276
Non-bypassable Charges (NEM 2.0) (\$/kWh)	
Public Purpose Program, Nuclear Decommissioning, California Department of Water Resources, Energy Cost Recovery Amount, Competition Transition Charge	\$0.0233

Southern California Edison (SCE) Residential TOU Electric Rates				
Rate TOU-D-T				
Summer (\$/kWh) (Ju	n 1 through Sept 31)			
On peak- Level 1		\$0.35425		
On peak- Level 2		\$0.39242		
Off peak- Level 1		\$0.18132		
Off peak- Level 2		\$0.21949		
Winter (\$/kWh) (Oct	1 through May 31)			
On peak- Level 1		\$0.23425		
On peak- Level 2		\$0.27242		
Off peak- Level 1	\$0.17515			
Off peak- Level 2	\$0.21332			
Additional Charges				
Basic Charge	Single Family	\$0.031		
	Multi Family	\$0.024		
Customer Charge (\$	/meter/day)	\$0.329		
CA Climate Credit (\$	/month in April and October)	-\$31.00		
Net Surplus Compensation (NSC) – NEM \$0.0257				
Non-bypassable Charges (NEM 2.0) (\$/kWh)				
Public Purpose Program, Nuclear\$0.0233Decommissioning, California Department of\$0.0233Water Resources, Competition Transition Charge				

Figure 50. SCE Residential Electric Rates

Figure 51. SDG&E Residential Electric Rates

San Diego Gas & Electric (SDG&E) Residential TOU Electric Rates			
Rate DR-SES			
Summer (\$/kWh) (May 1 through Oct 31)			
On-Peak	0.50629		
Mid-Peak	0.25108		
Off-Peak	0.22721		
Winter (\$/kWh) (Nov 1 through Apr 30)			
Mid-Peak	0.23619		
Off-Peak	0.22171		
Additional Charges			
Customer Charge (\$/meter/day)	\$0.3290		
CA Climate Credit (\$/month in April and October)	-\$29.62		
Net Surplus Compensation (NSC) – NEM	\$0.0279		
Non-bypassable Charges (NEM 2.0) (\$/kWh)			

Public Purpose Program, Nuclear	
Decommissioning, California Department of	\$0.017
Water Resources, Energy Cost Recovery	
Amount, Competition Transition Charge	

6.2 Natural Gas Rate Schedule

Pacific Gas & Electric (PG&E) Residential Natural Gas Rates			
Rate G-1			
	Per therm		
Baseline charge	\$1.28697		
Non-baseline charge	\$1.82246		
Other charges	Per therm		
NonCARE	\$0.09589		
CARE	\$0.06743		
Average PPS surcharge	\$0.08166		

Figure 52. PG&E Residential Natural Gas Rates

Figure 53. SCG Residential Natural Gas Rates

Southern California Gas (SCG) Residential Natural Gas Rates			
Rate GR			
	Per therm		
Baseline charge	\$0.88512		
Non-baseline charge	\$1.21357		
Other Charges			
Customer charge (per meter per day)	\$0.16438		

Figure 54. SDG&E Residential Natural Gas Rates

San Diego Gas & Electric (SDG&E) Residential N	latural Gas Rates
Rate GR	
	Per therm
Baseline charge	\$1.28450
Non-baseline charge	\$1.47184
Other Charges	
Minimum Bill Charge	\$0.0986

CA Statewide Codes and Standards Program

Title 24, Part 11 Local Energy Efficiency Ordinances

CALGreen All-Electric Cost-Effectiveness Study

Prepared for: Marshall Hunt Codes and Standards Program Pacific Gas and Electric Company

Prepared by: Davis Energy Group, Inc. Enercomp, Inc. Misti Bruceri & Associates, LLC

Last Modified: October 11, 2017

LEGAL NOTICE

This report was prepared by Pacific Gas and Electric Company and funded by the California utility customers under the auspices of the California Public Utilities Commission.

Copyright 2017, Pacific Gas and Electric Company. All rights reserved, except that this document may be used, copied, and distributed without modification.

Neither PG&E nor any of its employees makes any warranty, express or implied; or assumes any legal liability or responsibility for the accuracy, completeness or usefulness of any data, information, method, product, policy or process disclosed in this document; or represents that its use will not infringe any privately-owned rights including, but not limited to, patents, trademarks or copyrights.

Table of Contents

1	Intro	oduction	1
2	Met	hodology and Assumptions	1
	2.1	Building Prototypes	1
	2.2	Efficiency Measures & Package Development	2
	2.3	All-Electric Package	4
	2.3.1	NEEA-rated Heat Pump Water Heaters (HPWH)	6
	2.4	Measure Costs	6
	2.5	PV Performance Packages	7
	2.6	Cost-Effectiveness	8
	2.7	Greenhouse Gas Emissions	0
3	Res	ults1	1
	3.1	Single Family Results 1	1
	3.1.1	1 Single Family Cost-Effectiveness Analysis 1	1
	3.1.2	2 Single Family Packages1	5
	3.2	Multifamily Results	5
	3.2.1	Multifamily Cost-Effectiveness Analysis1	5
	3.2.2	2 Multifamily Packages1	9
4	Con	clusions & Summary2	0
5	Refe	erences2	2
A	ppendi	x A – Prescriptive Package2	4
A	ppendi	x B – Measure Cost Details2	8
A	ppendi	x C – Efficiency Package Summaries2	9
A	ppendi	x D – Utility Rate Tariffs	0

List of Tables

Table 1: Prototype Characteristics	2
Table 2: Title 24 Standard Design (Baseline) Equipment Assumptions Compared with the Proposed A	11-
Electric Package	5
Table 3: All-Electric Cost Assumptions	6
Table 4: HPWH Cost Assumptions	7
Table 4: IOU Utility Tariffs used based on Climate Zone	9
Table 5: Equivalent CO ₂ Emissions Factors	11
Table 6: Single Family All-Electric PV-Plus Performance Package Cost-Effectiveness Results	13
Table 7: Single Family All-Electric Zero Electric Performance Package Cost-Effectiveness Results	14
Table 8: Single Family All-Electric PV Packages: Cost-Effective Measures Summary	15
Table 9: Multifamily All-Electric PV-Plus Performance Package Cost-Effectiveness Results	17
Table 10: Multifamily All-Electric Zero Electric Performance Package Cost-Effectiveness Results	18

Table 11: Multifamily All-Electric PV Packages: Cost-Effective Measures Summary	19
Table 12: Single Family Cost-Effective All-Electric Reach Code Package	20
Table 13: Multifamily Cost-Effective All-Electric Reach Code Package	
Table 14: Single Family PV Package Compliance Target Comparison	
Table 15: Multifamily PV Package Compliance Target Comparison	
Table 16: Measure Descriptions & Cost Assumptions	
Table 17: Single Family PV Packages	29
Table 18: Multifamily PV Packages	29

List of Figures

Figure 1: Single family all-electric cost-effectiveness comparison	12
Figure 2: Multifamily all-electric cost-effectiveness comparison	16

1 Introduction

The California Building Energy Efficiency Standards Title 24, Part 6 (Title 24) (CEC, 2016b) is maintained and updated every three years by two state agencies, the California Energy Commission (CEC) and the Building Standards Commission (BSC). In addition to enforcing the code, local jurisdictions have the authority to adopt local energy efficiency ordinances, or reach codes, that exceed the minimum standards defined by Title 24 (as established by Public Resources Code Section 25402.1(h)2 and Section 10-106 of the Building Energy Efficiency Standards). Local jurisdictions must demonstrate that the requirements of the proposed ordinance are cost effective and do not result in buildings consuming more energy than is permitted by Title 24. In addition, the jurisdiction must obtain approval from the CEC and file the ordinance with the BSC for the ordinance to be legally enforceable.

The California Statewide Codes and Standards Team completed a feasibility and cost effectiveness study of requiring new low-rise single family and multifamily residential construction to exceed the 2016 Building Energy Efficiency Standards, which became effective January 1, 2017 (DEG, 2016). The 2016 report, last modified November 16, 2016, focused on mixed-fuel (gas/electric) homes only. This report presents the results from a similar analysis, focusing on all-electric designs. This evaluation, along with the prior report, provides local jurisdictions flexibility when adopting an energy efficiency ordinance by documenting that the requirement can be met either with a mixed-fuel (gas/electric) design or, in many cases, an all-electric design. Compliance package options and cost-effectiveness analysis for all-electric scenarios in all sixteen California climate zones (CZ) are presented here. All proposed package options include a combination of efficiency measures and on-site renewable energy. Some packages use heat pump water heaters (HPWH) that are more efficient than the DOE minimum and raise federal preemption issues. These results are provided to present alternative packages that are cost effective, but cannot be mandatory in local ordinances.

This analysis uses a customer-based lifecycle cost (LCC) approach to evaluating cost effectiveness of the proposed ordinance, whereas the CEC LCC methodology uses Time Dependent Valuation (TDV) as the primary metric for energy savings. Both methodologies require estimating and quantifying the energy savings associated with energy efficiency measures, as well as quantifying the costs associated with the measures. The main difference between the methodologies is the manner in which they value energy and thus the cost savings of reduced or avoided energy use. The CEC LCC Methodology uses TDV, which is intended to capture the societal impact of energy savings, while the customer-based life cycle cost methodology uses site energy use estimates, utility rate schedules and applies net energy metering rules to estimate cost savings from onsite PV generation to the customer.

2 Methodology and Assumptions

This all-electric analysis uses the same general methodology applied in the prior CALGreen Cost-Effectiveness Study (DEG, 2016). Details are provided below.

2.1 Building Prototypes

The CEC defines building prototypes which it uses to evaluate the cost-effectiveness of proposed changes to Title 24 requirements. There exist two single family prototypes and one multifamily prototype, all three of which are used in this analysis in development of the above-code efficiency packages. Table 1 describes the basic characteristics of each prototype. Additional details on the prototypes can be found in the ACM Approval Manual (CEC, 2016a).

Table 1: Prototype Characteristics					
	<u>Single Family</u> One-Story	<u>Single Family</u> <u>Two-Story</u>	<u>Multifamily</u>		
Conditioned Floor Area	2,100 ft ²	2,700 ft ²	6,960 ft ² : (4) 780 ft ² & (4) 960 ft ² units		
Num. of Stories	1	2	2		
Num. of Bedrooms	3	3	(4) 1-bed & (4) 2-bed units		
Window-to-Floor Area Ratio	20%	20%	15%		

	Table 1:	Prototype	Characteristics
--	----------	------------------	------------------------

The CEC's standard protocol for the single family prototypes is to weight the simulated energy impacts by a factor that represents the distribution of single-story and two-story homes being built statewide, assuming 45% single-story homes and 55% two-story homes. Simulation results in this study are therefore characterized according to this ratio, which is approximately equivalent to a 2,430 ft² house¹.

2.2 Efficiency Measures & Package Development

The California Energy Commission (CEC) CBECC-Res 2016 compliance simulation software was used to evaluate energy impacts using the 2016 prescriptive standards as the benchmark and the 2016 time dependent valuation (TDV) values. TDV is the energy metric used by the CEC since the 2005 Title 24 energy code to evaluate compliance with the Title 24 standards. TDV values energy use differently depending on the fuel source (gas, electricity, and propane), time of day, and season. TDV was developed to reflect the "societal value or cost" of energy including long-term projected costs of energy such as the cost of providing energy during peak periods of demand and other societal costs such as projected costs for carbon emissions. Electricity used (or saved) during peak periods of the summer has a much higher value than electricity used (or saved) during off-peak periods (Horii et al, 2014).

The compliance simulation software was updated since the gas/electric analysis was conducted. The latest version of the compliance simulation software available at the time of this analysis, CBECC-RES 2016.3.0, was used for the all-electric analysis.

The methodology used in the analyses for each of the prototypical building types begins with a design that precisely meets the minimum 2016 prescriptive requirements (0% compliance margin). A table of prescriptive measures used in each base design by climate zone is located in Appendix A. Using the 2016 baseline as the starting point, performance and costs for the all-electric proposed case are compared to the compliance model standard design. Beginning with the Tier 1 and Tier 2 packages developed in the gas/electric study, the analysis team replaced the natural gas appliances in the model with the following electric appliances.

- Split-system electric heat pump that meets the minimum federal requirements for efficiency; 14 SEER, 11.7 EER for cooling and 8.2 HSPF for heating. Heating capacity was sized based on heating loads from CBECC-Res for the standard design.²
- Heat pump water heater (HPWH) that either meets or exceeds the minimum federal requirement for efficiency, where the latter has federal preemption issues.
- Electric cooking and electric clothes drying.

 $^{^{1}}$ 2.430 ft² = 45% * 2.100 ft² + 55% * 2.700 ft²

² Cooling capacity is not a user-input in CBECC.

Due to the effects of TDV, the all-electric designs generally result in lower overall compliance margins compared to the gas/electric designs. To compensate for the compliance penalty, efficiency measures were added as necessary to attain similar compliance margins as in the gas/electric study. The costs of the additional measures are included in the analysis of cost effectiveness. It is important to note that the packages contained in this report are examples only; any project meeting requirements of a local ordinance, both single family and multifamily, must independently evaluate and identify the most cost effective approach based on project-specific factors. Any local ordinance should avoid requiring any efficiency measures that trigger federal preemption issues.

Following are descriptions of each of the efficiency measures applied in this analysis.

Quality Insulation Installation (QII): HERS rater verification of installation quality of insulation according to the procedures outlined in the 2016 Reference Appendices RA3.5 (CEC, 2016c). QII is included in all cases since it is a pre-requisite for all the voluntary tiers in 2016 CALGreen.

Reduced Infiltration (ACH50): HERS rater field verification and diagnostic testing of building air leakage according to the procedures outlined in the 2016 Reference Appendices RA3.8 (CEC, 2016c). The default infiltration assumption for single family homes is 5 air changes per hour at 50 Pascals (ACH50)³ and the reduced level applied in this analysis is 3 ACH50. This measure was not applied to multifamily homes because the modeling software does not allow this credit unless each unit is modeled individually, which is not typical in the compliance process for multifamily buildings.

<u>Window Performance</u>: Reduce window U-factor from the prescriptive value of 0.32 to 0.30 in all climates and reduce the solar heat gain coefficient (SHGC) from the prescriptive value of 0.25 to 0.23 in Climate Zone 2, 4, 6 through 16. In Climate Zones 1, 3, and 5 there is no prescriptive SHGC requirement and the default value of 0.50 is left as is.

Door Performance: Install insulated doors that meet a U-value of 0.20 at the front entry and doors between the house and garage. It's assumed there is a single 3' x 6'8" entry door per single family home and multifamily unit as well as a second 3' x 6'8" door to the garage per single family home.

<u>**Cool Roof</u>**: Install a roofing product that's rated by the Cool Roof Rating Council to have an aged solar reflectance of 0.20. This measure only applies to climate zones where this is not already required prescriptively.</u>

Exterior Wall Insulation: Increase wall cavity insulation from R-19 to R-21 in 2x6 walls.

<u>High Performance Attics (HPA)</u>: For climates where HPA is not already prescriptive under the 2016 code (CZ 1-3, 5-7), increase attic ceiling insulation to R-38 and add insulation under the roof deck between framing (R-13 for roof with air space, R-18 for roof without air space).

<u>High Efficacy Fan</u>: Upgrade the fan in the furnace or air handler and the distribution system to meet an efficacy of 0.3 Watts / cfm or lower operating at full speed. This is possible with design and installation of low static pressure duct systems combined with a constant torque brushless permanent magnent motor. Fan watt draw is verified by a HERS rater according to the procedures outlined in the 2016 Reference Appendices RA3.3 (CEC, 2016c). New federal regulations that go into effect July 3, 2019 are expected to result in equivalent performance for all newly manufactured furnaces provided that the ducts are sized properly.

³ Whole house leakage tested at a pressure difference of 50 Pascals between indoors and outdoors.

<u>Refrigerant Charge Verification</u>: HERS rater verification of proper air conditioner refrigerant charge according to the procedures outlined in the 2016 Reference Appendices RA3.2 (CEC, 2016c). This measure only applies to climate zones where this is not already required prescriptively.

<u>R-8 Duct Insulation</u>: Increase duct insulation to R-8. This measure only applies to climates zones where R-8 ducts are not already required prescriptively.

Low Leakage Ducts in Conditioned Space: This credit requires HERS rater verification that duct leakage does not exceed 25 cfm to the outside. A blower door must be used for this test.

Hot Water Pipe Insulation: As of January 1, 2017 the 2016 California Plumbing Code requires pipe insulation levels that are close to that required if taking the Title-24 pipe insulation credit. This credit will be obsolete under the 2016 energy code, however, the HERS-Verified Pipe Insulation Credit, as defined in the 2016 Reference Appendices RA3.6.3 (CEC, 2016c), will remain. While CBECC-Res has not yet been updated to reflect this, for this analysis it was assumed that the revised HERS verified credit would be equivalent to the current credit for pipe insulation without HERS verification. This was determined based on simulations that demonstrated the HERS credit to be valued at roughly twice that for pipe insulation without verification in terms of TDV energy. This credit was only applied to single family residences. For costing purposes, 120 linear feet of 1/2in insulated pipe is assumed to be insulated.

Hot Water Compact Distribution: HERS rater verification of compact distribution system requirements according to the procedures outlined in the 2016 Reference Appendices RA3.6.5 (CEC, 2016c). This measure was applied to multifamily buildings only. Many multifamily buildings with individual water heaters are expected to easily meet this credit with little or no alteration to plumbing design. This measure also requires verification of pipe insulation per the HERS-Verified Pipe Insulation Credit. Assumption is 60 linear feet per dwelling unit of 1/2in insulated pipe.

<u>Water Heater Located within Conditioned Space</u>: Moving the water heater into conditioned space, particularly from an exterior closet as is the standard case in certain multifamily buildings, reduces water heater energy use and provides cooling to the space which is beneficiaul during the cooling season. The additional cooling load also increases heating energy use during the heating season. HPWHs in conditioned space can be ducted to minimize thermal impacts but this option was not evaluated because CBECC-Res does not currently have the ability to model ducting of intlet or exhaust air.

PV and PV Compliance Credit: A PV compliance credit (PVCC) is available in all climate zones except six and seven. To be eligible for this compliance credit a PV system with a minimum capacity of 2 kW DC per single family home with no more than 2,000 ft² of conditioned floor area or 1 kW DC per multifamily unit with no more than 1,000 ft² of conditioned floor area is required. For the single family 2,430 ft² prototype the minimum capacity as calculated by CBECC-Res is 2.0 kW to 2.4 kW depending on the climate zone. The multifamily apartment units in the prototype are all under 1,000 ft² and therefore require a 1 kW system. See Table 18 and Table 19 in Appendix C for minimum PV system capacity required to be eligible for the PVCC. PV was modeled in CBECC-Res according to the California Flexible Installation (CFI). For costing, a micro inverter is assumed which is expected to be replaced at year 20.

2.3 All-Electric Package

The CBECC-Res compliance software requires the user to specify whether natural gas is available at the site, and adjusts the baseline assumptions and TDV values based on the selection. For newly constructed buildings, natural gas is defined as being available on site in the 2016 ACM Manual if a gas service line

can be connected to the site without a gas main extension⁴. As the baseline assumptions have a significant impact on the compliance margin, this analysis evaluated the cost-effectiveness of the designs with, and without, the availability of natural gas at the site. In both cases, the proposed design is compared to a home with electric appliances, with the exception of a propane gas tankless water heater in the "No Natural Gas" scenario and a natural gas tankless water heater in the "Natural Gas Available" scenario. All other appliances are electric, consistent with the fuel selections in the proposed design. Because TDV energy use for natural gas is roughly half that of propane, the "Natural Gas Available" scenario, with a minimum efficiency HPWH of 2.0 EF produces compliance penalties relative to the "No Natural Gas" design making it challenging in some climates to even comply with code. As a result, the evaluation applied a Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance (NEEA) rated HPWH with an energy factor equal to 3.17 in the model to attain comparable performance with the "No Natural Gas" scenario. Because this design includes a HPWH that exceeds minimum federal requirements, the "Natural Gas Available" scenario does not provide the basis for a local jurisdiction to specifically require the use of all electric equipment for new homes with access to natural gas. However, this analysis demonstrates that there are cost-effective all-electric options for buildings with natural gas available to provide builders the flexibility to select either a gas/electric or an all-electric design.

Table 2 summarizes the electric equipment measures applied in the proposed all-electric package compared with those assumed by the software in the standard design.

	Single Family			Multi-family					
	No Natu	ral Gas ¹	Natur Avai	Natural Gas Available		No Natural Gas		Natural Gas Available	
Measure	Standard	Proposed	Standard	Proposed	Standard	Proposed	Standard	Proposed	
Space Heating		Heat pump	o, 8.2 HSPF			Heat pump	, 8.2 HSPF		
Water Heating	Propane tankless 0.82 EF ²	HPWH 2.00 EF ³	Nat. Gas tankless 0.82 EF	HPWH 3.17 EF ⁴	Propane tankless 0.82 EF	HPWH, 2.00 EF	Nat. Gas tankless 0.82 EF	HPWH, 3.17 EF	
Water Heater Location		Garage			Exterior Closet				
Stove/Cooktop	Electric					Eleo	etric		
Clothes Dryer		Electric			Electric				

Table 2: Title 24 Standard Design (Baseline) Equipment Assumptions Compared with the						
Proposed All-Electric Package						

¹Refers to CBECC-Res checkbox "Natural Gas is available at the site".

²Energy Factor

³Calculated according to the latest federal efficiency standards, which define a minimum uniform energy factor (UEF). Conversion factor equations were applied to convert UEF to EF, which is the required input for the CBECC-Res simulation. A 65 gallon heat pump electric water heater was assumed.

⁴Assumes a NEEA rated 66 gallon HPWH with an energy factor above the minimum federal efficiency requirements. DOE preemption regulations do not allow mandating the use of high efficiency federally-regulated equipment without appropriate options, thus restricting a local jurisdiction from making this package a stand-alone mandatory requirement.

⁴ 2016 Residential Alternative Calculation Method Reference Manual. Section 2.2.10 http://www.energy.ca.gov/2015publications/CEC-400-2015-024/CEC-400-2015-024-CMF-REV2.pdf

2.3.1 <u>NEEA-rated Heat Pump Water Heaters (HPWH)</u>

The water heater used in the "Natural Gas Available" scenario is a NEEA-rated unit that exceeds federal minimum efficiency requirements. The federal standard for residential electric water heaters greater than 55 gallons requires an Energy Factor of 2.0 that precludes the use of electric resistance technology. Based on operational challenges experienced in the past, Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance (NEEA) established rating test criteria to ensure newly installed HPWHs perform adequately, especially in colder climates. The NEEA rating requires an Energy Factor equal to the ENERGY STAR performance level, and also includes requirements regarding noise and prioritizing heat pump use over supplemental electric resistance heating. According to NEEA, virtually all HPWH sales in the Pacific Northwest territory are NEEA-certified units.

To encourage manufacturers to test their products, the CEC CBECC-Res compliance software uses conservative performance assumptions when the unit is not tested, which result in a compliance penalty for non-NEEA rated HPWHs. Using the DOE minimum in CBECC-Res for the "Natural Gas Available" scenario results in a building that is in many climate zones non-compliant with 2016 Title 24, Part 6. In some mild climate zones where the water heating load is a substantial portion of the total compliance budget, this compliance penalty is larger than the combined heating and cooling budgets, and cannot be made up with efficiency measures alone.

2.4 Measure Costs

Table 3 below summarizes the costs applied for shifting from gas to electric appliances and the savings associated with eliminating new natural gas infrastructure where it isn't already available. Cost details for other efficiency measures included in this analysis can be found in Appendix B.

	Incremental Cost				
	Single Family		MF – Per Unit		
Measure	No NG	NG	No NG	NG	Source & Notes
	1010	110	110110	110	
Site Gas	(\$350)	(\$1.500)	(\$350)	(\$500)	
Infrastructure ¹	(\$550)	(\$1,500)	(4550)	(0000)	
In-house Gas	(\$200)	(***	(\$150)	(0150)	
Infrastructure ¹	(\$200)	(\$200)	(\$150)	(\$150)	See description below.
Electric Service	#2 00	\$300	\$200	\$2 00	
Upgrade	\$200	\$200	\$200	\$200	
Heat Pump Water	¢1 115	¢1 402	¢1 115	¢1 402	San decomination halow
Heater	\$1,115	\$1,403	\$1,115	\$1,405	See description below.
Electric Dryer	\$0	(\$100)	\$0	\$0	Internet search comparing product pricing. Installation labor assumed the same as base.

1. Natural gas or propane.

The all-electric infrastructure and water heater costs are based on the following assumptions:

• Site Gas Infrastructure (to Building Meter). Natural gas infrastructure costs for installing a service gas line from the utility main to the point of service and providing a gas meter are \$1,500 for single family and \$500 per dwelling unit for multifamily. Estimates are based on multiple sources including a PG&E online calculator⁵, an EPRI study (EPRI, 2016), and costs provided by both single and multifamily builders and developers. Site infrastructure costs for multifamily are

⁵https://www.pge.com/en/myhome/customerservice/other/newconstruction/projectcosts/results.page?servi ceType=gas&gasType=gas_new&electricOverType=&electricUnderType=&pevType=&proj=gas_new
on a per apartment unit basis assuming a single gas main run to the building, and all gas meters in a single location at the building. These costs are expected to be conservative for a new residential development, and don't include the full savings from eliminating natural gas infrastructure to serve entire subdivisions, particularly in locations with difficult or long gas piping and trenching requirements.

Costs for the "No Natural Gas" scenario represent those associated with installing a propane tank and providing propane service to the building. The \$350 for both single family and multifamily represent \$75 for a concrete pad, \$75 for a meter/regulator, and \$200 for piping. Many propane suppliers do not charge for the propane tank, provided the customer enters into a contract. To avoid overstating propane costs the analysis does not include the cost of the storage tank.

- In-House Gas Infrastructure (from Meter to Appliances). Installation costs to run a gas line from the meter to the appliance location is \$200 per appliance for single family and \$150 for multifamily. The cost estimates include providing gas to the water heater only. This estimate was based on the EPRI study and costs provided by builders.
- Electric Service Upgrade. The EPRI study estimated \$600 for additional electric service including panel upgrades and running 220V service to the water heater, air handler, dryer, and stove. For this analysis, the incremental cost only represents additional service for the water heater, for both single family and multifamily, and the dryer for single family. It is assumed that typical practice in a mixed fuel home is to run both gas and 220V service for the dryer, therefore there is no assumed incremental cost for the electric dryer. The assumed incremental cost is \$200 for both single family and multifamily.
- Water Heater (HPWH). Incremental costs for the heat pump water heater are relative to a gas tankless 0.82 EF water heater which meets minimum prescriptive requirements, and include equipment, labor and replacement costs. Details are provided in Table 4 below. The "No Natural Gas" case in Table 3 is based on the 2.0 Energy Factor HPWH. The "Natural Gas Available" case is based on the NEEA-rated HPWH.

	Gas	2.0 EF	NEEA	
Component	Tankless	HPWH	HPWH	Source & Notes
First material cost	\$1,150	\$1,368	\$1,570	Internet search comparing products
First labor cost	\$326	\$468	\$468	Itron cost study (Itron, 2014)
Present value of replacement	\$513	\$1,269	\$1,354	Assumes 13 year equipment life for HPWHs ⁶ , 20- year life for tankless water heaters (DOE, 2016), and the lifecycle terms described in Section 2.6.
Total Cost	\$1,989	\$3,105	\$3,392	
Incremental Cost	-	\$1,115	\$1,403	

Table 4: HPWH Cost Assumptions

2.5 PV Performance Packages

Two performance packages that include photovoltaic (PV) systems were evaluated for the all-electric scenarios, as the study assumes projects complying with an all-electric above code local ordinance will also be incorporating PV systems. Efficiency-only packages are not included in this analysis, because based on customer utility rates, all-electric efficiency-only packages result in higher utility costs than

⁶ HPWH life based on average lifetime for storage tank water heaters.

similar designs with natural gas appliances. In both these cases PV is evaluated in CBECC-Res according to the California Flexible Installation (CFI).

- <u>PV-Plus:</u> The current CEC proposal for minimum PV system sizing under the 2019 code requires a PV system large enough to offset the estimated electricity usage in a mixed-fuel building. If allelectric designs were also required to offset the total electricity use, they would be forced to purchase and install much larger PV systems, effectively penalizing all-electric designs. This package is designed to yield a minimum PV system size consistent with the PV-Plus package in the CALGreen Cost-Effectiveness study (DEG, 2016), also the same methodology used in the California Energy Commission's proposed Solar PV Ordinance (CEC, 2017). PV systems are sized to offset approximately 80% of estimated annual electricity consumption in a gas/electric home. This results in PV systems sized to offset less than 80% (33%-73%) of the total building electricity use in the all-electric design, but relies on a PV system size that is the same, independent of fuel mix. It is important to note that the system sizes in this report are examples only; all projects must independently evaluate the actual electricity use and appropriate PV system size to comply with code and meet the customer's long-term objectives.
- <u>Zero-Electric</u>: Exceed Title 24, Part 6 through building energy efficiency and install a PV system sized to offset 100% of estimated building site electricity use (total kWh), including appliances and plug loads. For the all-electric case, this system size is typically slightly larger than sizing the PV system to offset 100% of the TDV energy use, based on 2016 TDV.

In some instances, particularly in the hot valley and cold climate zones with the zero-electric package, there may not be sufficient unshaded roof space for the required PV capacity. For these cases exceptions will need to be developed similar to what the CEC is proposing for the 2019 Title 24, Part 6 Standards.

2.6 Cost-Effectiveness

This analysis uses a customer-based approach to evaluating cost effectiveness consistent with the methodology applied in the main CALGreen Cost-Effectiveness Study (DEG, 2016).

The current residential utility rates at the time of the analysis were used to calculate utility costs and determine cost effectiveness for the proposed packages. Annual utility costs were calculated using hourly electricity and gas output from CBECC-Res and applying the utility tariffs summarized in Table 5. Appendix D includes the utility rate schedules used for this study. The standard residential rate (E1 in PG&E territory, D in SCE territory, & DR in SDG&E) was applied to the base case and a time-of-use (TOU) rate was applied to all proposed cases (with PV systems).⁷ Any annual electricity production in excess of annual electricity consumption is credited to the utility account at the applicable wholesale rate based on the approved NEM2 tariffs for that utility. Minimum delivery bill and mandatory non-bypassable charges have been applied. Future changes to NEM tariffs including devaluation of solar production have not been evaluated since the proposed changes are still unknown. Net surplus compensation rates for each utility are as follows⁸:

• PG&E: \$0.0272 / kWh

(http://www.pge.com/en/myhome/saveenergymoney/plans/tou/index.page?).

⁷ Under NEM rulings by the CPUC (D-16-01-144, 1/28/16), all new PV customers shall be in an approved TOU rate structure. As of March 2016, all new PG&E net energy metering (NEM) customers are enrolled in a time-of-use rate.

⁸ Net surplus compensation rates for each utility are based on a 1-year average over the period October 2016 – September 2017.

- SCE: \$0.0256 / kWh
- SDG&E: \$0.0275 / kWh

Climate Zones	Electric / Gas Utility	Electricity (Standard)	Electricity (Time-of-use)	Natural Gas
1-5, 11-13, 16	PG&E	E1	E-TOU, Option A	G1
6, 8-10, 14, 15	SCE / SoCal Gas	D	TOU-D-T	GR
7	SDG&E	DR	DR-SES	GR

Table 5: IOU Utility Tariffs used based on Climate Zone

Propane costs used for the Standard Design basecase in the "No Natural Gas" scenario, were based on an average rate of \$2.12/gallon (equivalent to \$2.32/therm). This was calculated as the average weekly U.S. residential propane rate from January 2015 through January 2017 based on data from the U.S. Energy Information Administration⁹.

Cost effectiveness was evaluated for all sixteen climate zones and is presented according to lifecycle customer benefit-to-cost ratio. The benefit-to-cost ratio is a metric which represents the cost effectiveness of energy efficiency over a 30-year lifetime taking into account discounting of future savings and financing of incremental costs. A value of one (1.0) indicates the savings over the life of the measure are equivalent to the incremental cost of that measure. A value greater than one (1.0) represents a positive return on investment. The ratio is calculated as follows:

$$Lifecycle \ Benefit \ Cost \ Ratio = \frac{Equation \ 1}{(First \ incremental \ cost \ * \ Financing \ factor)}$$

The lifecycle cost factor is 19.6 and was calculated using Equation 2 as follows. No utility rate escalation is assumed.

Lifecycle Cost Factor =
$$\frac{1-(1+disc)^{-n}}{disc}$$
 Equation 2

Where:

- n = analysis and financing term of 30-years
- disc = real discount rate of 3%

The financing factor is calculated as follows:

Financing Factor =
$$\frac{PV_{Mortgage \, Increase} - PV_{Tax \, Savings}}{L}$$
 Equation 3

Where:

- L =first incremental cost (\$)
- *PV_{Mortgage Increase}* = Present value of increased mortgage costs
- *PV_{Tax Savings}* = Present value of tax savings from additional interest payments due to increased mortgage

⁹ <u>http://www.eia.gov/dnav/pet/pet_pri_wfr_a_EPLLPA_PRS_dpgal_w.htm</u>

PV_{Mortgage Increase} is calculated using Equations 4 and 5.

$$P = L \frac{\left[\frac{c}{12} * \left(1 + \frac{c}{12}\right)^{n+12}\right]}{\left[\left(1 + \frac{c}{12}\right)^{n+12} - 1\right]} \qquad Equation \ 4$$

$$PV_{Mortgage\,Increase} = P * 12 \frac{1 - (1 + disc)^{-n}}{disc}$$
 Equation 5

Where:

- *P* = incremental monthly mortgage payment (\$)
- c = loan interest rate of 4.5%

PV_{Tax Savings} is calculated using Equations 6 and 7.

Annual Tax Savings = balance
$$*c * taxrate$$
 Equation 6

$$PV_{Tax \, Savings} = \sum_{n=1}^{30} Annual \, Tax \, Savings * \frac{1}{(1+disc)^n}$$
 Equation 7

Where:

- *taxrate* = average tax rate of 20% (to account for tax savings due to loan interest deductions)
- *balance* = balance of incremental cost of mortgage at beginning of each year

The financing factor based on the above assumptions was 1.068 for this study.

Simple payback is also presented and is calculated using the equation below. Based on the terms described above the lifecycle cost-to-benefit ratio threshold of one is roughly equivalent to a simple payback of 18 years. Maintenance costs were not included because there are no incremental maintenance costs expected for any of these measures. There is no assumed maintenance on the envelope measures and for HVAC and DHW measures there should not be any additional maintenance cost for a more efficient version of the same system type as the baseline. Replacement costs for inverters were included for PV systems.

Simple payback = First incremental cost / Annual customer utility cost savings Equation 8

2.7 Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Equivalent CO_2 emission savings were calculated using the following emission factors (Table 6). Electricity factors are specific to California electricity production.

		Source
Electricity	0.724 lb. CO ₂ -e / kWh	U.S. Environmental Protection Agency's 2007 eGRID
		data. ¹⁰
Natural Gas	11.7 lb. CO ₂ -e / Therm	Emission rates for natural gas combustion as reported by
		the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency's GHG
		Equivalencies Calculator. ¹¹
Propane	139.05 lb. CO ₂ -e / MMBtu	Emission rates for propane combustion as reported by the
		U.S. Environmental Protection Agency's GHG Emissions
		Coefficients. ¹²

Table 6: Equivalent CO₂ Emissions Factors

3 <u>Results</u>

A cost-effectiveness analysis evaluating two performance packages that include both efficiency measures and PV systems was completed for all sixteen climate zones.

3.1 Single Family Results

3.1.1 Single Family Cost-Effectiveness Analysis

A comparison of cost-effectiveness for the two PV performance packages (PV-Plus and Zero-Electric) and two scenarios in each climate zone is presented in Figure 1. Results are presented for the blended 2,430 ft² single family prototype, which is consistent with the main report for the gas/electric cases. Table 7 and Table 8 provide the results in tabular form along with energy and greenhouse gas (GHG) savings for each PV performance tier for the "No Natural Gas" and "Natural Gas Available" scenarios, respectively. The lifecycle benefit-to-cost (B/C) ratio threshold of 1.0 is roughly equivalent to a simple payback of 18 years. Gas savings are a result of the standard design including gas water heating (both scenarios) and gas clothes drying ("Natural Gas Available" scenario). Savings for the "No Natural Gas" cases are based upon fuel costs and GHG values for propane.

The PV system capacity for the PV-Plus packages range from 1.8 to 4.6 kW DC depending on climate. The required Zero-Electric PV capacity (to offset site electricity use) ranges from 3.8 kW DC in the mild climates (CZ7) to 6.9 kW DC in very cold climates (CZ16), based on the "Natural Gas Available" scenario. Zero-Electric PV sizes for the "No Natural Gas" cases are between 0.3 and 0.7 kW larger, depending on climate zone, due to higher energy use of the minimum efficiency HPWH.

The PV-Plus cases demonstrate cost-effectiveness with a B/C ratio ranging from 1.30 to 2.58. The Zero-Electric cases also all demonstrate cost-effectiveness with a B/C ratio ranging from 1.35 to 2.11. Cost-effectiveness for the "Natural Gas Available" cases are slightly better than the "No Natural Gas" cases in all climates. Greenhouse gas (GHG) reductions for the two PV packages average 58% and 100% for the PV-Plus and Zero-Electric cases, respectively.

¹⁰ <u>https://www.epa.gov/energy/ghg-equivalencies-calculator-calculations-and-references</u>

¹¹ <u>https://www.epa.gov/energy/greenhouse-gas-equivalencies-calculator</u>

¹² https://www.eia.gov/environment/emissions/co2_vol_mass.php



Figure 1: Single family all-electric cost-effectiveness comparison

Climate Zone	Compliance Margin	PV Capacity (kW)	Elec Savings (kWh)	Gas Savings (therms) ¹	GHG % Savings ²	Package Cost ³	Utility Cost Savings	Simple Payback	Lifecycle Benefit-to- Cost Ratio
No Natura	al Gas¹			-					
CZ1	34.0%	3.0	3,659	137.0	52.2%	\$13,052	\$1,234	10.6	1.74
CZ2	33.4%	2.5	3,405	122.9	55.8%	\$10,973	\$1,141	9.6	1.91
CZ3	23.6%	2.6	2,714	123.5	55.5%	\$10,178	\$953	10.7	1.72
CZ4	34.1%	2.3	2,404	117.6	48.3%	\$9,137	\$890	10.3	1.79
CZ5	24.4%	2.3	2,466	126.4	53.4%	\$9,137	\$925	9.9	1.86
CZ6	17.9%	2.5	2,568	112.2	57.0%	\$9,879	\$765	12.9	1.42
CZ7	17.5%	1.8	1,592	110.4	48.9%	\$7,837	\$650	12.1	1.52
CZ8	43.8%	2.6	2,726	107.5	59.8%	\$10,054	\$761	13.2	1.39
CZ9	43.6%	2.5	2,813	107.3	56.9%	\$9,846	\$745	13.2	1.39
CZ10	37.9%	2.5	2,918	106.5	55.9%	\$9,766	\$693	14.1	1.30
CZ11	37.2%	3.5	4,802	108.7	60.4%	\$13,326	\$1,247	10.7	1.72
CZ12	34.7%	2.9	3,305	114.3	54.0%	\$11,095	\$957	11.6	1.58
CZ13	33.8%	3.7	4,725	106.6	60.6%	\$13,834	\$1,199	11.5	1.59
CZ14	33.7%	2.5	3,673	110.0	50.3%	\$9,923	\$880	11.3	1.63
CZ15	33.3%	4.6	7,568	79.6	73.4%	\$16,858	\$1,451	11.6	1.58
CZ16	36.4%	2.5	3,683	136.0	43.8%	\$10,420	\$1,327	7.9	2.34
Natural G	as Available								
CZ1	40.7%	3.0	4,570	137.0	58.3%	\$11,994	\$1,282	9.4	1.96
CZ2	30.9%	2.5	3,971	122.9	59.8%	\$9,915	\$1,141	8.7	2.11
CZ3	22.5%	2.6	3,513	123.5	62.7%	\$9,120	\$1,005	9.1	2.02
CZ4	32.8%	2.3	3,149	117.6	54.3%	\$8,079	\$935	8.6	2.13
CZ5	22.8%	2.3	3,281	126.4	60.6%	\$8,079	\$977	8.3	2.22
CZ6	15.7%	2.5	3,264	112.2	63.9%	\$8,820	\$785	11.2	1.63
CZ7	12.4%	1.8	2,259	110.4	55.8%	\$6,779	\$690	9.8	1.87
CZ8	41.0%	2.6	3,383	107.5	66.6%	\$8,996	\$781	11.5	1.59
CZ9	42.6%	2.5	3,468	107.3	63.2%	\$8,788	\$764	11.5	1.60
CZ10	36.2%	2.5	3,572	106.5	61.8%	\$8,708	\$713	12.2	1.50
CZ11	37.2%	3.5	5,484	108.7	65.4%	\$12,268	\$1,272	9.6	1.90
CZ12	33.6%	2.9	4,027	114.3	59.7%	\$10,037	\$988	10.2	1.81
CZ13	33.1%	3.7	5,386	106.6	65.6%	\$12,776	\$1,221	10.5	1.75
CZ14	33.2%	2.5	4,384	110.0	55.2%	\$8,864	\$908	9.8	1.88
CZ15	33.1%	4.6	8,073	79.6	77.0%	\$15,800	\$1,484	10.6	1.72
CZ16	31.9%	2.5	4,220	136.0	46.0%	\$9,362	\$1,316	7.1	2.58

Table 7: Single Family All-Electric PV-Plus Performance Package Cost-Effectiveness Results

¹Savings for "No Natural Gas" case are propane savings from elimination of propane water heater. Gas savings are therms equivalent.

² Based on CA electricity production and equivalent CO₂ emission rates of 0.724 lbCO₂e/kWh, 11.7 lb-CO₂e/therm natural gas & 13.9 lb-CO₂e/therm propane.

³ Includes ten percent markup for builder profit and overhead.

Climate	Compliance	PV Capacity	Elec Savings	Gas Savings	GHG %	Package	Utility Cost	Simple	Lifecycle Benefit-to-
Zone No Natura	iviargin I Gas ¹	(KVV)	(KVVN)	(therms) ²	Savings	Cost	Savings	Раураск	Cost Ratio
CZ1	34.0%	7.3	9.417	137.0	100%	\$27,344	\$2,242	12.2	1.50
C72	33.4%	5.4	7.972	122.9	100%	\$20.612	\$2.005	10.3	1.79
CZ3	23.6%	5.1	6.789	123.5	100%	\$18.487	\$1.719	10.8	1.71
CZ4	34.1%	5.4	7.395	117.6	100%	\$19.440	\$1.834	10.6	1.73
CZ5	24.4%	4.8	6.739	126.4	100%	\$17,446	\$1.712	10.2	1.80
CZ6	17.9%	4.7	6,131	112.2	100%	\$17,191	\$1,285	13.4	1.37
CZ7	17.5%	4.2	5,464	110.4	100%	\$15,814	\$1,409	11.2	1.64
CZ8	43.8%	4.6	5,952	107.5	100%	\$16,701	\$1,229	13.6	1.35
CZ9	43.6%	4.7	6,504	107.3	100%	\$17,158	\$1,312	13.1	1.40
CZ10	37.9%	4.9	6,839	106.5	100%	\$17,742	\$1,316	13.5	1.36
CZ11	37.2%	6.3	9,313	108.7	100%	\$22,632	\$2,090	10.8	1.69
CZ12	34.7%	5.9	7,996	114.3	100%	\$21,066	\$1,802	11.7	1.57
CZ13	33.8%	6.5	9,122	106.6	100%	\$23,140	\$2,008	11.5	1.59
CZ14	33.7%	5.7	9,383	110.0	100%	\$20,558	\$1,854	11.1	1.65
CZ15	33.3%	6.6	10,862	79.6	100%	\$23,505	\$2,078	11.3	1.62
CZ16	36.4%	7.2	11,769	136.0	100%	\$26,041	\$2,889	9.0	2.04
Natural G	as Available								
CZ1	40.7%	6.6	9,417	137.0	100%	\$23,959	\$2,102	11.4	1.61
CZ2	30.9%	5.0	7,972	122.9	100%	\$18,224	\$1,880	9.7	1.89
CZ3	22.5%	4.6	6,789	123.5	100%	\$15,767	\$1,592	9.9	1.85
CZ4	32.8%	4.9	7,395	117.6	100%	\$16,720	\$1,715	9.8	1.88
CZ5	22.8%	4.3	6,739	126.4	100%	\$14,726	\$1,582	9.3	1.97
CZ6	15.7%	4.3	6,131	112.2	100%	\$14,803	\$1,180	12.5	1.46
CZ7	12.4%	3.8	5,464	110.4	100%	\$13,426	\$1,292	10.4	1.77
CZ8	41.0%	4.2	5,952	107.5	100%	\$14,314	\$1,133	12.6	1.45
CZ9	42.6%	4.3	6,504	107.3	100%	\$14,770	\$1,214	12.2	1.51
CZ10	36.2%	4.5	6,839	106.5	100%	\$15,355	\$1,219	12.6	1.46
CZ11	37.2%	5.9	9,313	108.7	100%	\$20,245	\$1,969	10.3	1.79
CZ12	33.6%	5.4	7,996	114.3	100%	\$18,346	\$1,686	10.9	1.69
CZ13	33.1%	6.1	9,122	106.6	100%	\$20,753	\$1,909	10.9	1.69
CZ14	33.2%	5.3	9,383	110.0	100%	\$18,170	\$1,752	10.4	1.77
CZ15	33.1%	6.3	10,862	79.6	100%	\$21,450	\$2,014	10.7	1.72
CZ16	31.9%	6.9	11,769	136.0	100%	\$23,986	\$2,751	8.7	2.11

Table 8: Single Family All-Electric Zero Electric Performance Package Cost-Effectiveness Results

¹Savings for "No Natural Gas" case are propane savings from elimination of propane water heater. Gas savings are therms equivalent.

² Based on CA electricity production and equivalent CO₂ emission rates of 0.724 lbCO₂e/kWh, 11.7 lb-CO₂e/therm natural gas & 13.9 lb-CO₂e/therm propane.

³ Includes ten percent markup for builder profit and overhead.

3.1.2 Single Family Packages

PV-Plus & Zero-Electric: Cost-effective all-electric packages using both efficiency and PV to exceed the minimum requirements were identified in all 16 climate zones. Table 9 summarizes the cost-effective efficiency measures used in each climate zone. In most cases the measures in these packages reflect those in the mixed fuel PV performance packages. In Climate Zones 9 through 14, additional efficiency measures (shown as values in red in the table) were added to meet the 30% compliance margin target. The "Natural Gas Available" scenarios include the same efficiency measures with the addition of the high efficiency HPWH.

	0	-			0	00			e
Climate Zone	PV Compliance Credit	qi	ACH50	Window U- value / SHGC	Door U-value	НРА	AH Fan W/cfm	HPWH Location ¹	HERS Verified HW Pipe Insul.
CZ1	Y	Y	3.0	.30/.50	0.20	Y		Gar	Y
CZ2	Y	Y		.30/.50	0.20	Y		CS	Y
CZ3	Y	Y		.30/.50	0.20			Gar	
CZ4	Y	Y		.30/.23				Gar	
CZ5	Y	Y		.30/.50				Gar	
CZ6	N/A	Y					0.30	Gar	
CZ7	N/A	Y		.30/.23	0.20		0.30	Gar	Y
CZ8	Y	Y						Gar	
CZ9	Y	Y		.30/.23	0.20			Gar	
CZ10	Y	Y			0.20			Gar	
CZ11	Y	Y		.30/.23	0.20		0.30	Gar	
CZ12	Y	Y			0.20			Gar	
CZ13	Y	Y		.30/.23	0.20			Gar	
CZ14	Y	Y			0.20		0.30	Gar	
CZ15	Y	Y					0.30	Gar	
CZ16	Y	Y	3.0	.30/.23	0.20		0.30	CS	

Table 9: Single Family All-Electric PV Packages: Cost-Effective Measures Summary

Values in red indicate a change between the gas/electric and all-electric results. ${}^{1}CS =$ conditioned space; Gar = garage.

3.2 Multifamily Results

3.2.1 <u>Multifamily Cost-Effectiveness Analysis</u>

A comparison of cost-effectiveness for the multifamily prototype is presented in Figure 2. Table 10 and

Table 11 provide the results in tabular form, along with energy and greenhouse gas savings for each PV performance tier for the "No Natural Gas" and "Natural Gas Available" scenarios, respectively. *All multifamily results are presented on a per dwelling unit basis.* The above-code compliance targets are more difficult to achieve with the multifamily prototype than single family. Water heating compliance margins are lower in the multifamily model due to higher standby losses and lower efficiencies resulting from modeling the multifamily HPWH in an outdoor closet instead of in the attached garage, as in the single family prototypes.

Cost-effectiveness results are presented for the two PV performance packages (PV-Plus and Zero-Electric) in each climate zone. The lifecycle B/C ratio threshold of 1.0 is roughly equivalent to a simple payback of 18 years. Table 10 and

Table 11 summarize the cost-effectiveness of the two PV performance packages including the PV capacity necessary to offset the site electricity use for each case. Gas savings are a result of the standard design

including gas water heating (both scenarios). Savings for the "No Natural Gas" cases are based upon fuel costs and GHG values for propane.

The PV capacity for the PV-Plus packages are sized using the same methodology as for the single family analysis and range from 1.3 to 2.1 kW DC depending on climate. The required Zero-Electric PV capacity per apartment ranges from 2.5 kW DC in the mild climates (CZ7) to 3.7 kW DC in colder climates (CZ1) for the "Natural Gas Available" scenario. For the multifamily prototype 8-unit apartment building, this is equivalent to 20 to 30 kW for the building. Zero-Electric PV sizes for the "No Natural Gas" cases are between 0.2 and 0.4 kW larger, depending on climate zone, due to higher energy use of the minimum efficiency HPWH.

The PV-Plus cases demonstrate cost-effectiveness with a B/C ratio ranging from 1.10 to 1.73. The Zero-Electric cases also all demonstrate cost-effectiveness with a B/C ratio ranging from 1.16 to 1.65. Cost-effectiveness for the "No Natural Gas" cases is better than or equal to the "Natural Gas Available" cases in most climates except in some mild climates and Climate Zone 15.

Greenhouse gas (GHG) reductions for the two PV packages average 54% and 100% for the PV-Plus and Zero-Electric cases, respectively.



Figure 2: Multifamily all-electric cost-effectiveness comparison

	<i>I ubie</i> 10. 1	mungunn	у Аш-Шеси		erjor man	te I uchuge C	DSI-LJJECHVE	ness nesi	1115
Climate Zone	Compliance Margin	PV Capacity (kW)	Elec Savings (kWh)	Gas Savings (therms) ¹	GHG % Savings ²	Package Cost ³	Utility Cost Savings	Simple Payback	Lifecycle Benefit-to- Cost Ratio
No Natur	al Gas ¹								
CZ1	19.2%	1.6	998	96.4	43.2%	\$6,309	\$444	14.2	1.29
CZ2	24.7%	1.4	1,176	86.5	46.0%	\$5 <i>,</i> 686	\$457	12.4	1.47
CZ3	12.8%	1.5	1,140	86.9	49.0%	\$6,789	\$484	14.0	1.31
CZ4	33.8%	1.3	1,155	82.8	46.4%	\$5,374	\$441	12.2	1.50
CZ5	22.9%	1.4	1,327	89.0	53.0%	\$5,906	\$478	12.4	1.49
CZ6	25.4%	1.5	1,448	79.1	54.7%	\$5,997	\$390	15.4	1.19
CZ7	24.9%	1.3	1,210	77.9	51.3%	\$5,457	\$414	13.2	1.39
CZ8	36.7%	1.5	1,573	75.8	55.3%	\$5,997	\$400	15.0	1.23
CZ9	37.0%	1.4	1,488	75.7	51.7%	\$5 <i>,</i> 563	\$364	15.3	1.20
CZ10	36.6%	1.4	1,509	75.1	50.8%	\$5,563	\$353	15.8	1.16
CZ11	30.1%	1.7	1,998	76.5	52.8%	\$6,498	\$553	11.8	1.56
CZ12	33.4%	1.5	1,502	80.5	49.1%	\$5,875	\$488	12.0	1.53
CZ13	30.9%	1.8	2,109	75.1	54.5%	\$6,809	\$565	12.1	1.52
CZ14	30.4%	1.3	1,603	77.4	46.5%	\$5,251	\$352	14.9	1.23
CZ15	28.4%	2.1	3,255	56.2	62.7%	\$7,744	\$540	14.3	1.28
CZ16	25.4%	1.3	1,105	95.5	38.6%	\$5,137	\$484	10.6	1.73
Natural G	as Available								
CZ1	11.4%	1.6	1,527	96.4	52.2%	\$7,011	\$420	16.7	1.10
CZ2	16.1%	1.4	1,553	86.5	52.7%	\$5,838	\$443	13.2	1.39
CZ3	12.1%	1.5	1,758	86.9	60.9%	\$6,940	\$474	14.6	1.25
CZ4	27.8%	1.3	1,526	82.8	53.3%	\$5,526	\$429	12.9	1.43
CZ5	10.8%	1.4	1,732	89.0	60.7%	\$6,058	\$466	13.0	1.41
CZ6	19.1%	1.5	1,829	79.1	62.3%	\$6,149	\$402	15.3	1.20
CZ7	20.2%	1.3	1,606	77.9	59.5%	\$5 <i>,</i> 608	\$427	13.1	1.40
CZ8	35.6%	1.5	1,964	75.8	63.0%	\$6,149	\$420	14.6	1.25
CZ9	35.6%	1.4	1,886	75.7	59.3%	\$5,715	\$385	14.8	1.24
CZ10	34.3%	1.4	1,900	75.1	58.1%	\$5,715	\$374	15.3	1.20
CZ11	28.2%	1.7	2,366	76.5	58.8%	\$6 <i>,</i> 650	\$547	12.2	1.51
CZ12	30.7%	1.5	1,885	80.5	55.8%	\$6,026	\$481	12.5	1.47
CZ13	28.6%	1.8	2,482	75.1	60.7%	\$6,961	\$561	12.4	1.48
CZ14	27.9%	1.3	1,971	77.4	52.5%	\$5,403	\$367	14.7	1.25
CZ15	29.6%	2.1	3,654	56.2	68.8%	\$7,896	\$589	13.4	1.37
CZ16	16.9%	1.3	1,469	95.5	44.0%	\$5,289	\$460	11.5	1.60

Table 10: Multifamily All-Electric PV-Plus Performance Package Cost-Effectiveness Results

¹Savings for "No Natural Gas" case are propane savings from elimination of propane water heater. Gas savings are therms equivalent. ²Based on CA electricity production and equivalent CO₂ emission rates of 0.724 lbCO₂e/kWh, 11.7 lb-CO₂e/therm natural gas & 13.9 lb-CO₂e/therm propane.

³ Includes ten percent markup for builder profit and overhead.

Climate Zone	Compliance Margin	PV Capacity (kW)	Elec Savings (kWh)	Gas Savings (therms) ¹	GHG % Savings ²	Package Cost ³	Utility Cost Savings	Simple Payback	Lifecycle Benefit- Cost Ratio
No Natural	Gas ¹			-	1				
CZ1	19.2%	4.1	4,355	96.4	100%	\$14,099	\$973	14.5	1.27
CZ2	24.7%	3.3	4,198	86.5	100%	\$11,606	\$926	12.5	1.47
CZ3	12.8%	3.2	3,789	86.9	100%	\$12,086	\$855	14.1	1.30
CZ4	33.8%	3.1	4,038	82.8	100%	\$10,983	\$888	12.4	1.48
CZ5	22.9%	2.9	3,783	89.0	100%	\$10,580	\$858	12.3	1.49
CZ6	25.4%	2.9	3,709	79.1	100%	\$10,360	\$683	15.2	1.21
CZ7	24.9%	2.7	3,556	77.9	100%	\$9,819	\$823	11.9	1.54
CZ8	36.7%	2.9	3,834	75.8	100%	\$10,360	\$702	14.8	1.24
CZ9	37.0%	2.9	4,017	75.7	100%	\$10,237	\$722	14.2	1.29
CZ10	36.6%	3.0	4,142	75.1	100%	\$10,548	\$735	14.3	1.28
CZ11	30.1%	3.5	4,895	76.5	100%	\$12,106	\$1,021	11.9	1.55
CZ12	33.4%	3.4	4,409	80.5	100%	\$11,795	\$949	12.4	1.48
CZ13	30.9%	3.6	4,878	75.1	100%	\$12,418	\$1,014	12.2	1.50
CZ14	30.4%	3.1	4,891	77.4	100%	\$10,860	\$863	12.6	1.46
CZ15	28.4%	3.6	5,727	56.2	100%	\$12,418	\$950	13.1	1.40
CZ16	25.4%	3.8	5,311	95.5	100%	\$12,927	\$1,164	11.1	1.65
Natural Gas	Available								
CZ1	11.4%	3.7	4,355	96.4	100%	\$13,554	\$875	15.5	1.19
CZ2	16.1%	3.1	4,198	86.5	100%	\$11,135	\$839	13.3	1.38
CZ3	12.1%	2.8	3,789	86.9	100%	\$10,991	\$765	14.4	1.28
CZ4	27.8%	2.9	4,038	82.8	100%	\$10,511	\$805	13.1	1.41
CZ5	10.8%	2.6	3,783	89.0	100%	\$9,797	\$761	12.9	1.43
CZ6	19.1%	2.7	3,709	79.1	100%	\$9,888	\$627	15.8	1.16
CZ7	20.2%	2.5	3,556	77.9	100%	\$9,348	\$740	12.6	1.45
CZ8	35.6%	2.7	3,834	75.8	100%	\$9,888	\$652	15.2	1.21
CZ9	35.6%	2.7	4,017	75.7	100%	\$9,765	\$671	14.6	1.26
CZ10	34.3%	2.8	4,142	75.1	100%	\$10,077	\$686	14.7	1.25
CZ11	28.2%	3.3	4,895	76.5	100%	\$11,635	\$949	12.3	1.50
CZ12	30.7%	3.1	4,409	80.5	100%	\$11,012	\$866	12.7	1.44
CZ13	28.6%	3.4	4,878	75.1	100%	\$11,947	\$946	12.6	1.45
CZ14	27.9%	2.9	4,891	77.4	100%	\$10,389	\$809	12.8	1.43
CZ15	29.6%	3.3	5,727	56.2	100%	\$11,635	\$927	12.6	1.46
CZ16	16.9%	3.6	5,311	95.5	100%	\$12,455	\$1,067	11.7	1.57

Table 11: Multifamily All-Electric Zero Electric Performance Package Cost-Effectiveness Results

¹Savings for "No Natural Gas" case are propane savings from elimination of propane water heater. Gas savings are therms equivalent.

² Based on CA electricity production and equivalent CO₂ emission rates of 0.724 lbCO₂e/kWh, 11.7 lb-CO₂e/therm natural gas & 13.9 lb-CO₂e/therm propane.

³ Includes ten percent markup for builder profit and overhead.

3.2.2 <u>Multifamily Packages</u>

<u>PV-Plus & Zero-Electric:</u> Cost-effective packages using both efficiency and PV to exceed minimum requirements were identified in all 16 climate zones as demonstrated in Table 10 and Table 11 above. Meeting higher compliance margin targets in all-electric buildings is more challenging in multifamily than in single family. The results from the CBECC-Res simulation software are very sensitive to the HPWH selection as well as the efficiency measures selected, particularly in milder climates.

Table 12 summarizes the cost-effective efficiency measures used in each climate zone. The "Natural Gas Available" scenarios include the same efficiency measures except where indicated with the addition of the high efficiency HPWH. Values in red reflect measures added to the all-electric packages to meet the performance targets.

In most climates the HPWH was located within the conditioned space because there is a net benefit in locating the HPWH inside as a result of lower water heating and space cooling energy use when compared to an externaly located unit. In Climate Zone 3, the HPWH was evaluated in an exterior closet. As a heating dominated climate, with negligible amounts of cooling energy, the negative impact on space heating from moving the HPWH into conditioned space is greater than the water heating savings. While Climate Zone 16 is also heating dominated it has a summer cooling load and the winter temperatures are much more extreme resulting in a far higher penalty for leaving the HPWH outdoors. In Climate Zone 1 CBECC-Res predicts different trends for the "No Natural Gas" and "Natural Gas" scenario into conditioned space are greater than in the "Natural Gas Available" cases. Water heating savings from moving the lower efficiency HPWH in the "No Natural Gas" scenario into conditioned space are greater than in the "Natural Gas Available" scenario. However, the impact on space heating in the former case is lower because the HPWH operates in electric resistance mode more of the time. This combination of effects results in the lower efficiency 2.0 Energy Factor HPWH ("No Natural Gas" scenario) optimally located in the conditioned space but the higher efficiency NEEA rated HPWH ("Natural Gas Available" scenario) optimally located in the conditioned space but the higher efficiency NEEA rated HPWH ("Natural Gas Available" scenario) optimally located outdoors.

1 4010 123	. munigui	1119 11	a Licente I		chages.	COST	<u>1</u>]] (((()		sures Summe	'y
Climate Zone	PV Compliance Credit	dii	Window U- value / SHGC	Door U-value	High Performance Attic	AH Fan W/cfm	LLDCS	Refrigerant Charge	HPWH Location ¹	HW Comp. Dist.
CZ1	Y	Y	0.30/0.50	0.20		0.3			CS (No NG) Ext (NG Avail)	Y
CZ2	Y	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20		0.3			CS	Y
CZ3	Y	Y	0.30/0.50	0.20	R-13	0.3			Ext	Y
CZ4	Y	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20		0.3			CS	Y
CZ5	Y	Y	0.30/0.50	0.20		0.3	Y		CS	Y
CZ6	N/A	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20		0.3			CS	Y
CZ7	N/A	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20		0.3		Y	CS	Y
CZ8	Y	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20		0.3			CS	Y
CZ9	Y	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20		0.3			CS	
CZ10	Y	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20		0.3			CS	
CZ11	Y	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20		0.3			CS	
CZ12	Y	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20		0.3			CS	
CZ13	Y	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20		0.3			CS	
CZ14	Y	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20		0.3			CS	
CZ15	Y	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20		0.3			CS	
CZ16	Y	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20					CS	

Table	12.	M 14: f.		All Electric	DIZ	Dashagaa	Cost E	ffasting	Magazinag	C
<i>I avie</i>	14.	winning	unnu y r	All-Liechic	1 V	1 uchages.	COSI-L	jjecuve	wieusures	Summary

Values in red indicate a change between the gas/electric and all-electric results.

 ^{1}CS = conditioned space; Ext = exterior closet.

4 Conclusions & Summary

This report evaluated the feasibility and cost-effectiveness of all-electric single family and low-rise multifamily residential new construction that exceeds the 2016 Building Energy Efficiency Standards through the installation of both efficiency measures and PV systems in all 16 California climate zones. The results of this evaluation provide local jurisdictions flexibility when adopting an energy efficiency ordinance ensuring that the requirement can be met either with a mixed-fuel design or an all-electric design. Two scenarios were evaluated. The "No Natural Gas" case does not trigger federal preemption issues, and represents options that local jurisdictions can adopt into a local ordinance. The "Natural Gas Available" scenario requires water heating equipment that is more efficient than federal standards, thus triggering federal preemption restrictions.

For this analysis, PG&E rates were used for gas and electricity in Climate Zones 1 through 5, 11 through 13, and 16. SCE electricity rates and Southern California Gas rates were used for Climate Zones 6, 8 through 10, 14, and 15. SDG&E rates were used for electricity and gas for Climate Zone 7.

Recommended Title 24 compliance margin targets were set based on results of the cost effectiveness analysis and match those recommended in the gas/electric analysis in most cases. When setting recommendations results from both the "Natural Gas Available" and "No Natural Gas" scenarios were reviewed to ensure that the targets could be met in either case. For single family homes 30% was achievable everywhere except Climate Zones 3, and 5-7; in those climates cost effective packages were found that achieve a 10%-20% compliance margin. Meeting higher compliance margin targets in all-electric buildings is more challenging in multifamily buildings than in single family. The results from the CBECC-Res simulation software are very sensitive to the HPWH selection as well as the efficiency measures selected, particularly in milder climates. Due to this the HPWH was located within the conditioned space in most climates. Table 13 and Table 14 summarize cost-effective ordinance criteria by climate zone for single family and multifamily buildings, respectively. The tables include the Title 24 compliance target needed to meet the criteria. Consistent with CALGreen voluntary tiers, the analysis assumes a pre-requisite for all packages includes HERS verification of Quality Insulation Installation (QII).

Packages	Climate Zones	T-24 Compliance Target	QII	PVCC Allowed	PV
PV-Plus & Zero-	1, 2, 4, 8-16	30%	Yes	Yes	Yes
Electric	3, 5	20%	Yes	Yes	Yes
Packages	6-7	10%	Yes	N/A	Yes

Table 13: Single Family Cost-Effective All-Electric Reach Code Package

Table	14	: Multifan	nily Cost-	Effective A	All-Electric	Reach	Code Package
		.		JJ			

Packages	Climate Zones	T-24 Compliance Target	QII	PVCC Allowed	PV
	4,9-15	25%	Yes	Yes	Yes
PV-Plus &	8	20%	Yes	Yes	Yes
Zero- Electric	2,16	15%	Yes	Yes	Yes
Packages	1,3,5	10%	Yes	Yes	Yes
r ackages	6-7	10%	Yes	n/a	Yes

Table 15 and Table 16 present a summary of the differences in the cost-effective packages for all-electric homes compared to those for gas/electric homes. Differences are highlighted in red. For single family, the

2016 compliance margin targets are the same as those for the gas/electric packages in all cases. The PV Compliance Credit (PVCC) may be used to meet these targets, except in Climate Zones 6 and 7, where the PVCC is not available.

With multifamily, the 2016 compliance margin targets are the same as those for the gas/electric packages except for Climate Zones 1, 2, 3, and 16 (see Table 16). In these four climate zones the predicted penalty in CBECC-Res for using a HPWH could not be fully offset with cost effective efficiency measures. The recommended compliance margin targets have been subsequently reduced by 5%-10%.

	Nat. Gas/I	lectric	All-Elec	tric
Climate Zone	Compliance Margin Target	PVCC Allowed	Compliance Margin Target	PVCC Allowed
CZ1	30%	Yes	30%	Yes
CZ2	30%	Yes	30%	Yes
CZ3	20%	Yes	20%	Yes
CZ4	30%	Yes	30%	Yes
CZ5	20%	Yes	20%	Yes
CZ6	10%	N/A	10%	N/A
CZ7	10%	N/A	10%	N/A
CZ8	30%	Yes	30%	Yes
CZ9	30%	Yes	30%	Yes
CZ10	30%	Yes	30%	Yes
CZ11	30%	Yes	30%	Yes
CZ12	30%	Yes	30%	Yes
CZ13	30%	Yes	30%	Yes
CZ14	30%	Yes	30%	Yes
CZ15	30%	Yes	30%	Yes
CZ16	30%	Yes	30%	Yes

Table 15: Single Family PV Package Compliance Target Comparison

Ĭ	Nat. Gas/E	lectric	All-Elec	tric
Climate Zone	Compliance Margin Target	PVCC Allowed	Compliance Margin Target	PVCC Allowed
CZ1	20%	Yes	10%	Yes
CZ2	20%	Yes	15%	Yes
CZ3	15%	Yes	10%	Yes
CZ4	25%	Yes	25%	Yes
CZ5	10%	Yes	10%	Yes
CZ6	10%	N/A	10%	N/A
CZ7	10%	N/A	10%	N/A
CZ8	20%	Yes	20%	Yes
CZ9	25%	Yes	25%	Yes
CZ10	25%	Yes	25%	Yes
CZ11	25%	Yes	25%	Yes
CZ12	25%	Yes	25%	Yes
CZ13	25%	Yes	25%	Yes
CZ14	25%	Yes	25%	Yes
CZ15	25%	Yes	25%	Yes
CZ16	25%	Yes	15%	Yes

Table 16: Multifamily PV Package Compliance Target Comparison

Values in red indicate a change between the gas/electric and all-electric results.

In the gas/electric analysis, recommendations were made for both efficiency-only and PV performance packages. Based on current residential utility rates across all the California investor owned utilities, switching from gas to electric appliances results in higher annual utility costs for all-electric efficiency-only packages. It is also expected that the majority of projects complying with an all-electric above code local ordinance will also be incorporating PV. For this reason, only PV performance packages that incorporate both efficiency measures and PV were developed.

In addition to the PV-Plus performance package introduced in the gas/electric analysis, a Zero-Electric package was also found to be cost-effective for all-electric homes. This was evaluated in place of a Zero-TDV package. Zero-TDV was evaluated in the gas/electric analysis as a way to achieve zero net energy with mixed fuels; however, it was not found to be cost-effective. This approach is not favored by California policy in mixed fuel homes, because PV systems sized to offset both gas (natural gas or propane) and electricity TDV result in PV systems sized larger than the building electricity use. Generating more electricity than is used on site is not cost-effective to the owner under California Net Energy Metering policy and can violate utility net energy metering rules for the size of a PV system. The consumer is compensated by the utility for electricity generation in excess of annual consumption, but only at the wholesale rate, which is substantially lower than the retail rate. When all onsite energy use is supplied by electricity, excess annual generation may be minimal.

5 <u>References</u>

CEC. 2016b. 2016 Building Energy Efficiency Standards for Residential and Nonresidential Buildings. CEC-400-2015-037-CMF. June 2015. California Energy Commission. http://www.energy.ca.gov/2015publications/CEC-400-2015-037/CEC-400-2015-037-CMF.pdf

CEC. 2016c. 2016 Reference Appendices. CEC-400-2015-038-CMF. June 2015. California Energy Commission. <u>http://www.energy.ca.gov/2015publications/CEC-400-2015-038/CEC-400-2015-038-CMF.pdf</u>

CEC. 2016d. 2016 Residential Alternative Calculation Method Reference Manual. CEC-400-2015-024-CMF-REV. June 2016. California Energy Commission. <u>http://www.energy.ca.gov/2015publications/CEC-400-2015-024/CEC-400-2015-024-CMF-REV.pdf</u>

CEC. 2017. Draft Model Local Ordinance. Docket Number 17-BSTD-01. April 2017. California Energy Commission. <u>http://docketpublic.energy.ca.gov/PublicDocuments/17-BSTD-</u>01/TN217291 20170425T110520 Draft Model Local Solar Ordinance v5.pdf

DEG, 2016. California Statewide Codes and Standards Program Title 24, Part 11 Local Energy Efficiency Ordinances CALGreen Cost Effectiveness Study. Davis Energy Group. October 2016.

DOE, 2016. "Tankless Or Demand-Type Water Heaters", Department of Energy: Energy Saver. https://energy.gov/energysaver/tankless-or-demand-type-water-heaters

EPRI, 2016. SMUD All-Electric Homes Electrification Case Study: Summary for the Three-Prong Test Discussion. Electric Power Research Institute, Inc. September, 2016. Presentation to Sacramento Municipal Utility District.

Horii, B., E. Cutter, N. Kapur, J. Arent, and D. Conotyannis. 2014. "Time Dependent Valuation of Energy for Developing Building Energy Efficiency Standards."

http://www.energy.ca.gov/title24/2016standards/prerulemaking/documents/2014-07-09_workshop/2017_TDV_Documents/

Itron, 2014. 2010-2012 WO017 Ex Ante Measure Cost Study: Final Report. Itron. May 2014. Presented to California Public Utilities Commission.

Appendix A – Prescriptive Package

The following presents the residential prescriptive package as printed in the 2016 Building Energy Efficiency Standards (CEC, 2016b).

											Cli	mate Zo	ne										
						1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16		
		(¥6(is Insulation oof Rafter	ıg Type	No Air Space ¹	NR	NR	NR	R 8	NR	NR	NR	R 8	R 8	R 8	R 8	R 8	R 8	R 8	R 8	R 8		
		A (meets \$150.1(Continuous Above Roc	Continuous Above Rou g 2n	With Air Space ²	NR	NR	NR	R 6	NR	NR	NR	R 6	R 6	R 6	R 6	R 6	R 6	R 6	R 6	R 6		
		Option A (m		Ceiling Insulation		R 38	R 38	R 30	R 38	R 30	R 30	R 30	R 38										
				Radiant Barrier		NR	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	NR		
Building Envelope Insulation Roofs/ Ceilings	Roofs/ eilings).1(c)9A)	Roof Deck Ilation	fing Type	No Air Space	NR	NR	NR	R 18	NR	NR	NR	R 18										
	C R	neets §150.1	Below I Insu	Roo	With Air	NR	NR	NR	R 13	NR	NR	NR	R 13										
		Option B (n		Ceiling Insulation		R 38	R 38	R 30	R 38	R 30	R 30	R 30	R 38										
				Radiant Barrier		NR	REQ	REQ	NR	REQ	REQ	REQ	NR										
		n C (meets		Ceiling Insulation		R 38	R 30	R 30	R 30	R 30	R 38												
		Option C	Option C (Option C (Radiant		NR	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	NR

TABLE 150.1-A COMPONENT PACKAGE-A STA	ANDARD BUILDING DESIGN (CONTINUED)
---------------------------------------	------------------------------------

												Clima	te Zone									
					1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16		
				Framed ⁴	U 0.051	U 0.065	U 0.065	U 0.051	U 0.051	U 0.051												
ulation		Walls	e Above Grade	Mass Wall Interior 5	U 0.070 R 13	U 0.070 R 13	U 0.059 R 17															
Invelope Ins				Mass Wall Exterior ⁶	U 0.125 R 8.0	U 0.1025 R 8.0	U 0.125 R 8.0	U 0.070 R 13														
Building E			Below Grade	Below Grade Interior	U 0.070 R 13	U 0.070 R 13	U 0.066 R 15															
			Below	Below Grade Exterior	U 0.200 R 5.0	U 0.100 R 10	U 0.100 R 10	U 0.053 R 19														
			Slab Per	erimeter	NR	NR	U 0.58 B 7 0															
	Fl	oors	R	aised	U 0.037 R 19	U 0.037 R 19	U 0.037 R 19															
			Concre	te Raised	U 0.092 R 8.0	U 0.092 R 8.0	U 0.269 R 0	U 0.269 R 0	U0.269 R 0	U 0.269 R 0	U 0.269 R 0	U 0.269 R 0	U 0.269 R 0	U 0.269 R 0	U 0.092 R 8.0	U 0.138 R 4.0	U 0.092 R 8.0	U 0.092 R 8.0	U 0.138 R 4.0	U 0.092 R 8.0		
	ts	L OW-	Age	d Solar	NR	0.63	NR	0.63	NR													
ing ope	Lo slop slop slop		Th Emi	ermal ttance	NR	0.75	NR	0.75	NR													
Build Envel	fing P	Steen	Age Refle	d Solar ectance	NR	0.20	0.20	0.20	0.20	0.20	0.20	NR										
	Roo	Sloped	Th Emi	ermal ttance	NR	0. 75	0.75	0.75	0.75	0.75	0.75	NR										
Эс		Max	timum U	-factor	0.32	0.32	0.32	0.32	0.32	0.32	0.32	0.32	0.32	0.32	0.32	0.32	0.32	0.32	0.32	0.32		
iveloj	tion	Ma	ximum S	HGC	NR	0.25	NR	0.25	NR	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25		
lg En	estrat	Maxi	mum To	al Area	20%	20%	20%	20%	20%	20%	20%	20%	20%	20%	20%	20%	20%	20%	20%	20%		
Buildin	Fen	Maxi Maxir	Maxi Maxii	Maxin Maxim	num We Area	st Facing	NR	5%	NR	5%	NR	5%	5%	5%	5%	5%	5%	5%	5%	5%	5%	5%

				Climate Zone															
				1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16
	g 11 g	Electric-R	esistance Allowed	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No
	Spac	If g	as, AFUE	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN
	Н	If Heat	Pump, HSPF ⁹	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN
			SEER	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN	MIN
	Space cooling	Refrig Verification	erant Charge or Fault Indicator Display	NR	REQ	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	NR
V		Whole	House Fan ¹⁰	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	NR	NR
HVAC SYSTEM	Central System Air Handlers	Central Ventilat I	Fan Integrated ion System Fan Efficacy	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ
		Ceiling ıs A & B	Duct Insulation	R-8	R-8	R-6	R-8	R-6	R-6	R-6	R-8	R-8	R-8	R-8	R-8	R-8	R-8	R-8	R-8
	tts ¹²	Roof/C Options	§150.1(c)9A	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
	Duc	gu	Duct Insulation	R-6	R-6	R-6	R-6	R-6	R-6	R-6	R-6	R-6	R-6	R-6	R-6	R-6	R-6	R-6	R-6
		Roof/Ceili	§150.1(c)9B	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ	REQ
Water Heating		All Buildin	ngs							System	Shall meet	Section 1	50.1(c)8						

TABLE 150.1-A COMPONENT PACKAGE-A STANDARD BUILDING DESIGN (CONTINUED)

Footnote requirements to TABLE 150.1-A:¹³

- 1. Install the specified R-value with no air space present between the roofing and the roof deck.
- 2. Install the specified R-value with an air space present between the roofing and the roof deck. Such as standard installation of concrete or clay tile.
- 3. R-values shown for below roof deck insulation are for wood-frame construction with insulation installed between the framing members.
- 4. Assembly U-factors can be met with cavity insulation alone or with continuous insulation alone, or with both cavity and continuous insulation that results in an assembly U-factor equal to or less than the U-factor shown. Use Reference Joint Appendices JA4 Table 4.3.1, 4.3.1(a), or Table 4.3.4 to determine alternative insulation products to meet the required maximum U-factor.
- 5. Mass wall has a thermal heat capacity greater than or equal to 7.0 Btu/h-ft². "Interior" denotes insulation installed on the inside surface of the wall.
- 6. Mass wall has a thermal heat capacity greater than or equal to 7.0 Btu/h-ft². "Exterior" denotes insulation installed on the exterior surface of the wall.
- 7. Below grade "interior" denotes insulation installed on the inside surface of the wall.
- 8. Below grade "exterior" denotes insulation installed on the outside surface of the wall.
- 9. HSPF means "heating seasonal performance factor."
- 10. When whole house fans are required (REQ), only those whole house fans that are listed in the Appliance Efficiency Directory may be installed. Compliance requires installation of one or more WHFs whose total airflow CFM is capable of meeting or exceeding a minimum 1.5 cfm/square foot of conditioned floor area as specified by Section 150.1(c)12.
- 11. A supplemental heating unit may be installed in a space served directly or indirectly by a primary heating system, provided that the unit thermal capacity does not exceed 2 kilowatts or 7,000 Btu/hr and is controlled by a timelimiting device not exceeding 30 minutes.
- 12. For duct and air handler location: REQ denotes location in conditioned space. When the table indicates ducts and air handlers are in conditioned space, a HERS verification is required as specified by Reference Residential Appendix RA3.1.4.3.8.

¹³ CBECC-Res applies Option B to the Standard Design with ductwork located in the attic for single family and in conditioned space for multifamily buildings.

<u>Appendix B – Measure Cost Details</u>

	1		eusure Dest	criptions & Cost Assumptions
		Increme	<u>ntal Cost</u>	
	Performance	Single	MF–Per	
Measure	Level	Family	Unit	Source & Notes
				City of Palo Alto 2016 Reach Code Ordinance:
OII	Yes	\$519	\$133	http://www.cityofpaloalto.org/civicax/filebank/documents/52054
				NREL measure cost database (\$0.115/ft ² for sealing) + HERS Rater
ACH50	3.0	\$379	N/A	verification (\$100).
		+ • • • •		Relative to R-19 2016 CASE Report: Residential High Performance
Wall Insulation	R -21	\$391	N/A	Walls and OII 2016-RES-ENV2-E
wan mountain	Aged Reflect	ψ571	10/11	\$0.\$0.50/ft ² of roof area per local industry expert at LBNL Used
Cool Roof	-0.20	\$523	\$131	$\frac{1}{2}$ average of \$0.25/ft ²
Window II	- 0.20	<i>\$525</i>	ψ151	
Factor/SHCC	0 20/0 22	\$72	\$20	EnerComp (\$0.15/ft ² of window eree)
Factor/SHOC	0.30/0.23	\$73	\$20	EnerComp (\$0.15/it of whidow area).
Doors	0.20 U-factor	\$40	\$20	EnerComp (\$1.00/11 ² for exterior doors).
	D 10 1			For Climate Zones 1-3, & 5-7 only where HPA is not prescriptive.
High Performance	R-13 under	#070	\$210	2016 CASE Report: Residential Ducts in Conditioned Space/High
Attics (HPA)	roof deck	\$878	\$219	Performance Attics, 2016-RES-ENVI-F.
Fan Efficacy	0.3 watts/cfm	\$143	\$104	HVAC contractor costs, MF reduction for smaller capacity.
Refrigerant Charge	HERS verified	N/A	\$75	Local HERS Rater.
				For Climate Zones 3, 6, & 7 where not prescriptive. Cost is relative to
				R-6. 2016 CASE Report: Residential Ducts in Conditioned Space/High
Duct Insulation	R-8	\$164	N/A	Performance Attics, 2016-RES-ENV1-F.
Low Leakage				Only includes the cost for blower door testing (see ACH50 costs for SF
Ducts in	25cfm leakage			above) since the basecase assume ductwork located in conditioned
Conditioned Space	to outside	N/A	\$379	space and duct testing.
				Roughly equivalent to code requirements effective Jan. 2017. ten
HERS Verification				percent of \$3.87 per ft (2013 SF DHW CASE Report) for additional
of Hot Water Pipe				labor to pass HERS inspection. \$100 for HERS verification per local
Insulation	HERS verified	\$146	N/A	HERS Raters.
Hot Water				Assume compact design already or easily achieved in MF units – no
Compact				added cost, \$100 HERS verification fee per local HERS Rater. Pipe
Distribution	HERS verified	N/A	\$112	insulation cost per the pipe insulation measure assumptions.
Ducted Heat Pump	Exhaust air			
Water Heater in	ducted to the			
Conditioned Space	outdoors	N/A	\$500	Costs includes ducting kit and installation
Conditioned Space	000013	10/21	\$500	Source: Tracking the Sun IX
				(https://emp.lbl.gov/sites/default/files/tracking_the_sup_ix_report.pdf)
				Single Family: Avg. system cost of \$4.00/watt in 2015 for residential
				new construction
				Multifamily systems: an average residential and small commercial
				with the many systems. An average residential and small commercial systems are expected to be
				system costs $\oplus \phi_{J,2J}$ wait was used. Systems are expected to be
				systems reported on in the detabase
	Sustam size	¢2 00/337	\$2 62 MV	by stering reported off in the database.
DV Contract	System size	\$∠.80/W	\$2.03/W	In bour cases, costs assume 50 percent for the solar investment tax
Pv System	varies	DC	DC	credit. No INSHP incentive was used.
DV Lassant a		¢0.40.50	¢0.40.037	Assumes inverter replacement at 20 years based on life of micro
P v Inverter-	Man	ֆՍ.40/W	\$0.40/W	inverters. INKEL cost study: \$0.29/ W based on new construction.
Replacement	Micro inverter	DC	DC	$(\underline{\text{nttp://www.nrei.gov/docs/ty15osti/64/46.pdf})$. Add labor cost of \$275.

Table 17: Measure Descriptions & Cost Assumptions

Appendix C – Efficiency Package Summaries

Table 18 and Table 19 summarize the measures selected to cost effectively meet the performance targets in the report. Values in red reflect measures added to the all-electric packages to meet the performance targets. Blank cells mean that values are the same as 2016 prescriptive values for that climate zone.

Climate Zone	Compliance Margin Target	gi	ACH50	Window U-value / SHGC	Door U-value	НРА	AH Fan W/cfm	HPWH Location ¹	HW Pipe Insul.	PV Credit Size (kW)
CZ1	30%	Y	3	.30/.50	0.20	Y		Gar	PI	2.1
CZ2	30%	Y		.30/.50	0.20	Y		CS	PI	2.1
CZ3	20%	Y		.30/.50	0.20			Gar		2.0
CZ4	30%	Y		.30/.23				Gar		2.1
CZ5	20%	Y		.30/.50				Gar		2.0
CZ6	10%	Y					0.30	Gar		n/a
CZ7	10%	Y		.30/.23	0.20		0.30	Gar	PI	n/a
CZ8	30%	Y						Gar		2.1
CZ9	30%	Y		.30/.23	0.20			Gar		2.0
CZ10	30%	Y			0.20			Gar		2.1
CZ11	30%	Y		.30/.23	0.20		0.30	Gar		2.2
CZ12	30%	Y			0.20			Gar		2.1
CZ13	30%	Y		.30/.23	0.20			Gar		2.2
CZ14	30%	Y			0.20		0.30	Gar		2.2
CZ15	30%	Y					0.30	Gar		2.2
CZ16	30%	Y	3	.30/.23	0.20		0.30	CS		2.1

Table 18: Single Family PV Pack	ages
---------------------------------	------

 1 CS = conditioned space; Gar = garage.

	T	able	19:	Multi	family	PVI	Package	S
--	---	------	-----	-------	--------	-----	---------	---

Climate Zone	Compliance Margin Target	QII	Window U-value / SHGC	Door U-value	AH Fan W/cfm	Refrigerant Charge	HPWH Location ¹	HW Comp. Dist.	PV Credit Size (kW)
CZ1	20%	Y	0.30/0.50	0.20	0.3		CS (No NG) Ext (NG Avail)	Y	1.0
CZ2	20%	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20	0.3		CS	Y	1.0
CZ3	15%	Y	0.30/0.50	0.20	0.3		Ext	Y	1.0
CZ4	25%	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20	0.3		CS	Y	1.0
CZ5	10%	Y	0.30/0.50	0.20	0.3		CS	Y	1.0
CZ6	10%	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20	0.3		CS	Υ	
CZ7	10%	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20	0.3	Y	CS	Υ	
CZ8	20%	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20	0.3		CS	Y	1.0
CZ9	25%	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20	0.3		CS		1.0
CZ10	25%	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20	0.3		CS		1.0
CZ11	25%	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20	0.3		CS		1.0
CZ12	25%	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20	0.3		CS		1.0
CZ13	25%	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20	0.3		CS		1.0
CZ14	25%	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20	0.3		CS		1.0
CZ15	25%	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20	0.3		CS		1.0
CZ16	25%	Y	0.30/0.23	0.20			CS		1.0

 ^{1}CS = conditioned space; CS-Duct = ducted unit in conditioned space.

Appendix D – Utility Rate Tariffs

Following are the PG&E electricity, both standard and time-of-use, and natural gas tariffs applied in this study. The PG&E monthly gas rate in \$/therm was applied on a monthly basis for the 12-month period ending September 2017.

PG&E	Pacif Elect	ic Gas and ric Company"	Cancelling	Revised Revised	Cal. P.U.C. Sheet No. Cal. P.U.C. Sheet No.	40030-E 38021-E	
U 39	San Fra	ancisco, California					
		ELECT RESID	RIC SCHEDULE	E-1 ES	Sheet 1		
APPLICA	ABILITY:	This schedule is applicable single-family dwellings and i phase and polyphase servic Condition 8); and to all singl by the person whose reside	to single-phase and n flats and apartme e in common areas e-phase and polyph nce is supplied thro	polyphase re nts separately in a multifam ase farm sen ugh the same	esidential service in y metered by PG&E to sing ily complex (see Special vice on the premises operate meter.	le- ed	
		The provisions of Schedule apply to customers whose p electric energy from a nonut reservation charges as spec applicable Schedule E-1 cha for exemptions to standby cl	S—Standby Service remises are regular ility source of suppl ified under Section arges. See Special harges.	e Special Con ly supplied in y. These cus 1 of Schedule Conditions 1	ditions 1 through 6 shall als part (but <u>not</u> in whole) by tomers will pay monthly e S, in addition to all 1 and 12 of this rate schedul	o	
TERRITO	DRY:	This rate schedule applies e	verywhere PG&E p	rovides electr	ic service.		
RATES: Total bundled servic this schedule are su delivery portion of th addition, total bundl kWh usage.		Total bundled service charge this schedule are subject to delivery portion of the bill (i.e. addition, total bundled charge kWh usage.	es are calculated us the delivery minimu a. to all rate compor ges will include appl	sing the total n im bill amount nents other th icable genera	rates below. Customers on t shown below applied to the an the generation rate). In tion charges per kWh for all		
		Customers receiving a medi percent of baseline at a rate excess of 200 percent of bas a Medical Baseline allowand customers, the Conservation total rate less the sum of: Tr Services, Distribution, Gene Competition Transition Char Cost Recovery Amount. Cus receive a 50 percent discourt	cal baseline allowa \$0.04000 per kWh seline. No portion o the shall be used to p in Incentive Adjustm ansmission, Transmission, Transmission, Transmission, Transmission, Transmission, Transmission, Public Purpo ges (CTC), New Sy stomers receiving a int on the delivery m	nce shall pay less than the of the rates pay pay the DWR ent is calculat nission Rate A ose Programs restem Genera medical base inimum bill ar	for all usage in excess of 20 applicable rate for usage in aid by customers that receive Bond charge. For these ted residually based on the Adjustments, Reliability , Nuclear Decommissioning, tion Charges, ¹ and Energy eline allowance shall also mount shown below.	9	
		Direct Access (DA) and Con in accordance with the para	nmunity Choice Agg graph in this rate sc	pregation (CC	A) charges shal <mark>l be calculat</mark> Billing.	ed	
			TOTAL R	ATES			
Total Energy Rates (\$ pe Baseline Usage 101% - 400% of Base High Usage Over 400			er kWh) \$0.19979 (I) eline \$0.27612 (I) 0% of Baseline \$0.40139				
		Delivery Minimum Bill Amou	int (\$ per meter per	day)	\$0.32854		
California Climate Cred		California Climate Credit (pe	er household, per se	emi-annual	(\$17.40)		

¹ Per Decision 11-12-031, New System Generation Charges are effective 1/1/2012.

				(Continued)
Advice	5011-E-A	Issued by	Date Filed	February 24, 2017
Decision		Robert S. Kenney	Effective	March 1, 2017
		Vice President, Regulatory Affairs	Resolution)

PROF	Pacific Gas and Electric Company	Cancelling	Revised Revised	Cal. P.U.C. She Cal. P.U.C. She	et No. et No.	40052-E 38051-E
U 39	San Francisco, California					o. 40052-E o. 38051-E t 2
	ELECTRI RESIDENTIA	L TIME-OF-USE	SERVICE	S	heet 2	
RATES (Cont'd.)):					
		OPT	TION A TOT	AL RATES		
Total	Energy Rates (\$ per kWh)	PEAK		OFF-PEAK		
Sum	imer					
To	tal Usage	\$0.39336	(R)	\$0.31778	(R)	
U	sage Only)	(\$0.08830)	(1)	(\$0.08830)	(I)	
Wint	ter					
To	tal Usage	\$0.27539	(R)	\$0.26109	(R)	
B	aseline Credit (Applied to Baseline sage Only)	(\$0.08830)	(I)	(\$0.08830)	(I)	
Delive per da	ery Minimum Bill Amount (\$ per mete ay)	er \$0.32854				
Califo per se	rnia Climate Credit (per household, emi-annual payment occurring in the	(047.40)				

April and October bill cycles) (\$17.40)

Total bundled service charges shown on customer's bills are unbundled according to the component rates shown below. Where the delivery minimum bill amount applies, the customer's bill will equal the sum of (1) the delivery minimum bill amount plus (2) for bundled service, the generation rate times the number of kWh used. For revenue accounting purposes, the revenues from the delivery minimum bill amount will be assigned to the Transmission, Transmission Rate Adjustments, Reliability Services, Public Purpose Programs, Nuclear Decommissioning, Competition Transition Charges, Energy Cost Recovery Amount, DWR Bond, and New System Generation Charges¹ based on kWh usage times the corresponding unbundled rate component per kWh, with any residual revenue assigned to Distribution.*

(Continued)

5011-E-A Issued by Date Filed February 24, 2017 **Robert S. Kenney** Effective March 1, 2017 Vice President, Regulatory Affairs Resolution

Advice

Decision

 ¹ Per Decision 11-12-031, New System Generation Charges are effective 1/1/2012.
 * This same assignment of revenues applies to direct access and community choice aggregation customers.

PF/S E U 39	Pacific Electric	Gas and c Company [®] sisco, California	Cancelling	Revised Revised	Cal. P.U. Cal. P.U.	C. Sheet No. C. Sheet No.	33319-G 33280-G			
		G/ RES	AS SCHEDULE G-1 SIDENTIAL SERVIC	I E		Sheet 1	1			
APPLICA	BILITY:	This rate schedule* app Transmission and/or Dii metered single family pr and to separately-meter GS, or GT are not applin have an option of switch those accounts that pro	lies to natural gas servi stribution Systems. To remises for residential u ed common areas in a cable. Common area a ning to a core commerci vide gas service to com	ce to Core End qualify, service use, including the multifamily con ccounts that ar ial rate schedul imon use areas	I-Use Custor e must be to i hose in a mu nplex where re separately le. Common s as defined i	ners on PG&E' ndividually- Itifamily comple Schedules GM metered by PC area accounts in Rule 1.	s ex, 3&E are			
TERRITO	DRY:	Schedule G-1 applies e	verywhere within PG&E	s natural gas	Service Terri	tory.				
RATES:		Customers on this sche meter, as shown below. Transportation Charge,	Customers on this schedule pay a Procurement Charge and a Transportation Charge, per meter, as shown below. The Transportation Charge will be no less than the Minimum Transportation Charge, as follows:							
		Minimum Transportation	Charge:**		Per Day \$0.09863					
					Per Ther	<u>m</u>				
		Procurement:		<u>Baseline</u> \$0.39848	(R)	Excess \$0.39848	(R)			
		Transportation Charge:	-	\$0.88798		\$1.42077				
		Total:		\$1.28646	(R)	\$1.81925	(R)			
		Public Purpose Program	n Surcharge:							
		Customers served under this schedule are subject to a gas Public Purpose Program (PPP) Surcharge under Schedule G-PPPS.								
		See Preliminary Statem	ent, Part B for the Defa	ult Tariff Rate (Components					
		The Procurement Charg Schedule G-CP-Gas P	e on this schedule is e Procurement Service to	quivalent to the Core End-Use	rate shown Customers.	on information	al			
BASELIN QUANTI	IE TIES:	The delivered quantities	of gas shown below ar	re billed at the r	rates for base	eline use.				
		BASELINE QU Baseline	JANTITIES (Therms Pe Summer	er Day Per Dwe	elling Unit) Winter					
		Territories***	Effective Apr. 1, 20	16 Effecti	ve Nov. 1, 20)15				
		Q Q	0.46		2.15					
		R	0.46		1.79					
		s T	0.46		1.92					
		v	0.69		1.79					
		ŵ	0.46		1.69					
		Ŷ	0.85		2.55					
PG8 The Sch	E's gas tariff's Minimum Trans edules GS and applicable base	are available online at www.pg sportation charge does not app GT. sline territory is described in Pr	e.com. Ny to submetered tenants of reliminary Statement, Part A.	master-metered c	ustomers serve	d under gas rate				

				(Continued)
Advice Decision	3836-G 97-10-065 & 98- 07-025	Issued by Robert S. Kenney Vice President, Regulatory Affairs	Date Filed Effective Resolution	April 24, 2017 May 1, 2017

Pacific Gas and Electric Company Residential Non-CARE and CARE Gas Tariff Rates January 1, 2016, to Present (\$/therm)^{1/}

Effective	Advice Letter	Minimum Transportation Charge ^{2/}	Procurement	Transportation	TOTAL Residential Non-CARE
Date	Number	(per day)	Charge	Charge ^{2/}	Schedules Charge ^{3/}
10/01/16	3760-G	\$0.09863	\$0.38660	\$0.96817 \$1.54907	\$1.35477 \$1.93567
11/01/16	3775-G	\$0.09863	\$0.45875	\$0.96817 \$1.54907	\$1.42692 \$2.00782
12/01/16	3785-G	\$0.09863	\$0.39428	\$0.96817 \$1.54907	\$1.36245 \$1.94335
01/01/17	3793-G	\$0.09863	\$0.45305	\$0.88798 \$1.42077	\$1.34103 \$1.87382
02/01/17	3800-G	\$0.09863	\$0.44251	\$0.88798 \$1.42077	\$1.33049 \$1.86328
03/01/17	3812-G	\$0.09863	\$0.40169	\$0.88798 \$1.42077	\$1.28967 \$1.82246
04/01/17	3827-G	\$0.09863	\$0.42225	\$0.88798 \$1.42077	\$1.31023 \$1.84302
05/01/17	3836-G	\$0.09863	\$0.39848	\$0.88798 \$1.42077	\$1.28646 \$1.81925
06/01/17	3844-G	\$0.09863	\$0.39102	\$0.88798 \$1.42077	\$1.27900 \$1.81179
07/01/17	3859-G	\$0.09863	\$0.31906	\$0.88566 \$1.41705	\$1.20472 \$1.73611
08/01/17	3870-G	\$0.09863	\$0.32821	\$0.88566 \$1.41705	\$1.21387 \$1.74526
09/01/17	3879-G	\$0.09863	\$0.27240 ^{7/}	\$0.88566 \$1.41705	\$1.15806 \$1.68945

^{1/} Unless otherwise noted

² Effective July 1, 2005, the Transportation Charge will be no less than the Minimum Transportation Charge of \$0.09863 (per day). Applicable to Rate Schedule G-1 only

and does not apply to submetered tenants of master-metered customers served under gas Rate Schedule GS and GT.

¹⁹ Schedule G-PPPS (Public Purpose Program Surcharge) needs to be added to the TOTAL Non-CARE Charge and TOTAL CARE Charge for bill calculation. See Schedule G-PPPS for details and exempt customers.

"CARE Schedules include California Solar Initiative (CSI) Exemption in accordance with Advice Letter 3257-G-A.

^{SY} Per dwelling unit per day (Multifamily Service)

⁶⁷ Per installed space per day (Mobilehome Park Service)

¹⁷This procurement rate includes a charge of \$0.02431 per therm to reflect account balance amortizations in accordance with Advice Letter 3157-G.

Seasons: Winter = Nov-Mar Summer = April-Oct

Following are the SCE electricity tariffs, both standard and time-of-use, and SoCalGas natural gas tariffs applied in this study.

2dule D IC SERVICE ttinued) Delivery Service Total ¹ 0.08768 (R) 0.08768 (R) 0.17278 (R) 0.17278 (R) 0.23747 (R)	Gene UG*** 0.07477 0.07477 0.07477 0.07477 0.07477	Constant of the second of the	t2
tinued) Delivery Service Total ¹ 0.08768 (R) 0.0768 (R) 0.17278 (R) 0.17278 (R) 0.17278 (R) 0.23747 (Gene UG*** 0.07477 0.07477 0.07477 0.07477 0.07477	ation ² DWREC ³ 0.00000 0.00000 0.00000 0.00000 0.00000 0.00000	
Delivery Service Total ¹ 0.08768 (R) 0.08768 (R) 0.17278 (R) 0.17278 (R) 0.23747 (R) 0.329	Gene UG*** 0.07477 0.07477 0.07477 0.07477 0.07477	0.00000 0.00000 0.00000 0.00000 0.00000 0.00000	
Delivery Service Total ¹ 0.06768 (R) 0.0768 (R) 0.17276 (R) 0.23747 (R) 0.329 0.329	Gene UG*** 0.07477 0.07477 0.07477 0.07477 0.07477	0,00000 0,00000 0,00000 0,00000 0,00000 0,00000	
Total ¹ 0.08768 (R) 0.08768 (R) 0.17276 (R) 0.17278 (R) 0.23747 (0.07477 0.07477 0.07477 0.07477 0.07477 0.07477	DWREC ³ 0.00000 0.00000 0.00000 0.00000 0.00000	
0.08768 (R) 0.08768 (R) 0.17276 (R) 0.17276 (R) 0.23747 (R) 0.239	0.07477 0.07477 0.07477 0.07477 0.07477	0.00000 0.00000 0.00000 0.00000 0.00000	
0.08768 (R) 0.08768 (R) 0.17276 (R) 0.17276 (R) 0.23747 (R) 0.329	0.07477 0.07477 0.07477 0.07477 0.07477	0.00000 0.00000 0.00000 0.00000 0.00000	
0.08768 (R) 0.08768 (R) 0.17276 (R) 0.17276 (R) 0.23747 (R) 0.23747 (R) 0.23747 (R) 0.23747 (R) 0.234 0.328 0.329 S/Meter/Day 0.164 0.164	0.07477 0.07477 0.07477 0.07477 0.07477	0.00000 0.00000 0.00000 0.00000 0.00000	
0.00740 (H) 0.17276 (R) 0.23747 (R) 0.23747 (R) 0.23747 (R) 0.031 0.024 0.329 0.329 S/Meter/Day 0.164 0.164	0.07477 0.07477 0.07477 0.07477	0.00000	
0.17278 (R) 0.17278 (R) 0.23747 (R) 0.23747 (R) 0.23747 (R) 0.031 0.024 0.329 0.329 S/Meter/Day 0.164 0.164	0.07477 0.07477 0.07477 0.07477	0.00000 0.00000 0.00000 0.00000	
0.17276 (R) 0.23747 (R) 0.23747 (R) 0.031 0.024 0.329 0.329 \$/Meter/Day 0.164 0.164	0.07477 0.07477 0.07477	0.00000	
0.23747 (R) 0.23747 (R) 0.031 0.024 0.329 0.329 \$/Meter/Day 0.164 0.164	0.07477	0.00000	
0.23747 (R) 0.23747 (R) 0.031 0.024 0.329 \$/Meter/Day 0.164 0.164	0.07477	0.00000	
0.031 0.024 0.329 0.329 \$/Meter/Day 0.164 0.164			
0.031 0.024 0.329 0.329 \$/Meter/Day 0.164 0.164			
0.031 0.024 0.329 0.329 \$/Meter/Day 0.164 0.164			
0.329 0.329 S/Meter/Day 0.164 0.164			
0.329 0.329 SiMeter/Day 0.164 0.164			
0.329 \$/Meter/Day 0.164 0.164			
0.164 0.164			
0.164			
(31.00)			
	(0.75)		
	(1.25)		
23	1.1. 		
seline allocations a	is described in	Preliminary Staten	vent Part H
ergy Charge, plus	the applicable	Basic Charge is let	ss than the
per kWh is recove	red in the UG	component of Gene	aration.
Service, Direct Ac	cess (DA) and	d Community Choic	e Aggregation
DA-CRS or Schedu	le CCA-CRS	E DIVINDO TALE CON	iporient or ens
d Service Custom	ation on the f	WP Energy Credit	rea the Dilling
- For more initian	auon on the t	www.energy.credit,	see the binning
e Special Conditio	ns of this Sch	edule for more infor	mation.
tinued)			

2017-10-11

(To be inserted by utility) Advice 3608-E Decision

Issued by Caroline Choi Senior Vice President (To be inserted by Cal. PUC) Date Filed <u>May 25, 2017</u> Effective Jun 1, 2017 E-3930

Southern California Edison Rosemead, California (U 338-E)	Cancelling	Revised Revised	Cal. PUC S	Sheet No. Sheet No.	61672-E 60939-E
<u>Sche</u> <u>TIME-OF-US</u>	edule TOU-D-T	MESTIC		Sheet 2	
(1)	Continued)				
RATES					
	Delivery Service	Gen	eration ²	1	
	Total	UG***	DWREC ³		
Energy Charge - \$/kWh/Meter/Day	<i>x</i>			-	
Summer Season - On-Peak	k				
Level I (up to 130% of Baseline)	0.12304 (H)	0.23031	0.00000		
Summer Season - Off-Peal	6.10121 (R)	0.23031	0.00000		
Level I (up to 130% of Baseline)	0.12304 (R)	0.05735	0.00000		
Level II (More than 130% of Baseline)	0.16121 (R)	0.05735	0.00000		
		000126202			
Winter Season - On-Peak	·	102/04/02/04	100000000000000000000000000000000000000		
Level I (up to 130% of Baseline)	0.12304 (R)	0.11031	0.00000		
Winter Season - Off-Peak	0.10121 (H)	0.11031	0.00000		
Level I (up to 130% of Baseline)	0.12304 (R)	0.05121	0.00000		
Level II (More than 130% of Baseline)	0.16121 (R)	0.05121	0.00000		
Baris Charge Stituter/Day					
Single-Family Accommodation	0.031				
Multi-Family Accommodation	0.024				
Minimum Charge* - \$/Meter/Day					
Single-Family Accommodation	0.329				
Multi-Family Accommodation	0.329				
Minimum Charge (Medical Baseline)**	- \$/Meter/Day				
Single-Family Accommodation	0.164				
Multi-Family Accommodation	0.164				
California Climate Credit ⁴	(31.00)				
California Alternate Rates for					
Energy Discount - %	100.00*				
Back Tree Debate States		(0.78)			
Peak Time Rebate		(0.75)			
w/enabling technology - \$/kWh		(1.25)			
		0.13			
* The Minimum Charge is applicable when the Delivery Serv Minimum Charge. * Represents 100% of the discount percentage as shown in th *** The ongoing Competition Transition Charge (CTC) of \$(0.00) 1 Total = Total Delivery Service rates are applicable to Buny Service (CCA Service) Customers, except DA and CCA Ser Schedule but instead pay the DWRBC as provided by Sched 2 Generation = The Gen rates are applicable only to Bundled 2	e applicable Spec 034) per kWh is re died Service, Dire rvice Customers : tule DA-CRS or Si Service Customers	pe, plus the ap clai Condition of ecovered in the oct Access (D/ are not subject chedule CCA-i s.	phicable Basic of this Schedule e UG componer A) and Commu to the DWRB/ CRS	Charge is le	ss than the on. Aggregation nent of this
3 DWREC = Department of Water Resources (DWR) Energy 0	Sredit - For more	information on	the DWR Ener	rgy Credit, se	e the Billing
Calculation Special Condition of this Schedule.	es lite Special Co	and the set of the	Colordado for a	and the second	later
4 Applied on an equal basis, per nousenoid, semi-annually. S	ee the special Co	andmons of the	s achequie for r	nore morma	uqn.
(1	Continued)				
(To be inserted by utility)	lequed by		(To be incom	ted by Col	PLICY
Advise 2000 E	Issued by		Data Filed	May 25	2017
Auvice 3000-E C	Vias Duraid		Date Filed	May 20,	2017
Senior	vice Presider	<u>II</u>	Brechter	Jun 1, 20	11
2020			Resolution	E-3930	

SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GAS C	OMPANY	Revised	CAL. P.U.C. SHEET NO.	54294-G
LOS ANGELES, CALIFORNIA	CANCELING	Revised	CAL. P.U.C. SHEET NO.	54268-G

RE (Includes	Schedule No. GR SIDENTIAL SERVICE s GR, GR-C and GT-R Ra	ites)	Sheet 1
APPLICABILITY			
The GR rate is applicable to natural gas p	procurement service to ind	ividually meter	ed residential customers.
The GR-C, cross-over rate, is a core proce transportation customers with annual con-	urement option for indivi- sumption over 50,000 the	dually metered i rms, as set forth	residential core n in Special Condition 10.
The GT-R rate is applicable to Core Agg residential customers, as set forth in Spec	regation Transportation (C	CAT) service to	individually metered
The California Alternate Rates for Energy the bill, is applicable to income-qualified as set forth in Schedule No. G-CARE.	y (CARE) discount of 209 households that meet the	%, reflected as a requirements for	separate line item on or the CARE program
TERRITORY			
Applicable throughout the service territor	ry.		
<u>RATES</u> <u>Customer Charge</u> , per meter per day:	<u>GR</u> 16.438¢	<u>GR-C</u> 16.438¢	<u>GT-R</u> 16.438¢
For "Space Heating Only" customers, a d Customer Charge applies during the wint from November 1 through April 30 ^{1/} :	laily er period 33.149¢	33.149¢	33.149¢
Baseline Rate, per therm (baseline usage Procurement Charge: ^{2j} Transmission Charge: ^{3j} Total Baseline Charge:	defined in Special Condit 	ions 3 and 4): 34.213¢ <u>51.195¢</u> 85.408¢	N/A 51.220¢ 51.220¢
<u>Non-Baseline Rate</u> , per therm (usage in e Procurement Charge: ^{2/} <u>Transmission Charge</u> : ^{3/} Total Non-Baseline Charge:	xcess of baseline usage): 	34.213¢ <u>84.028¢</u> 118.241¢	N/A <u>84.053¢</u> 84.053¢
^{1/} For the summer period beginning May accumulated to at least 20 Ccf (100 cu	(1 through October 31, w bic feet) before billing.	ith some except	tions, usage will be
(Footnotes continue next page.)			
	(Continued)		
(TO BE INSERTED BY UTILITY)	ISSUED BY	(TO B	E INSERTED BY CAL. PUC)
ADVICE LETTER NO. 5185	Dan Skopec	DATE FILED	Sep 8, 2017
DECISION NO.	Vice President	EFFECTIVE	Sep 10, 2017
105	Regulatory Affairs	RESOLUTIO	N NO. U-3331

Following are the SDG&E electricity, both standard and time-of-use, and natural gas tariffs applied in this study.

SDGF								
San Diego Gas & Electric Comp	any		Revised	Cal. P.U.C.	Sheet N	o		29081-E
San Diego, California	C	Canceling	Revised	Cal. P.U.C.	Sheet N	o		28651-E
		SC <u>RESID</u> (Includ	ENTIAL SER	DR RVICE DR-LI)				Sheet 1
APPLICABILITY								
Applicable to domestic serv in single family dwellings, fla residential purposes by te combination of residential a Special Condition 7.	ice for lightir ats, and apar enants in n nd nonresid	ng, heatin tments, s nulti-famil ential ser	ng, cooking, v separately me y dwellings vice on the s	vater heatir tered by th under Sp ame mete	ng, and ne utility ecial C r; and t	powe to se ondit o inci	er, or combinatio ervice used in co ion 8; to any dental farm serv	n thereof, mmon for approved ice under
This schedule is also applic Program and/or Medical Ba and may include Non-profit such facilities qualify to rec CARE and Medical Baselin respectively.	cable to cust seline, resid t Group Livin eive service ne customers	tomers q ling in sin ng Facilit under th s are ide	ualifying for t igle-family ac ies and Qua ne terms and ntified in the	he Californ commodati ified Agric conditions rates table	ia Alter ions, se ultural I s of Sch es belo	nate parat Emplo nedule w as	Rates for Energ ely metered by f byee Housing Fa e E-CARE. The DR-LI and DR-I	y (CARE) the Utility, acilities, if rates for MB rates,
Customers on this schedule GHG-ARR.	may also q	ualify for	a semi-annua	I California	a Climat	e Cre	dit \$(29.62) per	Schedule
TERRITORY Within the entire territory ser RATES	rved by the U	Jtility.						
Total Rates:								
Description - DR Rates	UDC Total Rate	DWR-B Rate	C EECC Ra DWR Cr	te † Tot	al Rate			
Summer:								
Up to 130% of Baseline Energy	0.07718 I	0.00549	0.1410	6 0.3	22373	I		
(\$/kWh) Above 130% of Baseline (\$/kWh)	0.25498 R	0.00549	0.1410	6 O.	40153	R		
Winter								
Up to 130% of Baseline Energy	0 10807 1	0.00546		-	20552			
(\$/kWh)	0.12007 1	0.00545	0.0719	o 0.1	20002	1		
Above 130% of Baseline (\$/KWII)	0.29139 K	0.00545	0.0719	o 0.	30004	ĸ		
Minimum Bill (\$/day)	0.329			0).329			
Description -DR-LI Rates	UDC Total Rate	DWR-BC Rate	C EECC Ra	te + edit	al Rate		CARE Rate	'
Summer - CARE Rates:								1
Up to 130% of Baseline Energy	0.07671 I	0.00000	0.1410	6 0.2	21777	I	0.13786	
(\$/kWh) Above 130% of Baseline (\$/kWh)	0.25451 R	0.00000	0.1410	6 O.3	39557	R	0.25230	
Winter - CARE Rates:								
(\$/kWh)	0.12760 I	0.00000	0.0719	6 O.1	19956	I	0.12614	1
Above 130% of Baseline (\$/kWh)	0.29092 R	0.00000	0.0719	5 O.3	36265	R	0.23126	1
Minimum Bill (\$/day)	0.164			0	.164		0.164	
			(Continued	D				
1C13			Issued by			Date	Filed	Aug 17, 20
Advice Ltr. No. 3055-E-A			Dan Skop	ec		Effec	tive	Sep 1, 20
Decision No. 15-07-001			Vice Preside Regulatory Af	ent fairs		Reso	lution No.	48

SDG	Ē								
San Diego Gas & Els	ectric Come	201		Revised	Cal. P.U.	C. Sheet N	lo		28663-E
San Diego, C	alifornia	sarry .	Canceling	Revised	Cal. P.U.	C. Sheet N	lo		28533-E
			SCH	EDULE D	R-SES				Sheet 1
DOME: PPLICABILITY ervice under this ith Solar Energy	STIC TIN schedule Systems	is availab	E FOR HO	USEHOLD	is for indiv	SOLAR E	ENERGY S	<u>SYSTEM</u> idential cu: mers with	stomers a Solar
mergy System w ombination thereo (ARE) customers this schedule.	vith dom of, in sing are eligi	estic servi le family d ble for serv	ice for lig wellings a vice on this	ghting, hea nd flats. C s schedule	ating, cook ating, cook ating C as further	ing, wat alifornia describe	er heating Alternative d under S	g, and po e Rates for special Cor	wer, or Energy idition 8
ustomers on this chedule GHG-AR	R.	le may als	io quality	for a sem	i-annual C	alifornia	Climate C	redit \$(29.	62) per
RRITORY ithin the entire te	rritory se	rved by the	e Utility.						
ATES									
otal Rates:		UDC Total	DWR-	BC FEC	C Bate t	-			
Description – DR-SE	8 Rates	Rate	Rat	e DW	R Gredit	Total Ra	ate		
nerov Charges (\$/kW	h)								
n-Peak – Summer		0 14184	I 0.005	49 0	35896 I	0.5062	a I		
mi-Peak- Summer		0.14184	I 0.005	49 0	10375 I	0.2510	5 I		
ff-Peak – Summer		0.14184	I 0.005	49 0	07966 I	0.2272	1 I		
smi-Peak – Winter		0.14184	I 0.005	49 0	05556 I	0.2361	9 I		
ff-Peak – Winter		0.14184	I 0.005	49 0	07438 I	0.2217	1 I		
inimum Bill (\$/day)		0.329				0.329			
Total Rates consist o	f UDC, Sche	dule DWR-BC	(Department o	f Water Resour	ces Bond Char	ge), and Sche	dule EECC (B	Electric Energy	Commodity
Cost) rates, with the E	ECC rates re	effecting a DWR	Credit of \$0.	00000 that ci	stomers recei	ve on their mo	onthly bills.		
Total Rates presente	d are for cus	stomers that rec	eive commod	ty supply and o	elivery service	from Utility.	Differences in	n total rates pai	d by Direct
Access (DA) and Con	nmunity Choi	ce Aggregation	(CCA) custome	ers are identified	In Schedule D/	-CRS and CO	CA-CRS, respe	ctively.	
DWR-BC charges do	not apply to	CARE or Medi	cal Baseline cu	istomers.					
DC Rates									
escription-DR-SES	Transm	Distr	PPP	ND	стс	LGC	RS	TRAC	UDC
nerov Charoes S/kWh)									
n-Peak - Summer	0.03629	0.00077	0.01063	(0.00049)	0.00177	R 0.00266	1 0.00019	0.00000	0.14104 [
ff-Peak - Summer	0.03829	0.06677	0.01063	(0.00049)	0.00177	R 0.00268	I 0.00019	0.00000	0.14184 I
emi-Peak - Winter	0.03829	0.08877	0.01063	(0.00049)	0.00177	R 0.00268	I 0.00019	0.00000	0.14184 I
ff-Peak - Winter	0.03829	0.08877	0.01063	(0.00049)	0.00177	R 0.00268	I 0.00019	0.00000	0.14184 I
linimum Bill (\$/day)		0.329							0.329
	•								•
	•								
				(Continu	ied)				
C8				Issued	by		Date Filed		Jan 17, 20
dvice Ltr. No. 3	034-E			Dan Sko	opec		Effective		Mar 1, 20
ecision No. 1	6-12-053			Vice Pres Regulatory	ident Affairs		Resolution	No.	
Concernence of Marcol				granation y					

<u>SDG</u>	Pavirad Cal PUIC	Sheet No.	22788 C
San Diego Gas & Electric Company	Revised Cal. P.U.C.		22700-0
San Diego, California	Canceling Revised Cal. P.U.C.	Sheet No.	22//5-G
25	SCHEDULE GR	105	Sheet 1
(Inclu	SIDENTIAL NATURAL GAS SERV udes Rates for GR, GR-C, GTC/GT	ICE ICA)	
APPLICABILITY			
The GR rate is applicable to natural g	as procurement service for individu	ually metered residentia	I customers.
The GR-C, cross-over rate, is a ransportation customers with annual	core procurement option for in consumption over 50,000 therms,	dividually metered re as set forth in Special (sidential core Condition 10.
The GTC/GTCA rate is applicable esidential customers, as set forth in S	to intrastate gas transportation-o Special Condition 11.	nly services to individ	ually metered
Customers taking service under this s CARE) program discount, reflected a he terms and conditions of Schedule	schedule may be eligible for a 20% is a separate line item on the bill, if G-CARE.	California Alternate R they qualify to receive	ate for Energy service under
TERRITORY			
Within the entire territory served natur	ral gas by the utility.		
RATES	GR	GR-C (GTC/GTCA ^{1/}
aseline Rate, per therm (baseline us	sage defined in Special Conditions	3 and 4):	1000
Procurement Charge:2	\$0.33755	\$0.33755 R	N/A
Total Baseline Charge:	\$1.24868	\$1.24868 R	\$0.91113
las Receive Data partheres (venes	in ourses of baseling upperly		
Procurement Charge: 2	\$0.33755	\$0.33755 R	N/A
Transmission Charge:	\$1.09834	\$1.09834	\$1.09834
Total Non-Baseline Charge:	\$1.43589	\$1.43589 R	\$1.09834
/inimum Bill, per day: ^{3/}			
Non-CARE customers:	\$0.09863	\$0.09863	\$0.09863
CARE customers:	\$0.07890	\$0.07890	\$0.07890
The rates for core transportation-only NGV, include any FERC Settlement Pr This charge is applicable to Utility Proc	customers, with the exception of custo oceeds Memorandum Account (FSPM curement Customers and includes the	mers taking service unde A) credit adjustments. GPC and GPC-A Procure	r Schedule GT-
shown in Schedule GPC which are sul Effective starting May 1, 2017, the mir the number of days in the billing cy customer resulting in a minimum bill ch	bject to change monthly as set forth in himum bill is calculated as the minimum vcle (approximately \$3 per month) w harge of \$0.07890 per day (approximal	Special Condition 7. m bill charge of \$0.09863 ith a 20% discount appl tely \$2.40 per month).	per day times lied for CARE
	(Continued)		
C5	Issued by	Date Filed	Sep 8, 20
dvice Ltr. No. 2608-G	Dan Skopec	Effective	Sep 10, 20
And a local data	Vice President	Baseliticati	
Jecision No.	Regulatory Attairs	Resolution No.	2



436 14th St, Oakland, CA 92618 Phone: (916) 844-1033 Email: FFarahmand@trcsolutions.com

Statewide Nonresidential Reach Code Cost Effectiveness Analysis

July 2017



Submitted To:

Southern California Edison Mr. Chris Kuch 1515 Walnut Grove Rosemead, CA 91770

TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXEC	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY				
1.	INTR	INTRODUCTION			
	1.1	1.1 Scope and Limitations			
2.	METHODOLOGY			8	
	2.1	2.1 Cost Effectiveness Methodologies			
		2.1.1	Life Cycle Cost Methodology Using Time Dependent Valuation	8	
		2.1.2	Customer Cost Effectiveness Using On-Bill Impacts	9	
	2.2 Measure Analysis			9	
		2.2.1	Energy Savings	9	
		2.2.2	Costs	10	
		2.2.3	Prototype	10	
3.	MEASURE DESCRIPTIONS AND COSTS				
	3.1	1 Lighting Measures		14	
		3.1.1	Reduce Lighting Power Density	14	
		3.1.2	Open Office Occupancy Sensors	15	
		3.1.3	Daylight Dimming-Plus-Off	16	
		3.1.4	Institutional Tuning	16	
		3.1.5	Modeling All Lighting Measures	17	
	3.2 Envelope Measures		pe Measures	18	
		3.2.1	Reduced Window Solar Heat Gain Coefficient	18	
		3.2.2	Cool Roofs	19	
4.	COST EFFECTIVENESS RESULTS			21	
	4.1	4.1 Life Cycle Cost Methodology Using TDV			
	4.2	Customer Cost Effectiveness Using On-Bill Impacts			
	4.3 Greenhouse Gas Savings		nouse Gas Savings	25	
		4.3.1	Reach Code Recommendations	25	
5.	APPE	ENDIX A – COST DATA			
6.	APPENDIX B – UTILITY RATE SCHEDULES			30	
	6.1	6.1 Electric Rates			
	6.2	Gas Rates			

.....
TABLE OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Compliance Margin and Cost Effectiveness Summary Results	5
Figure 2. Investor-Owned Utility (IOU) Rate Schedules	9
Figure 3. Climate Zones Grouped by Geographic Region	10
Figure 4. CEC Nonresidential New Construction Forecast	
Figure 5. Medium Office Prototype Summary	12
Figure 6. Medium Office Prototype Compliance kTDV/ft ² by End-use	13
Figure 7. Reduced LPD Incremental Cost Summary	15
Figure 8. Open Office Occupancy Sensors Incremental Costs Summary	16
Figure 9. Institutional Tuning Incremental Costs Summary	17
Figure 10. LPD Impact from All Lighting Measures	17
Figure 11. Reduced Window RSHGC Incremental Cost Summary	19
Figure 12. Cool Roof Incremental Cost Summary	20
Figure 13. TDV Cost Effectiveness Results	22
Figure 14. On-Bill Cost Effectiveness Results	24
Figure 15. Estimated GHG Savings per Building	25
Figure 16. Compliance Margin and Cost Effectiveness Summary Results	26
Figure 16. Reduced LPD Detailed Costs	27
Figure 17. Occupancy Sensor Detailed Costs	27
Figure 18. Reduced Window SHGC Detailed Costs	28
Figure 19. Low-Slope Cool Roof Detailed Costs	29
Figure 20. Southern California Edison Commercial Electric Rates (TOU-GS-2-A)	30
Figure 21. Pacific Gas and Electric Commercial Electric Rate (Schedule A-10, Table B)	3 I
Figure 22. San Diego Gas and Electric Commercial Electric Rate (AL-TOU)	3 I
Figure 23. Southern California Gas Commercial Natural Gas Rate (G-10)	32
Figure 24. Pacific Gas and Electric Commercial Natural Gas Rates (G-NR1)	32
Figure 25. San Diego Gas and Electric Commercial Natural Gas Rates (GN-3)	32

.....

TRC would like to acknowledge and thank the following entities for their support during this study: sixteen5hundred, EFCO Corporation, Viracon, and SSG MEP, Inc.

.....

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Southern California Edison (SCE) engaged TRC to provide a cost effectiveness study to support nonresidential new construction reach code requirements above 2016 Title 24, Part 6, Building Energy Efficiency Standards (T24) in all California climate zones (CZs). The T24 Standards are the minimum energy efficiency requirements for building construction in California, and a reach code would require energy performance beyond the minimum in jurisdictions that adopt it.

Based on the results of TRC's analysis, the cities in all California CZs may move forward with a reach code requiring that nonresidential buildings improve energy performance by at least 10% better than the state minimum requirements, and 15% better in CZs 1, 3, 5, and 7.

TRC conducted cost data collection and energy simulations of four lighting and two envelope energy efficiency measures to show that nonresidential new construction can comply with a 10% reach code cost effectively:

- Reduced lighting power density
- Open office occupancy sensors
- Daylight dimming-plus-off
- Institutional tuning
- Reduced window solar heat gain coefficient
- Cool roofs

Note that the measures are not intended to serve as prescriptive measures, but one possible package achieving 10%. The 10% compliance margin improvement is measured in terms of Time Dependent Valuation (TDV). Measures were simulated in 2016 CBECC-Com compliance software to inform energy impacts using a medium office prototype. TRC quantified the incremental costs for the construction, maintenance, and replacement of the proposed measures relative to T24 through industry expert interviews and online research.

TRC's analysis consisted of two methods to estimate and quantify the value of the energy savings over the 15-year life of the measures:

- TDV: The California Energy Commission Life Cycle Cost (LCC) methodology using 2016 Time Dependent Valuation (TDV) of energy, and
- **On-Bill:** Customer cost effectiveness using utility rate schedules to value On-Bill energy impacts.

Each cost effectiveness methodology (TDV and On-Bill) determines cost effectiveness by comparing the incremental cost of a measure to the energy cost savings, in a combined Benefit to Cost (B/C) Ratio metric. The B/C Ratio is the incremental energy costs savings divided by the total incremental costs. When the B/C ratio is greater than 1.0, the added cost of the measure is offset by the discounted energy cost savings, and the measure is cost effective.

TRC's analysis shows that nonresidential buildings in all California CZs have a market-ready and cost effective set of measures to achieve at least 10% energy performance higher than the T24, through both the TDV and On-Bill cost effectiveness methodologies. Thus, all California jurisdictions have justification for adopting a 10% nonresidential reach code meeting the requirements of Section 10-106 of the California Code of Regulations Title 24, Part 1. Furthermore, TRC found 15% compliance margins cost effective in CZs 1, 3, 5 and 7, and recommends the a 15% nonresidential reach code in these climate zones (Figure 1). Final measure packages represent one possible way to achieve higher compliance margins, and are not intended to represent a mandatory or prescriptive set of measures.

Climata Zana	Cost Effective	B/C	Ratio	Recommended Reach Code	
Climate zone	Compliance Margin	TDV Methodology	On-Bill Methodology	Compliance Margin	
1	15.7%	3.0	5.3	15%	
2	12.8%	1.4	2.3	10%	
3	15.5%	1.2	2.0	15%	
4	13.1%	1.4	2.3	10%	
5	15.9%	1.2	2.0	15%	
6	14.7%	1.4	1.5	10%	
7	15.6%	1.4	2.3	15%	
8	13.7%	1.4	1.5	10%	
9	12.6%	1.4	1.5	10%	
10	11.6%	1.5	2.5	10%	
11	11.0%	1.6	2.5	10%	
12	11.8%	1.4	2.2	10%	
13	10.8%	1.6	2.5	10%	
14	11.0%	1.6	1.8	10%	
15	10.4%	1.9	2.1	10%	
16	12.8%	1.5	2.3	10%	

Figure 1. Compliance Margin and Cost Effectiveness Summary Results

I. INTRODUCTION

Southern California Edison (SCE) engaged TRC to provide a cost effectiveness study to support nonresidential new construction reach code requirements above 2016 Title 24 Building Energy Efficiency Standards (T24), in all California climate zones (CZs). The T24 Standards are the minimum energy efficiency requirements for building construction in California, and a reach code would require energy performance beyond the minimum. The 2016 T24 Standards became effective on January 1, 2017.

Based on the results of TRC's analysis, the cities in all California CZs may move forward with a reach code requiring that nonresidential buildings improve energy performance by at least 10% better than the state minimum requirements, and 15% better in CZs 1, 3, 5, and 7.

I.I Scope and Limitations

TRC attempted to show that nonresidential new construction can comply with a 10% reach code cost effectively by using CEC-approved compliance software and without triggering federal preemption.¹ The 10% compliance margin improvement is measured in terms of Time Dependent Valuation (TDV), described further in Section 2.1.1. TRC researched measures drawn from multiple sources in efforts to develop cost effective packages. Measures were simulated in compliance software to inform energy impacts, and costs were attained through expert interviews and online research. Final measure packages represent one possible way to achieve higher compliance margins, and are not intended to represent a mandatory or prescriptive set of measures.

This study has the following scope limitations:

- Prototype. The only building studied is a medium office prototype, further described in Section 2.2.3, because the California Energy Commission (CEC) nonresidential new construction forecast lists offices as being the most widely built building type for 2017 through 2019. Findings may not pertain to high-rise residential or other commercial spaces, such as restaurants and fitness centers, which have very different space conditioning loads and occupancy schedules. However, findings may be more pertinent to other nonresidential spaces, such as retail and school buildings, which have similar occupancy schedules, internal conditioning loads, and domestic water heating loads as office spaces. Using one representative prototype to estimate impacts on a broad range of building types aligns with analyses methods used in previous Title 24 Code and Standards Enhancement (CASE) studies and local reach code studies. Nonetheless, local jurisdictions can choose to analyze other prototypes during the Reach Code adoption process.
- Federal Preemption. The Department of Energy (DOE) regulates the minimum efficiencies required for all appliances, such as space conditioning or water heating equipment. State or city codes that mandate appliance efficiencies higher than the DOE's risk litigation by manufacturer industry organizations. Thus, TRC did not use increased equipment efficiencies as reach code measures, although these measures are often the simplest and most affordable measures to increase energy performance. While this study is limited by federal pre-emption, developers can use any package of measures to achieve reach code goals, including the use of high efficiency appliances that are federally regulated.
- Modeling Capability. TRC used CEC-approved compliance software, CBECC-Com, to ensure that a free and readily available software could be used by permit applicants to show compliance with the reach code. CEC-approved compliance software does not have the capability to model the energy

¹ List of CEC-approved simulation software available at: <u>http://www.energy.ca.gov/title24/2016standards/2016_computer_prog_list.html</u>

performance of some measures typically associated with energy savings, such as radiant systems, variable refrigerant flow, or chilled beams. TRC limited the packages to include measures that could be modeled in CEC-approved compliance software.

- Non-Regulated Loads. Energy consuming end-uses that are not regulated by the CEC, such as receptacle and process loads (e.g., computers and elevators), have been explicitly excluded from the scope of this study. CEC-approved simulation software does not allow compliance credit for energy efficiency improvements in these end-uses.
- Renewable Generation, including Solar PV. TRC did not consider on-site or off-site renewable solar generation as a means of complying with the reach code. The reach code measures solely improve the efficiency of building systems. Furthermore, the CEC does not currently allow compliance credit for solar generation.

2. METHODOLOGY

TRC assessed the cost effectiveness of 2016 reach code packages by analyzing several energy efficiency measures applied to prototype buildings. TRC's analysis consisted of two methods to capture benefits and costs:

- 1. **TDV:** The CEC Life Cycle Cost (LCC) methodology using 2016 Time Dependent Valuation (TDV) of energy, and
- 2. On-Bill: Customer cost effectiveness using utility rate schedules to value On-Bill energy impacts.

Both methodologies require estimating and quantifying the value of the energy impact associated with energy efficiency measures over the life of the measures (15 years) as compared to the baseline T24 medium office prototype. The main difference between the methodologies is how they value energy and the associated cost savings of reduced energy consumption, described in Section 2.1.

Both methodologies also require quantifying the incremental costs for the construction, maintenance, and replacement of the proposed measure relative to the 2016 Title 24 Standards prescriptive requirements. Incremental costs for each measure are described in Section 3.

2.1 Cost Effectiveness Methodologies

With each of the cost effectiveness methodologies (TDV and On-Bill), TRC determined cost effectiveness by comparing the incremental costs of a measure to the energy cost savings, in a combined Benefit to Cost (B/C) Ratio metric. The B/C Ratio is the incremental energy costs savings divided by the total incremental costs. When the B/C ratio is greater than 1.0, the added cost of the measure is offset by the discounted energy cost savings, and the measure is cost effective.

2.1.1 Life Cycle Cost Methodology Using Time Dependent Valuation

The CEC LCC Methodology is approved and used by the CEC to establish cost effective statewide building energy standards.² The methodology uses 2016 TDV of energy savings as the primary metric for energy savings, which reflects not only the retail costs to the end-user, but also the value of reduced energy demand, such as reduced greenhouse gas emissions and reduced strain to the electric grid.³ The TDV methodology assigns dollar values to electricity and natural gas delivered for each hour in the year. TDV accounts for retail rates, greenhouse gas emissions, and several other factors to value electricity generation. The TDV of gas generally hovers around one value in the spring and summer, and higher value in the fall and winter, without much fluctuation.

TDV values are based on long term discounted costs over 15 years. The period of analysis is associated with the associated measure life – lighting, air conditioning, or water heating measures may only be in place for 15 years. Envelope measures, such as windows and roofs are typically operational for 30 years, but TRC assumed a 15 year period of analysis for simplification.

The CEC developed the 2016 TDV values for all climate zones used in this study. TDV energy estimates are presented in terms of "TDV kBtus," which combine electricity and natural gas energy units.⁴ Compliance

² Architectural Energy Corporation (January 2011) Life-Cycle Cost Methodology. California Energy Commission. Available at: <u>http://www.energy.ca.gov/title24/2013standards/prerulemaking/documents/general_cec_documents/2011-01-14_LCC_Methodology_2013.pdf</u>

³ E3 (July 2014) Time Dependent Valuation of Energy for Developing Building Efficiency Standards: 2016 Time Dependent Valuation (TDV) Data Sources and Inputs. California Energy Commission. Available at: http://www.energy.ca.gov/title24/2016standards/prerulemaking/documents/2014-07-09 workshop/2017 TDV Documents/

⁴ kBtus = thousands of British Thermal Units.

software calculates TDV energy savings in terms of per-square-foot of the building. The present value of the energy savings is calculated by multiplying the TDV savings/ft² by the building conditioned floor area, and then by the Net Present Value (NPV) factor. The NPV factor is \$0.089/TDV kBtu for all nonresidential measures with a 15-year useful life.

2.1.2 Customer Cost Effectiveness Using On-Bill Impacts

The customer cost effectiveness methodology captures the energy cost savings from energy efficiency measures resulting from lower energy bills. TRC determined the NPV of the On-Bill savings over a 15-year lifetime, including a 3% discount rate and a 3% energy cost inflation rate.

On-Bill savings were estimated by calculating monthly electricity (kWh) and natural gas (therms) savings resulting energy efficiency measures using current commercial utility (IOU) rate schedules as shown in Figure 2. The commercial IOUs represent a large majority of California residents, and were the primary supporters of this study. Please see *Appendix B – Utility Rate Schedules* for further detail.

Climate Zones	Utility	Commodity	Schedule
1, 2, 3, 4, 5,	Pacific Gas and Electric Company	Electric	A-10 (TOU)
11, 12, 13, 16	racine das and Electric company	Gas	G-NR1
6, 8, 9, 14, 15	Southern California Edison	Electric	TOU-GS-2-A
	Southern California Gas Company	Gas	G-10
7 10	San Diago Gas and Electric Company	Electric	AL-TOU
7,10	San Diego Gas and Electric Company	Gas	GN-3

Figure 2. Investor-Owned Utility (IOU) Rate Schedules

2.2 Measure Analysis

TRC used CBECC-Com 2016.2.1 (build 868) for simulating energy efficiency measures in the medium office prototype.⁵ CBECC is a free public-domain software developed by the CEC for use in complying with the Title 24 Standards. Software algorithms are updated continuously, and new versions of the software are released periodically. CBECC-Com 2.1 uses EnergyPlus v8.5 as the simulation engine to perform the analysis.

2.2.1 Energy Savings

CEC approved compliance software simulations output TDV, kWh, and therms energy totals for a proposed building, and compare them to a prescriptive standard building. The 10% compliance margin goal is determined by comparing the proposed building TDV energy usage to the standard building TDV energy usage – the proposed building should use 10% less than the standard building's TDV energy usage. The TDV energy budget

⁵ More information on CBECC-Com available at: <u>http://bees.archenergy.com/software.html</u>

and compliance margin is a standard output for building permit applicants completing a performance calculation. The TDV energy budget requirements are described in 2016 T24 Sections 100.2 and 140.1.

Because TDV combines electric and gas energy impacts, different energy efficiency measures can have different kWh and therms impacts while having the same TDV impact. The measure packages in Section 4 represent one possible way to achieve a higher compliance margin – these packages are not intended to represent a mandatory set of reach code measures. Other packages of measures can also achieve higher compliance margins, but will have different kWh and therms impacts.

TRC investigated potential energy efficiency measures to apply to the medium office prototype in each climate zone. TRC utilized previous reach code studies and program experience to investigate reach code measures that would have the greatest impact on reducing the largest energy consuming end uses (see Figure 6). TRC conducted market research to assess measure feasibility, costs, and potential energy impact.

2.2.2 Costs

TRC gathered costs for four regions within California to best represent localized costs (Figure 3). TRC reviewed previous studies for relevant cost data, such as Codes and Standards Enhancement (CASE) studies, if available. TRC conducted cost research by accessing online retailers and interviews with contractors and distributors serving each region. Costs include upfront costs, maintenance, and replacement if the end of useful life is prior to the end of the measure life for a product. For replacements, a three percent (3%) inflation rate was assumed. Detailed costs are provided in *Appendix A – Cost Data*.

The main cause of variation in costs among the regions is due to labor rates, based on RS Means research. There are also slight changes in material costs from region to region, based on local quotes received. Taxes and contractor markups were added as appropriate.

Region	Climate Zone
North Coastal	1-5
South Coastal	6-10
Central	11-13
Inland	14-16

E: 2	Cline	7	Caston	I	Casherablia	D
rigure 3	. Climate	zones	Grouped	DV	Geographic	Region
				- /		

Specifically, when gathering cost data on windows and lighting improvements, TRC found that stakeholders were supportive of the potential measures and in general agreement on TRC's assumptions for potential costs, but would not provide specific cost data themselves. Further detail is provided in Section 3.

2.2.3 Prototype

TRC used a 53,628 ft² medium office prototype to run simulations in all California CZs. This prototype is a DOE building model used for analysis of ASHRAE Standard 90.1, but is often used to justify nonresidential T24 standard enhancements and is summarized in the 2016 T24 Nonresidential Alternative Calculation Method

(ACM) Reference Manual.⁶ TRC chose an office prototype because, according to the CEC new construction forecast, offices are projected to be the most widely built building type during the 2016 T24 code cycle (Figure 4). TRC chose the medium office (as opposed to a small or large office) to represent an average sized office, and a building type that is likely to get built in both small and large California cities.

Building Type	2017 – 2019 Forecasted Construction (% of total)
Small, Medium, and Large Office	22%
Retail	16%
Warehouse	14%
Restaurant/Food	7%
School	5%
Hotel	5%
College	4%
Hospital	4%
Miscellaneous	23%

Figure	e 4.	CEC	Nonresidential	New	Construction	Forecast
			i toin cordentar		001100100000	

TRC initialized the medium office prototype to be exactly compliant with the prescriptive minimum 2016 T24 requirements (0% compliance margin) in each climate zone, summarized in Figure 5. The prototype has a 33% window-to-wall ratio area (WWR) with the glazing area evenly distributed in the four geometry facings – north, east, south, and west – to ensure that results are applicable regardless of the orientation of a building. The TDV of energy savings for energy efficiency measures were derived by applying packages to the minimally code compliant prototype.

⁶ Available at: <u>http://www.energy.ca.gov/title24/2016standards/nonresidential_manual.html</u>

	Building Type	Medium Office	
Floor Area (ft2)		53,628	
	# of floors	3	
Win	dow-to-Wall Area Ratio	33%	
HV	AC Distribution System	3x Packaged Variable Air Volume with VAV Hot Water Reheat	
	Cooling System	Direct Expansion, 9.8 EER, Economizer	
	Heating System	Boiler, 80% Thermal Efficiency	
Conditioned Thermal Zones		15	
Do	mestic Water Heating	Natural Gas Small Storage, EF = 0.64	
Ro	of Insulation (U-Value)	0.034 / 0.049 depending on CZ	
Low-slo	ped Roof Solar Reflectance	0.63	
Metal-frai	med Wall Insulation (U-Value)	0.062 / 0.069 / 0.082 depending on CZ	
	U-factor	0.36	
Window (fixed)	Solar Heat Gain Coefficient (SHGC)	0.25	
	Visible Transmittance (VT)	0.42	
Lighti	ng Power Density (W/ft ²)	0.75	

Figure 5. Medium Office Prototype Summary

The minimally compliant energy consumption of the medium office prototype in each climate zone is summarized by end-use in Figure 6. Note that outdoor lighting, receptacle and process loads (such as computers or elevators) are not regulated end uses in T24, and thus cannot count be modeled as efficiency measures. Except for CZ 1, the largest energy consumers in the medium office prototype are space cooling and indoor lighting. The total energy values in Figure 6 represent only the regulated energy end uses.



Figure 6. Medium Office Prototype Compliance kTDV/ft²by End-use

3. MEASURE DESCRIPTIONS AND COSTS

This section provides a description, general modeling parameters, market overview, and summarized costs for energy efficiency measures. After initial investigation and analysis of several energy efficiency measures, TRC selected the measures described below and the subsequent packages described in Section 4 based on cost effectiveness and technical feasibility in the California nonresidential new construction market:

- Lighting measures
 - Reduced lighting power density (LPD)
 - Open office occupancy sensors
 - Daylighting dimming-plus-off
 - Institutional tuning
- Envelope measures
 - Cool roof
 - Reduced window solar heat gain coefficient (SHGC)

Detailed measure costs are available in Appendix A – Cost Data.

TRC investigated the possible inclusion of several heating, ventilation, and air-conditioning (HVAC) measures, but was unable to find a market-ready measure that would not trigger federal pre-emption (such as improving IEER or AFUE values) and was able to be modeled in CBECC-Com. Furthermore, HVAC systems are highly integrated – meaning it is difficult to isolate a singular component to improve in efficiency without effecting other parts of the system, and subsequently requiring a whole system redesign. All of these issues proved challenging to isolating costs and energy impacts, and thus cost effectiveness, within the scope of this study.

3.1 Lighting Measures

TRC proposed lighting measures are all Power Adjustment Factors (PAFs) in 2016 Title 24, except the Reduced LPD measure. For Title 24 compliance, PAFs allow a building to install wattages that are higher than prescriptively allowed, due to improvements in controls. For the analysis, TRC did not assume that the PAF was being used to install higher wattages elsewhere in the building, as this would negate any energy impact from the measures.

3.1.1 Reduce Lighting Power Density

This measure reduces the lighting power density (LPD) from the 2016 Title 24 prescriptive requirement of 0.75 W/ft² for open office areas to 0.65 W/ft². TRC's analysis assumes LED as the primary light source type to achieve this lower LPD. Lighting design varies depending on lighting goals, interior layout, and technology types. TRC reached out to several lighting manufacturer representatives, but because of the large variety of lighting designs possible, representatives were reticent to provide general cost data points. Where necessary, TRC calculated the lighting layouts using Visual Interior Tool v2.0.3.1, and products recommended by manufacturer representatives. In addition to cost data provided by manufacturer representatives, TRC used product costs available on retail websites such as 1000bulbs.com, lightingdirect.com, grainger.com, globalindustrial.com, cesco.com, and homedepot.com.

Lighting costs are dependent on a variety of factors, including lighting output, number of luminaires in the space, and product quality. TRC's Cost research shows that, depending on the lighting design goals and product quality, some T8 fluorescent luminaires may be more costly than LED luminaires. This is because fluorescent fixtures require dimming ballasts to comply with Title 24 multilevel lighting requirements, while most LED fixtures include a dimming driver automatically. In many cases, the cost may be equivalent or very similar once

the dimming ballast cost is considered. Lighting manufacturer representatives and online retail sources show cost equivalency for linear fluorescent troffers with dimming ballasts and LED troffers. Although several manufacturer representatives would not provide cost data, their general feedback is that LEDs are now considered the market standard design and that it is feasible to design a project with LEDs at a lower LPD than prescriptive requirements with no incremental cost.

TRC's found that it is technologically feasible to achieve 0.65 W/ft² design at no incremental cost. The products in Figure 7 represent basic quality luminaires that provide 50 footcandles of illuminance to the space (calculated with no internal furniture or cubicle walls). Although the cost analysis is based on LEDs, research identified that it is feasible to reach an LPD of 0.65 with some fluorescent luminaires at no additional cost. For example, Cooper Lighting 2AC 232 UNV EB81 U linear fluorescent troffer can achieve this LPD, depending on layout, and is less expensive than some fluorescent luminaires meeting the prescriptive LPD.

Base Case	Proposed	Base Case	Proposed	Incremental	Total Incremental
	Measure	Cost (\$/ft²)	Case (\$/ft ²)	Cost (\$/ft ²)	Cost (\$/bldg)
Linear Fluorescent Troffer at 0.75 W/ft ² + Dimming Ballast	LED Troffer at 0.65 W/ft ²	\$2.33	\$2.06	(\$0.27)	None

Figure 7. Reduced LPD Incremental Cost Summary

3.1.2 Open Office Occupancy Sensors

This measure draws from the findings of the 2013 Indoor Lighting Controls CASE Report.⁷ This CASE report investigates the use of occupancy controls in open office spaces at various control group sizes and proposes one occupancy sensor for every four workstations (approximately 500 ft²). The energy savings associated with occupancy sensors are based on the 0.20 PAF credit in Table 140.6-A of the 2016 T24 Standards. In other words, TRC assumes that installing open office occupancy sensors is equivalent to a 20% reduction in installed LPD in open office areas. TRC assumes that 53% of the building is open office, equating to a net reduction of 11% in LPD.

Occupancy controls have been commercially available for several decades, and the technology is readily available from a wide variety of manufacturers. Both passive infrared and ultrasonic occupancy sensors are widely accepted in office buildings, have been acknowledged to save energy successfully, and are frequently required by codes. The incremental costs for this measure include the costs of the sensors and installation labor, according to the CASE report. The cost for the sensor from online retailers and a manufacturer rep is \$126.47 per sensor. The cost for installation and commissioning varies by region. Costs summarized in Figure 8 assume 59 sensors for the medium office and that recommissioning would occur in year 10 after initial commissioning. Costs can be reduced in areas where daylighting sensors will be installed if the selected controls include both passive infrared and daylighting sensing abilities.

⁷ California Utilities Statewide Codes and Standards Team (October 2011) Nonresidential Indoor Lighting Controls Codes and Standards Enhancement Initiative. Available at: http://www.energy.ca.gov/title24/2013standards/prerulemaking/documents/current/Reports/Nonresidential/Lighting Controls Bldg

http://www.energy.ca.gov/title24/2013standards/prerulemaking/documents/current/Reports/Nonresidential/Lighting Controls Bldg Power/2013 CASE NR Indoor Lighting Controls Oct 2011.pdf

CA Region	Base Case	Proposed Measure	PIR Sensor Cost (\$/sensor)	Commissioning Cost (\$/sensor)	Total Cost + Maintenance
North Coast		Occupancy ancy sensors in open – s office	\$126.47	\$75.35	\$14,894
South Coast	No occupancy		\$126.47	\$55.81	\$12,967
North Central	sensors		office	\$126.47	\$54.49
Inland			\$126.47	\$51.86	\$12,577

Figure 8. Open Office Occupancy Sensors Incremental Costs Summary

3.1.3 Daylight Dimming-Plus-Off

This measure revises the control settings for mandatory daylight sensors to be able to shut-off completely when adequate daylight levels are provided to the space. Current requirements are for sensors to dim lighting to 20% full power. TRC used a report by the Pacific Northwest National Laboratory for guidance on the feasibility of this measure.⁸ To model this measure in CBECC-Com, TRC revised the daylight control type from Continuous (with a minimum dimming light and power fractions of 0.20), to Continuous Plus Off (which effectively reduces the dimming light and power fractions to 0).

There is no associated cost with this measure, as the 2013 T24 Standards already require multilevel lighting and daylight sensors in primary and secondary daylit spaces. This measure is simply a revised control strategy, and does not increase the number of sensors required or labor to install and program a sensor.

3.1.4 Institutional Tuning

Institutional tuning is currently a PAF in the 2016 T24 Standards. To show compliance with this measure, a designer should meet the requirements of 2016 Title 24 Section 140.6(d). This measure works in conjunction with dimmable ballasts, which were adopted as a requirement in the 2013 T24 Standards. Tuning addresses the frequent practice of designing light levels in a space to exceed that needed for the tasks of the space. Based on space factors and normal lighting design practices, a lighting designer typically overdesigns the light levels specified for a space to ensure adequate lighting is provided. The higher light levels are often a result of designing a space to meet the required light levels while satisfying the luminaire spacing or ceiling layout. The resulting design provides more light (e.g. 65 footcandles) than is necessary or recommended in the space (e.g. 50 footcandles).⁹

Institutional tuning sets the maximum light levels in a space at a lower level than the fully installed light levels, but still at an acceptable level for occupants. The maximum power use is thus lower and energy is continuously saved. Tuning requires that lighting designers commission the lighting system after installation and tune down the lighting to meet the design criteria. In the previous example, the lighting designer may tune down the

⁸ Pacifica Northwest National Laboratory (August 2013) Analysis of Daylighting Requirements within ASHRAE 90.1. Available at: <u>http://www.pnnl.gov/main/publications/external/technical_reports/PNNL-22698.pdf</u>

⁹ A footcandle is the illuminance on a one square foot surface from a uniform source of light. It is a commonly used metric for lighting design.

lighting from 65 footcandles to 55. The designer wants to maintain initial light levels above the minimum requirement to account for depreciation in lamp efficacy over time.

TRC conservatively assumes a 10% reduction in LPD for an office (assuming this measure is in conjunction with the LPD reduction measure above), in line with the PAF factor of 0.10 in Table 140.6-A. Note in this table that institutional tuning has a lower PAF of 0.05 for daylit spaces. TRC did not use this lower PAF in daylit spaces because CBECC-Com already models the impact of daylighting, thus the interactive effects of tuning and daylighting controls do not need to be manually accounted for in the reduced LPD.

The additional cost for this measure is the labor required to tune the lighting in each space, as shown in Figure 9. This cost is dependent on the particular design of an office and the number of unique areas that a lighting designer must address. Based on a field study report by Seventhwave¹⁰ the labor cost required to implement institutional tuning is \$0.06 per square foot of space where tuning occurs. The study is representative of lighting installations in Minnesota. TRC used RSMeans Online to compare Minnesota labor rates with California labor rates for interior commercial LED installations. On average, considering several California city labor rates, the Minnesota labor rate and California labor rates are close in value; therefore, the cost estimate applies in California.

Base Case	Proposed Measure	Commissioning Cost	Total Cost
0.75 W/ft² (no tuning)	0.68 W/ft ² (with tuning)	\$0.06/ft ²	\$3,218

3.1.5 Modeling All Lighting Measures

Figure 10 summarizes the LPD impact from the lighting measures described above. The final LPD modeled in CBECC-Com is 0.52 W/ft². The impact of daylighting dimming-plus-off is not captured through a reduced LPD, but rather through a separate simulation control, and so is not included in Figure 10.

Base Case	+ LED Fixtures	+ Open Office Occupancy Sensors (11% LPD Reduction)	+ Institutional Tuning (10% LPD Reduction)					
0.75 W/ft ²	0.65 W/ft ²	0.58 W/ft ²	0.52 W/ft ²					

Figure 10. LPD Impact from All Lighting Measures

¹⁰ Schuetter, S., Li, J., and M. Lord. 2015. Adjusting lighting levels in commercial buildings: energy savings from institutional tuning. August 2015.

3.2 Envelope Measures

3.2.1 Reduced Window Solar Heat Gain Coefficient

2016 Title 24 prescriptive requirements vary by fenestration type, including fixed windows, curtainwalls, and storefront windows. TRC used fixed windows for the analysis, which have prescriptive requirements for a maximum U-factor of 0.36, a maximum relative solar heat gain coefficient (RSHGC) of 0.25, and a minimum visual transmittance (VT) of 0.42. The U-factor depicts the rate of heat transfer of a product, and includes the entire window assembly (glass and frame). The RSHGC is reflective of the heat gain through a window from direct sun exposure, and can be impacted by coatings and tints. The VT is a metric that describes the appearance of a window and ability of light to enter in through the window. A higher VT allows for more light to enter the space and promotes daylighting. In currently available products, RSHGC and VT are linked because factors that may lower RSHGC – such as tinting – can also reduce VT. TRC considered several window values to balance the benefits from reducing RSHGC and increasing daylighting with higher VT. Additionally, higher VTs are more market acceptable for appearance and occupant comfort.

TRC analyzed windows ranging from RSHGC 0.20 to 0.23 with VTs greater than or equal to 0.42, which is the prescriptive minimum value. To be conservative, TRC modeled all windows with the prescriptive minimum VT of 0.42 even though windows were identified with higher VT (which will provide more daylighting energy savings benefits). Based on feedback from glass manufacturers and window fabricators about market acceptance of low RSHGC windows, which tend to be heavily tinted, TRC selected RSHGC 0.22, which has a wider range of product availability without significant tinting.

However, in Climate Zone 15, which has a substantial cooling load, TRC used an RSHGC of 0.20. TRC initially considered 0.20 RSHGC for all climate zones, but feedback indicated that the commercial market is generally unaccepting of most products that can achieve this lower RSHGC because of heavy tint that may give a blue or green appearance.

To gather costs associated with reduced RSHGC, TRC contact several window fabricators and glass manufacturers. Window components are often manufactured at separate facilities under independent organizations, and then a fabricator will design and combine the final product; therefore, the individuals TRC contacted often did not feel confident providing pricing if they only deal with one component, such as the glass. Additionally, contacts noted that the price of windows can fluctuate substantially by the size of the project and the windows, further adding to the hesitation to provide cost information. TRC overcame this barrier by identifying or asking about similar products from each manufacturer that only varied in solar heat gain coefficient (SHGC) value. SHGC is only a feature of the glass, so isolating this value eliminated variation in price from components that do not impact SHGC, such as framing, and allowed the analysis to use costs provided for only the glass.

The cost for reducing the SHGC of a fixed window from 0.25 to 0.22 and 0.20 is summarized in Figure 11. The prototype building has 7,027 ft² of fenestration. Based on discussions with window manufacturers and fabricators, cost increases are not directly correlated with SHGC reductions because of the variety of coating and tinting available. There is not a significant cost escalation for going to an SHGC of 0.20 versus 0.22 for the particular products that TRC researched.

Note that Title 24 also allows for modelers to reach an RSHGC of 0.20 by using permanent exterior shading through overhangs or fins, as well as interior automated blinds. For the purposes of the cost effectiveness analysis, TRC modeled and assumed costs for a window with SHGC of 0.20 in Climate Zone 15 instead of exterior shading elements, but notes that shading is an alternative option for builders who want low RSHGCs but want to avoid blue or green appearances on their windows.

Source	RSHGC	Incremental Cost (\$/square foot of window)	Incremental Cost per Building (\$)
	0.25 (baseline)	n/a	n/a
Manufacturer 1	0.22 (proposed)	\$3.59	\$25,227
	0.20 (proposed)	(\$3.88)	(\$27,265)
	0.25 (baseline)	n/a	n/a
Manufacturer 2	0.22 (proposed)	\$5.00	\$35,135
	0.20 (proposed)	\$10.00	\$70,270
Average 0.22	2 RSHGC	\$4.44	\$31,172
Average 0.20) RSHGC	\$4.45	\$31,256

Figure 11. Reduced Window RSHGC Incremental Cost Summary

3.2.2 Cool Roofs

The 2016 T24 Standards prescriptively require a Cool Roof Rating Council certified minimum 3-year aged solar reflectance (ASR) based on roof pitch, where steep slope is defined as a slope of > 2:12, and low slope is \leq 2:12. Low slope cool roofs are typically constructed of field applied coatings, modified bitumen, or single ply thermoplastic roofing. Steep slope roofs are typically constructed of asphalt or tile shingles. Low-sloped roofs are much more common for offices and other commercial buildings, and the medium office prototype has a low-sloped roof. This measure proposes an aged solar reflectance ASR = 0.70 for low slopes, compared to ASR = 0.63 prescriptive requirements. TRC maintained the modeling default of Thermal Efficiency (TE) = 0.85 because most products can achieve this value.

TRC conducted interviews regarding low slope roof products with roofers and roof supply distributors throughout California, and supplemented the interviews with costs available through online retailers. Multiple roofers and product distributors made the statement that there is little or no additional labor to install cool roof products, and in some instances, there is even material cost savings associated with choosing a low sloped cool roof. The cost of cool roof products meeting the Reach Code ASR can be cheaper than their darker, non-cool roof counterparts, depending on the product type. Additionally, according to Cool Roof Rating Council¹¹ certified product directory, there are about three times as many cool roof products available at the proposed ASR = 0.70 value than at the current required ASR = 0.63.

Costs for cool roof materials varied by climate zone region and tend to be highest in the North and South Coast regions where cool roofs may not be as prominent. Lowest costs tend to be in the North Central and Inland regions with significant cooling loads. To be conservative, TRC estimated an incremental cost in all climate zones by climate region for products that meet the proposed nonresidential low sloped cool roof requirements (ASR = 0.63 to ASR = 0.70), summarized in Figure 12. This incremental cost represents product types that may have

¹¹ Available at: <u>http://coolroofs.org/products/results</u>

higher costs to meet the proposed values, and varies by region. To estimate this cost, TRC averaged the incremental costs for all cool roof types to meet the proposed ASR value. The incremental cost for a cool roof ASR = 0.70 ranges from 0.05 to 0.20 per square foot of roof, depending on the California region. Individual product types range from 0.10 to 0.51 per square foot of roof depending on climate region and product type; membranes (e.g. cool caps) are the most expensive cool roof option. Based on product specification sheets, TRC assumed that a cool roof would need maintenance or an entirely new roof after 10 years. The cost for a new roof after 10 years with a 3% inflation rate is included in the total cost estimate in Figure 12.

CA Region	Base Case	Proposed Case	Incremental Cost ¹² (\$/square foot of roof)	Incremental Cost (\$/building)
North Coast			\$0.15	\$6,106
South Coast	ASR = 0.63	ASR = 0.70 TPO/PVC, Membrane, _ or Field Applied	\$0.20	\$8,279
North Central	or Field Applied		\$0.11	\$4,762
Inland			\$0.05	\$2,040

Figure 12. Cool Roof Incremental Cost Summary

An important consideration in cool roof design is the potential for condensation and ice to build up under the roof membrane in cold climates. In traditional roof construction (non-cool roofs), the roof heats up in between periods of precipitation, allowing any wet areas on the roof or under points of roof failures to dry out. Cool roofs may prevent roofs from getting hot enough to completely dry out in between periods of precipitation, and moisture continues to accumulate. The cool roof is not the sole cause of moisture issues; there must be a failure that allows water to enter from the exterior or significant interior humidity levels, both which allow moisture to enter the assembly. Important practices to ensure that cool roofs do not exacerbate moisture-related roof failures are to:

- Ensure proper roof construction and drainage¹³
- Maintain appropriate interior relative humidity¹⁴
- Add insulation above the roof deck¹⁴ (as per Joint Appendix JA4)

TRC assumed that these practices are part of standard design practice for new construction in a high precipitation climate, and did not assume any additional costs to prevent condensation solely resulting from the construction of a cool roof. The majority of cited condensation and moisture issues with cool roofs are for reroofs where an existing failure had been maintained by periods of drying, and this wet/dry balance being upset by the addition of a cool roof.

¹² Incremental cost assumes that reroof will occur in year 10 after construction.

¹³ Department of Energy. Available at: <u>https://energy.gov/energysaver/cool-roofs</u>

¹⁴ Dregger, P. 2012. "Cool" Roofs Cause Condensation – Fact or Fiction? Western Roofing, January/February 2012, 48-62 or March 2013, 19-26. Available at: <u>http://www.epdmroofs.org/attachments/2012-jan_coolroofscausecondensation_dregger_wr01123.pdf</u>

4. COST EFFECTIVENESS RESULTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

The results for the medium office energy efficiency packages are presented in this section for each climate zone. TRC determined cost effectiveness by comparing the incremental cost of each package to the NPV of energy cost savings over the 15-year period. Incremental costs represent the construction, maintenance, and replacement costs of the proposed measure relative to the 2016 Title 24 Standards prescriptive requirements.

Results include measure compliance margin, present value of energy savings, costs, and benefit to cost (B/C) ratio. The B/C ratio is the incremental energy costs savings divided by the total incremental costs. When the B/C ratio is greater than 1.0, the added cost of the measure is offset by the discounted energy cost savings and the measure is cost effective. See Section 2.1 for further detail.

Nonresidential buildings in all California CZs have a market-ready and cost effective set of measures to achieve at least 10% higher than the Title 24 Standards, both through the TDV and On-Bill cost effectiveness methodologies. Thus, all California jurisdictions have proper justification for adopting a 10% nonresidential reach code meeting the requirements of Section 10-106 of the California Code of Regulations Title 24, Part 1. Furthermore, TRC found 15% compliance margins cost effective in CZs 1, 3, 5 and 7.

Note that the only prototype that required use of an RSHGC-0.20 window to achieve the 10% compliance margin cost effectively was in Climate Zone 15 – all other climate zones could achieve a 10% compliance margin using a 0.22 RSHGC window.

4.1 Life Cycle Cost Methodology Using TDV

The CEC LCC Methodology uses a Time Dependent Valuation (TDV) of energy savings, intended to capture the concept that energy efficiency measure savings should be valued differently depending on which hours of the year the savings occur to the utility system, to better reflect the actual costs of energy to consumers. The net present value is calculated using a 15-year lifetime.

As shown in Figure 14, all climate zones achieve a 10% or greater compliance margin cost effectively, indicated by the B/C ratio being equal to or greater 1.0. Climate zones 1, 3, 5, and 7 can achieve a 15% compliance margin cost effectively.

cz	Cool Roof ASR	Reduced RSHGC	Reduced LPD	Institutional Tuning	Lighting Controls (Daylight Dimming Plus Off, Open Office Occupancy Sensors)	Compliance %	NPV of Savings (kTDV)	Incremental Cost	B/C Ratio
1	n/a	n/a	0.65	x	x	15.7%	\$55,509	\$18,112	3.0
2	0.70	0.22	0.65	x	x	12.8%	\$70,400	\$48,902	1.4
3	0.70	0.22	0.65	x	x	15.5%	\$67,202	\$55,390	1.2
4	n/a	0.22	0.65	x	x	13.1%	\$70,448	\$49,284	1.4
5	0.70	0.22	0.65	х	x	15.9%	\$68,300	\$55,390	1.2
6	0.70	0.22	0.65	x	x	14.7%	\$75,603	\$55,636	1.4
7	0.70	0.22	0.65	x	x	15.6%	\$76,319	\$55,636	1.4
8	0.70	0.22	0.65	х	x	13.7%	\$75,984	\$55,636	1.4
9	0.70	0.22	0.65	х	x	12.6%	\$78,466	\$55,636	1.4
10	0.70	0.22	0.65	х	x	11.6%	\$73,646	\$48,676	1.5
11	0.70	0.22	0.65	x	x	11.0%	\$74,075	\$47,098	1.6
12	0.70	0.22	0.65	x	x	11.8%	\$71,546	\$51,988	1.4
13	0.70	0.22	0.65	x	x	10.8%	\$73,216	\$47,098	1.6
14	0.70	0.22	0.65	x	x	11.0%	\$73,264	\$45,781	1.6
15	0.70	0.20	0.65	x	x	10.4%	\$87,058	\$45,865	1.9
16	0.70	0.22	0.65	x	х	12.8%	\$67,298	\$45,781	1.5

Figure 13. TDV Cost Effectiveness Results

4.2 Customer Cost Effectiveness Using On-Bill Impacts

The customer cost effectiveness methodology uses utility rate schedules to estimate the retail On-Bill cost savings of energy efficiency to the customer. The net present value is calculated using a 15-year lifetime, including a 3% rate of energy inflation and a 3% discount rate. TRC used Time of Use (TOU) rate schedules, which results in more value applied to energy savings that occur during peak periods.

Using customer cost effectiveness results, B/C ratios improve over the TDV cost effectiveness results. As shown in Figure 14, all climate zones achieve a 10% or greater compliance margin cost effectively, and CZs 1, 3, 5, and 7 can achieve a 15% compliance margin cost effectively.

Figure	14.	On-Bill	Cost	Effectiveness	Results
--------	-----	----------------	------	---------------	---------

CZ	Cool Roof ASR	Reduced RSHGC	Reduced LPD	Institutional Tuning	Lighting Controls (Daylight Dimming Plus Off, Open Office Occupancy Sensors)	Compliance %	Annual kWh Savings	Annual Therm Savings	On-Bill Savings	Incremental Cost	B/C Ratio
1	n/a	n/a	0.65	x	x	15.7%	26,084	(366)	\$95,361	\$18,112	5.3
2	0.70	0.22	0.65	x	x	12.8%	31,026	(433)	\$114,859	\$41,164	2.8
3	0.70	0.22	0.65	x	x	15.5%	29,508	(405)	\$109,322	\$45,243	2.4
4	n/a	0.22	0.65	x	x	13.1%	31,028	(322)	\$114,311	\$43,339	2.6
5	0.70	0.22	0.65	x	x	15.9%	30,179	(414)	\$111,303	\$45,243	2.5
6	0.70	0.22	0.65	x	x	14.7%	32,792	(185)	\$82,359	\$55,636	1.5
7	0.70	0.22	0.65	x	x	15.6%	32,678	(222)	\$129,100	\$44,389	2.9
8	0.70	0.22	0.65	x	x	13.7%	33,398	(240)	\$83,662	\$44,389	1.9
9	0.70	0.22	0.65	x	x	12.6%	33,510	(242)	\$85,235	\$44,389	1.9
10	0.70	0.22	0.65	x	x	11.6%	32,649	(244)	\$121,226	\$40,469	3.0
11	0.70	0.22	0.65	x	x	11.0%	32,640	(351)	\$118,022	\$40,373	2.9
12	0.70	0.22	0.65	x	x	11.8%	31,968	(371)	\$116,533	\$44,214	2.6
13	0.70	0.22	0.65	x	x	10.8%	32,744	(325)	\$119,413	\$40,373	3.0
14	0.70	0.22	0.65	x	x	11.0%	33,216	(353)	\$80,520	\$39,290	2.0
15	0.70	0.20	0.65	x	x	10.4%	38,959	(181)	\$96,324	\$45,320	2.1
16	0.70	0.22	0.65	x	x	12.8%	30,153	(603)	\$106,614	\$39,290	2.7

4.3 Greenhouse Gas Savings

New construction commercial buildings complying with the reach code will reduce energy consumption and thereby reduce greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. TRC multiplied saved energy by a factor of 0.65 lbs of CO₂ equivalent (CO₂e) per kWh, and 11.7 lbs of CO₂e per therm, as per Environmental Protection Agency research, to attain estimates of GHG savings.¹⁵ Jurisdictions adopting a reach code can use Figure 15 below to approximate the typical reductions of GHG emissions in a typical nonresidential building, expressed in pounds of carbon dioxide equivalent (lbs CO₂e)

Climate Zone	kWh Savings / Bldg	Therms Savings / Bldg	Lbs CO2e Avoided/Prototype	Lbs CO2e Avoided/ft ²	% GHG Savings per Bldg
1	26,084	(366)	12,686	0.24	4%
2	31,026	(433)	15,111	0.28	4%
3	29,508	(405)	14,454	0.27	5%
4	31,028	(322)	16,413	0.31	5%
5	30,179	(414)	14,789	0.28	5%
6	29,806	(219)	16,819	0.31	5%
7	32,678	(222)	18,655	0.35	6%
8	33,398	(240)	18,912	0.35	6%
9	33,510	(242)	18,962	0.35	6%
10	32,649	(244)	18,378	0.34	5%
11	32,640	(351)	17,120	0.32	5%
12	31,968	(371)	16,455	0.31	5%
13	32,744	(325)	17,494	0.33	5%
14	33,216	(353)	17,472	0.33	5%
15	38,959	(181)	23,216	0.43	6%
16	30,153	(603)	12,556	0.23	3%

Figure	15.	Fstimated	GHG	Savings	ber	Building
					P	

These GHG reduction estimates are based on complying with the 10% packages using the measures analyzed in this study. Compliance with the 10% Reach Code may be achieved through a variety of measures, each of which will have varying electric and natural gas usages, and therefore varying GHG savings. Note also that these are percentage savings of the total greenhouse gas emissions from the buildings, including unregulated loads, which currently are not regulated within the constraints of Title 24, Part 6.

Each jurisdiction can estimate annual city-wide GHG savings by multiplying the CO₂e savings per square foot by the new construction commercial square footage constructed within city limits during an average year.

4.4 Reach Code Recommendations

TRC recommends that California jurisdictions adopt reach codes meeting the compliance margin requirements in Figure 16. Recommended reach code values are more lenient than the levels found to be cost effective –

¹⁵ United States Environmental Protection Agency. 2015. "Emission Factors for Greenhouse Gas Inventories." Available at: <u>https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-12/documents/emission-factors_nov_2015.pdf</u>.

compliance margins are rounded down. Final measure packages represent one possible way to achieve higher compliance margins, and are not intended to represent a mandatory or prescriptive set of measures.

Climata Zana	Cost Effective	B/C	C Ratio	Recommended Reach Code
Climate 20ne	Compliance Margin	TDV Methodology	On-Bill Methodology	Compliance Margin
1	15.7%	3.0	5.3	15%
2	12.8%	1.4	2.3	10%
3	15.5%	1.2	2.0	15%
4	13.1%	1.4	2.3	10%
5	15.9%	1.2	2.0	15%
6	14.7%	1.4	1.5	10%
7	15.6%	1.4	2.3	15%
8	13.7%	1.4	1.5	10%
9	12.6%	1.4	1.5	10%
10	11.6%	1.5	2.5	10%
11	11.0%	1.6	2.5	10%
12	11.8%	1.4	2.2	10%
13	10.8%	1.6	2.5	10%
14	11.0%	1.6	1.8	10%
15	10.4%	1.9	2.1	10%
16	12.8%	1.5	2.3	10%

Figure 16. Compliance Margin and Cost Effectiveness Summary Results

5. APPENDIX A – COST DATA

Product	Lamp Technology	LPD ¹	Product Cost (\$/luminaire)	Dimming Ballast Cost (\$/ballast)	Total Cost per square foot ² (\$/ft ²)
Lithonia 2RT8S 232 MVOLT GEB10IS + dimming ballast	Fluorescent	0.73	\$138.74	\$52.00	\$2.29
2VT8 232 ADP GEB10IS + dimming ballast	Fluorescent	0.73	\$145.60	\$52.00	\$2.37
Lithonia 2BLT4 40L ADSM EZ1 LP840	LED	0.60	\$138.39	n/a	\$2.06
Cooper Lighting 2AC 232 UNV EB81 U	Fluorescent	0.63	\$123.50	\$52.00	\$1.83

Figure 17. Reduced LPD Detailed Costs

¹ Normalized to provide 50 footcandles of illuminance

² Square footage covered to provide 50 footcandles of illuminance

Figure 18	. Occupancy	Sensor	Detailed	Costs
-----------	-------------	--------	----------	-------

Product	Coverage (ft ²)	Installation	Viewing Angle	Proposed Cost (\$/unit)
Acuity Sensor Switch Occupancy Sensor	452	Ceiling	360 Degrees	\$133.15
Acuity Sensor Switch Occupancy Sensor	500	Ceiling	360 Degrees	\$115.20
Acuity Lithonia Occupancy Sensor	452	Ceiling	360 Degrees	\$158.25
Acuity Lithonia Occupancy Sensor	452	Ceiling	360 Degrees	\$146.40
Hubbel Wiring Device-Kellems Occupancy Sensors	450	Ceiling	360 Degrees	\$150.75
Hubbel Wiring Device-Kellems Occupancy Sensors	450	Ceiling	360 Degrees	\$110.95
Hubbel Wiring Device-Kellems Occupancy Sensors	450	Ceiling	360 Degrees	\$159.25
Hubbel Wiring Device-Kellems Occupancy Sensors	450	Ceiling	360 Degrees	\$154.25
Leviton Self-Contained	530	Ceiling	360 Degrees	\$64.45
Leviton Occupancy Sensor	450	Ceiling	360 Degrees	\$100.90
Leviton Occupancy Sensor	530	Ceiling	360 Degrees	\$128.50
Leviton Occupancy Sensor	600	Ceiling	284 Degrees	\$54.40

Statewide Nonresidential Reach Code Cost Effectiveness Analysis

Leviton Ceiling Mount Dual tech	500	Ceiling	360 Degrees	\$85.86
Sensor Switch CM9 D	500	Ceiling	360 Degrees	\$107.90
Watt Stopper Occupancy Sensor	500	Ceiling	360 Degrees	\$127.45
Watt Stopper Occupancy Sensor	500	Ceiling	360 Degrees	\$123.50
Watt Stopper Occupancy Sensor	500	Ceiling	360 Degrees	\$156.75

Figure 19. Reduced Window SHGC Detailed Costs

Source	Product	SHGC	VT	Incremental Cost from SHGC 0.25 (\$/ft ²)
	VNE1-63 with silkscreen	0.25	53%	n/a
	VUE24-50	0.25	52%	n/a
Manufacturer 1	VNE1-53	0.23	49%	(\$4.61) to (\$4.21)
	VNE8-63	0.22	44%	\$3.39 to \$3.79
	VNE6-53	0.20	42%	(\$4.08) to (\$3.68)
	EFCO 325X F with SolarBan70XL	0.25	>42%	n/a
Manufacturer 2	EFCO PX32 F	0.23	>42%	\$0 - \$10
	EFCO 325X F with SunGuard SNX 51/23	0.20	>42%	\$5 - \$15

Dreduct Turc	ACD	Average Cost (\$/ft ²)					
Product Type	ASK -	North Coast	South Coast	North Central	Inland		
TRO	0.63	\$0.75	\$0.94	\$0.75	\$0.75		
IPO	0.70	\$0.85	\$0.85	\$0.85	\$0.85		
	Incremental Cost	\$0.09	-\$0.10	\$0.09	\$0.09		
Mombrano	0.63	\$0.63	\$1.13	\$1.07	\$1.07		
Memorane	0.70	\$1.07	\$1.64	\$1.19	\$1.19		
	Incremental Cost	\$0.44	\$0.51	\$0.12	\$0.12		
Field Applied Costing	0.63	\$0.55	\$0.60	\$0.48	\$0.57		
Field Applied Coating	0.70	\$0.46	\$0.79	\$0.61	\$0.50		
	Incremental Cost	-\$0.09	\$0.19	\$0.13	-\$0.07		
Averag	e Incremental Cost	\$0.15	\$0.20	\$0.11	\$0.05		

Figure 20. Low-Slope Cool Roof Detailed Costs

6. APPENDIX B – UTILITY RATE SCHEDULES

Below are hyperlinks to the rates used for each utility. Detailed rate schedules are provided in subsequent sections.

- Southern California Edison
 - Electric: Schedule TOU-GS-2-A. Available at: https://www.sce.com/NR/sc3/tm2/pdf/ce329.pdf
- Southern California Gas
 - Electric: Schedule No. G-10. Available at: <u>https://www.socalgas.com/regulatory/tariffs/tm2/pdf/G-10.pdf</u>
- Pacific Gas and Electric
 - Electric: Schedule A-10, Table B (TOU). Available at: https://www.pge.com/tariffs/tm2/pdf/ELEC_SCHEDS_A-10.pdf
 - Gas: Schedule G-NR1. Available at: https://www.pge.com/tariffs/tm2/pdf/GAS_SCHEDS_G-NR1.pdf
- San Diego Gas and Electric
 - Electric: Schedule AL-TOU. Available at: <u>http://regarchive.sdge.com/tm2/pdf/ELEC_ELEC-SCHEDS_AL-TOU.pdf</u>
 - Gas: Schedule GN-3. Available at: <u>http://regarchive.sdge.com/tm2/pdf/GAS_GAS-SCHEDS_GN-3.pdf</u>

6.1 Electric Rates

Figure 21. Southern California Edison Commercial Electric Rates (TOU-GS-2-A)

Southern California Edison (SCE) Commercial Electric Rates					
Rate TOU-GS-2-A	Effective 1/1/2017				
Winter (\$/kWh) (Oct 1 through May 31)					
Mid-Peak (8AM - 9PM weekdays except holidays)	\$0.07589				
Off-Peak	\$0.06573				
Summer (\$/kWh) (Jun 1 through Sept 31)					
On-Peak (12-6PM weekdays except holidays)	\$0.34167				
Mid-Peak (8AM - 12PM and 6PM - 11PM weekdays, except holidays)	\$0.11601				
Off-Peak	\$0.05918				
Additional Charges					
Facilities Related Demand Charge (\$/kW/meter/month)	\$15.48				
Customer Charge (\$/meter/month)	\$220.30				
Single Phase Service (\$/month)	(\$11.71)				
Voltage Discount, Demand (\$/kW)					
2kV to 50kV	(\$0.20)				
50kV to <220kV	(\$6.79)				
220kV	(\$11.27)				
Voltage Discount, Energy (\$/kWh)					
2kV to 50kV	(\$0.00165)				

50kV to <220kV	(\$0.00391)
220kV	(\$0.00395)
CA Alternate Rates for Energy Discount (%)	100%
TOU Option (\$/meter/month RTEM)	\$71.01
CA Climate Credit (\$/kWh)	(\$0.00416)

Figure 22. Pacific Gas and Electric Commercial Electric Rate (Schedule A-10, Table B)

Pacific Gas and Electric (PG&E) Commercial Electric Rates						
Rate Schedule A-10, Table B	Effective 3/1/2017					
Winter (\$/kWh) (Nov 1 through Apr 30)						
Mid-Peak (8:30AM-9:30PM, weekdays except holidays)	\$0.13641					
Off-Peak	\$0.11935					
Summer (\$/kWh) (May 1 through Oct 31)						
On-Peak (12-6PM, weekdays except holidays)	\$0.21972					
Mid-Peak (8:30AM-12PM and 6-9:30PM, weekdays except holidays)	\$0.16459					
Off-Peak	\$0.13652					
Demand Charge (\$/kW/meter/month)						
Summer	\$16.78					
Winter	\$9.45					
Additional Charges						
Customer Charge (\$/meter/day)	\$4.59959					
CA Climate Credit (\$/kWh)	(\$0.0038)					

Figure 23. San Diego Gas and Electric Commercial Electric Rate (AL-TOU)

San Diego Gas and Electric (SDG&E) Commercial Electric Ra	ates					
Rate AL-TOU	Effective 3/1/2017					
Winter (\$/kWh) (Nov 1 through Apr 30)						
On-Peak (5-8PM, weekdays except holidays)	\$0.11085					
Mid-Peak (6AM-5PM and 8-10PM, weekdays except holidays)	\$0.09574					
Off-Peak	\$0.07492					
Summer (\$/kWh) (May 1 through Oct 31)						
On-Peak (11AM-6PM, weekdays except holidays)	\$0.12252					
Mid-Peak (6-11AM and 6-10PM, weekdays except holidays)	\$0.11305					
Off-Peak	\$0.08294					
Demand Charge (\$/kW/meter/month)						
Non-Coincident	\$24.51					
Summer - On-Peak	\$20.84					
Winter - On-Peak	\$7.57					
Additional Charges						
Basic Service Fee (\$/meter/month)	\$116.44					

6.2 Gas Rates

Figure 24. Southern California Gas Commercial Natural Gas Rate (G-10)

Southern California Gas (SCG) Commercial Gas Rates						
Rate G-10 Effective 3/10/210						
Base Charges (\$/therm)						
TIER 1 (up to 250 therms)	\$0.89387					
TIER 2 (251 to 4,167 therms)	\$0.65334					
TIER 3 (>4,167 therms)	\$0.49206					
Additional Charges						
Customer charge (\$/meter/day)	\$0.49315					

Figure 25. Pacific Gas and Electric Commercial Natural Gas Rates (G-NRI)

Pacific Gas and Electric (PG&E) Commercial Gas Rates						
Rate G-NR1	Effective 3/1/2017					
Winter (\$/therm) May 1 - Nov 30						
TIER 1 (up to 4,000 therms)	\$1.13678					
TIER 2 (>4,000 therms)	\$0.83428					
Summer (\$/therm) Dec 1 - Apr 30						
TIER 1 (up to 4,000 therms)	\$1.02592					
TIER 2 (>4,000 therms)	\$0.77060					
Additional Charges						
Customer charge (\$/meter/day) 0 - 5.0 ADU ¹	\$0.27048					
Customer charge (\$/meter/day) 5.1 - 16.0 ADU ¹	\$0.52106					
Customer charge (\$/meter/day) 16.1 - 41.0 ADU ¹	\$0.95482					

¹ADU is Average Daily Usage. It is the usage for the entire billing period divided by the number of days within the billing period.

Figure 26	. San	Diego	Gas a	and	Electric	Commercial	Natural	Gas	Rates	(GN-3))
-----------	-------	-------	-------	-----	----------	------------	---------	-----	-------	--------	---

San Diego Gas and Electric (SDG&E) Commercial Gas Rates						
Rate GN-3	Effective 3/10/2017					
Base Charges (\$/therm)						
TIER 1 (up to 1,000 therms)	\$0.80449					
TIER 2 (1,001 to 21,000 therms)	\$0.68176					
TIER 3 (>21,000 therms)	\$0.64710					
Additional Charges						
Customer charge (\$/meter/month)	\$10.000					